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Corporate Profile

ABOUT TARGET
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) (Stock Code: 6161.HK) listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15 January 2015. The Company was honored to receive 
Hong Kong Economic Journal’s Listed Company Award of Excellence 2016.

Target Insurance Company, Limited (“Target”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was incorporated in 1977, is 
one of the largest motor insurance companies in Hong Kong. Target is a trusted partner to the transportation industry and 
provides high quality and professional insurance services to our customers.

With the focus on motor insurance, Target ranked first in terms of motor insurance gross premium income in 2010, and 
has maintained the top three ranking consecutively. Target distinguished itself and earned customers’ confidence with 
its convenient and speedy claims procedures, highly efficient and advanced insurance information system, as well as 
its experienced and professional team in the competitive motor insurance market. Target received various recognitions 
around Hong Kong, such as RoadShow’s Best Loved Motor Insurance Brands Awards 2015 and 2016, Metro Awards for 
Banking & Finance Corporations 2016 – Best Motor Insurance Award, Asia Ecommerce Awards 2018 – Best UX Design 
and Metro Finance GBA Insurance Awards 2019 – Outstanding Online Platform Award (General Insurance).

Target has successfully developed new general insurance products in 2017 and provides an all-rounded, professional and 
quality general insurance products and services to local enterprises and individual clients. Target recruited a team of top-
tier experienced professionals from international insurance companies, in order to diversify its general insurance products 
and enhance its professionalism. We embrace new challenges in the future and target to be the most preferred local 
general insurance company in Hong Kong.

TARGET’S COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES
•	 The first Hong Kong based general insurance company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
•	 Leading market position in motor insurance for taxi and public light bus
•	 Top 3 rankings* from 2010 till now in the Hong Kong motor insurance market
•	 With more than 40 Years of experience
•	 Experienced management team integrated from international insurance companies in developing other general 

insurance products
•	 Professional claims expertise in handling insurance claims in an effective and efficient manner
•	 Good corporate image

* Information Source: Insurance Authority (“IA”)
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Corporate Profile

2020 AWARD LIST
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”)

Date Organization Award

12/1/2020 香港盲人體育總會、

 國際扶輪3450地區
Hong Kong Blind Sports Federation, 
  Rotary International District 3450

第十屆香港共融之樂保齡球比賽暨第九屆香港盲人

 保齡球錦標賽商界及機構個人季軍
10th Hong Kong Bowling Tournament for 
  All cum 9th Hong Kong Blind Bowling Tournament 
  Individual 3rd place of Business Category

24/1/2020 香港社會服務聯會
The Hong Kong Council of 
  Social Service

5年Plus商界展關懷 2019/20
5 Years Plus Caring Company 2019/20

24/8/2020 強制性公積金計劃管理局
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 
  Authority

積金好僱主
Good MPF Employer Award

積金供款電子化獎
e-Contribution Award

3/12/2020 世界綠色組織
World Green Organisation

綠色辦公室獎勵計劃
Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS)

健康工作間獎勵計劃
Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling Scheme

5 Years Plus Caring Company 2019/20 Good Employer Award
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Corporate Profile

2020 LIST OF CSR ACTIVITIES
Date Organization Activity

12/1/2020 香港盲人體育總會、

 國際扶輪3450地區
Hong Kong Blind Sports Federation,
  Rotary International District 3450

第十屆香港共融之樂保齡球比賽暨第九屆香港盲人

 保齡球錦標賽
10th Hong Kong Bowling Tournament for All cum 9th 
  Hong Kong Blind Bowling Tournament

02-10/03/2020 商業電台馬路的事、新界扶輪社
Commercial Broadcasting – 
  Roadcoop, Rotary Club of 
  New Territories

「全民抗疫 伴您同行」口罩派發活動
“Together, We Fight the Virus” Free Masks Giveaway

10th Hong Kong Bowling Tournament for All cum 9th 
Hong Kong Blind Bowling Tournament

“Together, We Fight the Virus” Free Masks Giveaway

10th Hong Kong Bowling Tournament for All cum 9th 
Hong Kong Blind Bowling Tournament

“Together, We Fight the Virus” Free Masks Giveaway
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INSURANCE PRODUCTS

Personal Insurance Products
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INSURANCE PRODUCTS

Commercial Insurance Products
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INSURANCE PRODUCTS

Commercial Insurance Products
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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CHEUNG Haywood (Chairman)
NG Yu (Co-Chairman)
MUK Wang Lit Jimmy (Chief Executive Officer)
CHAN Hok Ching
LAU Ka Yee
WEI Weicheng
LIN Feng
DAI Chengyan
RUI Yuanqing

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
WAN Kam To
WONG Shiu Hoi Peter
Anthony ESPINA
LEUNG Ho Yin Alexander
WANG Jun Sheng

COMPANY SECRETARY
TSE Kam Fai

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
CHAN Hok Ching
TSE Kam Fai

AUDIT COMMITTEE
WAN Kam To (Chairman)
WONG Shiu Hoi Peter
Anthony ESPINA
LEUNG Ho Yin Alexander
WANG Jun Sheng

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
WONG Shiu Hoi Peter (Chairman)
CHAN Hok Ching
WEI Weicheng
RUI Yuanqing
Anthony ESPINA
LEUNG Ho Yin Alexander
WANG Jun Sheng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Anthony ESPINA (Chairman)
MUK Wang Lit Jimmy
WEI Weicheng
WONG Shiu Hoi Peter
LEUNG Ho Yin Alexander

RISK COMMITTEE
WONG Shiu Hoi Peter (Chairman)
MUK Wang Lit Jimmy
CHAN Hok Ching
LAU Ka Yee
WEI Weicheng
LIN Feng
RUI Yuanqing
Anthony ESPINA
LEUNG Ho Yin Alexander

AUDITOR
Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
42nd Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE, HEADQUARTER 
AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
5/F., Low Block
Grand Millennium Plaza
181 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER 
OFFICE
Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

STOCK CODE
6161

WEBSITE
http://www.targetinsholdings.com
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the 
“Group”), I would like to present this annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the shareholders of the 
Company (the “Shareholders”).

2020 AT A GLANCE
2020 proved to be a very challenging year. Nevertheless, our strategy of diversification into other general business to even 
out our business exposures started to bear fruit and saw solid steady growth particularly in employees’ compensation 
insurance business. We are determined and will continue to be adaptable and versatile in carrying out our mission of 
being the most preferred domestic general insurance company in Hong Kong.

The result of 2020 was a net profit of HK$62.0 million (2019: loss of HK$198.5 million). Gross premium written increased 
by 6.0% to HK$559.6 million (2019: HK$527.7 million). Net insurance premium revenue increased by 19.4% to HK$475.1 
million (2019: HK$397.9 million). The Group combined ratio decreased to 92.1% (2019: 159.7%).

OUR BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
With the volatile and competitive insurance market in Hong Kong, we continue to develop strategies to win business from 
our competitors which are consistent with our business objectives:

•	 To be a comprehensive general insurer of choice in Hong Kong
•	 To provide a unique, dynamic, efficient and responsive insurance services to satisfy the needs of customers
•	 To ensure a stable, competitive and long term returns to the Shareholders
•	 To promote employees’ productivity through sustainable packages of remuneration, appropriate training and career 

development
•	 To be a socially responsible institution contributing to the well-being of the local community of Hong Kong

LOOKING INTO THE FUTURE
The general insurance industry is currently undergoing fundamental transformation. The regulatory and international 
developments on risk-based capital and insurance related financial reporting standards are hot topics for Hong 
Kong insurers for years ahead. As we are preparing for these regulatory compliance projects, we will also take these 
opportunities to review our operations, risk management and decision-making process to convert regulatory necessity 
into our business value.

Together with our co-chairman Dr. Ng Yu, we will strengthen our financial resources and aim to further expand our 
business horizontally, in particular our non-motor and reinsurance inward businesses. This will provide both business 
lines and geographical diversification benefits to our portfolio. The expansion of our business will not be at the expense 
of increasing risk. We will continue to implement strict underwriting guidelines, improving the fraud database and at the 
same time promote road safety. I believe that the Group is well equipped to make decisions based on all relevant changes 
to regulatory landscape and, if we consider it necessary, to shift resources adequately.

It is easy to focus on local market as our growth engine but we should not underestimate the potential of the Greater 
Bay Area (“GBA”). We will continue to explore opportunities in Insurtech that will not just improve our business, but also 
support the blueprint of the GBA which promotes a number of initiatives involving the insurance industry. Although its 
impact will rely on future implementing regulations, the blueprint is an important endorsement of existing key initiatives that 
poses significant growth opportunities for insurers in Hong Kong.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

With markets remain challenging, we will look to balance short-term returns against investment for the future and will 
focus on three areas:

–	 Deepening our market footing and achieving thoughtfully-managed organic growth in general insurance business.

–	 Building differentiating capabilities to enable our Group to focus on what truly matters and develop a powerful 
growth engine.

–	 Retaining the best of our traditional distribution channels while optimizing operational efficiency through 
wholeheartedly embracing digital.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Through acting responsibly, we believe we can create sustainable value for all our stakeholders. During the year under 
review, the Company continued to invest in the community. We were the sponsor of Free Masks Giveaway jointly 
organised by Commercial Broadcasting – Roadcoop, Rotary Club of New Territories and supporter of various sports 
activities.

Our effort in corporate social responsibility is well-recognized by the public. We are awarded 5 Year Plus Caring Company 
2019/20 by the Hong Kong Council and Social Services, Green Office Awards and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards 2020 
by the World Green Organization.

THANK YOU
To our employees for their commitment and passion; to our customers and business partners for the continued support 
and patronage; and most of all to the Shareholders for the trust and confidence.

Cheung Haywood
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Group recorded a net profit of HK$62.0 million (2019: net loss of HK$198.5 million) from net income of HK$498.9 
million (2019: HK$442.5 million). Basic profit per share was HK11.90 cents (2019: loss of HK38.07 cents) The results 
were mainly influenced by decrease of claims frequency on motor insurance business during 2020 and improvement on 
prior accident year claims development.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
In 2020, our newly developed reinsurance inward business achieved solid growth. Our Employees’ Compensation 
(“EC”) has been gradually growing since its launching in 2017. Our EC portfolio diversified from construction EC to non-
construction EC which focused on local enterprises and individual clients. We continued to explore and introduce other 
commercial insurance products to enhance the comprehensiveness of our product offerings.

Motor insurance for taxi remained our core business segment while our business on Public Light Bus (“PLB”) and other 
motor vehicles experienced slight reduction due to market condition and competition.

TAXI
Our taxi business faced significant pressure on premium rate increase for 2020. The net insurance premium increased by 
2.3% to HK$232.3 million (2019: HK$227.1 million). Due to the substantial decrease in claims frequency under the slow 
social business activities in 2020 and improvement of certain prior accident year claims, the net insurance claims and loss 
adjustment expenses decreased by 47.7% to HK$180.2 million (2019: HK$344.7 million), leading the segment to a profit 
of HK$33.0 million (2019: loss of HK$136.2 million). During this year, the loss ratio for taxi decreased to 77.6% (2019: 
151.8%).

PLB
We had another competitive year for our PLB business in 2020. The net insurance premium revenue reduced by 5.6% 
to HK$68.2 million (2019: HK$72.3 million). Due to the substantial decrease in claims frequency under the slow social 
business activities, the net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses decreased by 36.3% to HK$38.7 million (2019: 
HK$60.7 million). The segment result increased by 327.4% to HK$23.9 million (2019: HK$5.6 million). The loss ratio for 
PLB decreased to 56.7% (2019: 84.0%).

OTHER MOTOR VEHICLES
Our portfolio of other motor vehicles slightly reduced by 4.8% to HK$62.4 million (2019: HK$65.6 million) due to market 
competition. The net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses decreased by 50.5% to HK$31.6 million (2019: 
HK$63.8 million), leading the segment to a profit of HK$19.4 million (2019: loss of HK$10.0 million). The loss ratio for 
other motor vehicles decreased to 50.6% (2019: 97.3%).

EC
Our portfolio of EC business continued to grow significantly in 2020. The net insurance premium revenue increased by 
204.5% to HK$86.7 million (2019: HK$28.5 million). The net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses increased by 
8.8% to HK$45.8 million (2019: HK$42.1 million) due to the portfolio growth. The segment result was a profit of HK$28.0 
million (2019: loss of HK$19.5 million). The loss ratio was decreased to 52.8% (2019: 147.8%).
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

OTHER direct BUSINESS
Our portfolio of other direct business grew steadily in 2020. It mainly comprised of our SME Business Insurance and 
Contractors’ All Risk Insurance. The net insurance premium revenue increased by 19.0% to HK$4.9 million (2019: HK$4.2 
million). The net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses decreased by 32.1% to HK$0.9 million (2019: HK$1.3 
million). The segment result was a profit of HK$3.6 million (2019: HK$3.0 million).

REINSURANCE INWARD
Our portfolio of reinsurance inward business grew substantially in 2020. The net insurance premium revenue increased 
by 5,474.5% to HK$20.6 million (2019: HK$0.4 million). The segment result was a profit of HK$9.4 million (2019: HK$0.3 
million).

INVESTMENTS
As at 31 December 2020, we had cash and deposits of HK$1,063.5 million (2019: HK$940.8 million), certificates of 
deposit of HK$4.7 million (2019: HK$4.5 million), equity securities of HK$1.0 million (2019: HK$49.5 million), currency 
fund of HK$62.3 million (2019: HK$ Nil) and debt securities of HK$6.7 million (2019: HK$31.1 million). The total value of 
investment portfolio increased by 11.0% to HK$1,138.3 million (2019: HK$1,025.8 million).

The investment income decreased by 48.6% to HK$22.3 million (2019: HK$43.3 million). The main reason was due to our 
Group decreased our holdings in equity and debt securities while increased our portfolio in cash and deposits for better 
solvency position.

REGULATORY AND INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT
Since the IA’s establishment in June 2017, there have been a significant volume of regulatory developments in Hong Kong 
insurance market. The three main areas of focus were:

—	 Developing the new risk-based capital (“RBC”) regime for Hong Kong.

—	 Implementing the direct licensing regime for insurance intermediaries.

—	 Working with industry stakeholders in facilitating the implementation of the new policyholders’ protection scheme.

As part of the RBC regime, the Guideline on enterprise risk management (“ERM Guideline”) is effective from 1 January 
2020. This ERM Guideline sets out the supervisory objectives, guidance and expectations for the IA in assessing the 
overall competence of an insurer’s enterprise risk management framework and Own Risk Solvency Assessment.

Separately, following the third Quantitative Impact Study in late 2019, the result would form the basis for the IA to finalize 
the set of rules on Pillar 1 capital requirement, after which a consultation process is expected to be carried out in 2021.

In October 2020, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) endorsed that the implementation 
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 17 Insurance Contracts (“HKFRS 17”) will be deferred to 1 January 2023. We 
have recruited additional resources and selected appropriate IT solutions to meet the new accounting requirements and 
the regulatory initiatives for RBC.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

In addition, the Hong Kong Federation of Insurers (“HKFI”) has established a centralized Insurance Fraud Prevention 
Claims Database (“IFPCD”) for motor insurance. Big data analytics technology will be used to analyze and examine the 
data collected so as to enable the industry to detect patterns of fraudulent insurance claims and take early preventive 
measures where appropriate. It aims to combat insurance fraud and claims leakage, which cause insurance companies to 
suffer unnecessary underwriting loss, drive up premiums, and ultimately affect consumers and undermine the sustainable 
development of the insurance industry.

We will ensure sufficient resources on risk management, finance and IT are in place and prepare for these regulatory and 
industry developments.

OUTLOOK
Pandemic is covered in a very small part of the portfolio where we have very controlled net exposure. However, some 
local enterprises have unfortunately suffered from economic downturn and it may take some time to get them back to 
normal.

We expect that the general insurance market will continue to be soft and highly competitive. To navigate through the 
severe impacts of soft market, we commit to proactive price monitoring and disciplined underwriting.

MOTOR INSURANCE BUSINESS
Competition in both taxi and PLB segments will remain intense. Coupled with the severity of accidents claims involving 
taxi and PLB, we expect business from these two segments will continue to be challenging despite the taxi premium rate 
increased in late 2019. We shall continue to proactively manage our established relationship with insurance intermediaries 
in order to secure our market share in these segments while strengthening our efforts on claims management to strive to 
sustain profitability of our business.

Competition in other motor vehicles segments will continue to be fierce with increasing number of players in this saturated 
market. We have built a direct online private car and commercial vehicles business platform which enables us to provide 
instant pricing information to our customers and enhance direct engagement with our customers. We will also seek 
business partners to promote our services to targeted customer segments.

OTHER Direct BUSINESS
We have developed basic general insurance products which satisfy the needs of local enterprises and individual clients.

For personal products, we will continue our effort on the online distribution channel which provides a convenient customer 
journey to our customers. For commercial products. we will expand our underwriting capabilities and distribution channels 
to different insurance intermediaries and provide professional and quality services to our customers. Our goal is to be the 
most preferred local general insurance company in Hong Kong.

INVESTMENTS
We will continue to cautiously manage our investment portfolio in accordance with our investment policy. We aim to 
achieve a reasonable investment return while keeping sufficient cash flow to meet the insurance liabilities and meeting 
Target’s solvency requirement.

STRATEGY FOR 2021
With the enduring uncertainty relating to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak”) on the city’s business 
sector, we shall continue to hone our focus on the strategies to write and grow our business more prudently for 2021.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

ACHIEVING UNDERWRITING IMPROVEMENT
There is no “one size fits all” formula for success in underwriting. Our commercial exposures are particularly 
heterogeneous, intermediated, qualitative and required case-based assessment. We will focus our effort on disciplined 
underwriting through the following approaches:

—	 Portfolio steering: To strike a balance between consistency in our risk appetite and the need to continuously 
calibrate that appetite, we will ensure that we are willing and able to pull back when conditions are unsustainable.

—	 Pricing adequacy: To introduce technical pricing as a core part of underwriting governance and as a benchmark, 
we are thus provided with insight into directional movement of pricing for a portfolio over time.

—	 Risk selection: To supplement data-driven analysis, we will encourage collective risk discussion and underwriting 
assessment.

—	 Capacity optimization: To encourage dynamic recalibration of limits and retention, we will deploy capacity 
more prudently through deductibles and also through net retention across the portfolio by way of optimal use of 
reinsurance arrangement.

—	 Coverage design: To translate qualitative policy terms and endorsements into quantitative parameters, we will 
carefully control around our policy wording.

DEVELOPING OTHER GENERAL INSURANCE PRODUCTS
We will take a progressive approach to develop other general insurance products which suit the needs of local enterprises 
and individual clients. Notwithstanding the intense competition, we develop other general insurance products which 
can leverage our strengths, distribution networks and expertise. We will also manage our insurance risk exposures with 
adequate reinsurance protections.

REBRANDING OUR CORPORATE IMAGE
It is clear from the feasibility study that there is a strong demand for well-planned packaged insurance products to 
satisfy the insurance needs and services of the Hong Kong market. Transitioning from mono motor insurance business 
to all general insurance business, Target has rebranded itself for its capability to write a comprehensive range of general 
business in Hong Kong. To continue with our rebranding effort, we will maintain modest level of branding activities through 
traditional media (magazine, television commercial, radio etc.) to reinforce our core products and more focused sales and 
marketing activities for new insurance products throughout the year.

BUILDING UP INTERNAL CAPACITY
There are three areas which we will continue to invest in 2021 to strengthen our internal capacity to prepare for the future:

—	 Claims Management: To enhance claims handling and settling, we will continue to develop resources to guard 
against fraudulent claims and strive to have fraudulent claims reported to Police.

—	 Human Resources: We will continue to seek suitable professional talent to join our team to consolidate our 
capacity to deal with the business needs and regulatory developments.

—	 Information Technology: To support the adoption of IFPCD, risk-based capital framework and new accounting 
standards, we will continue to upgrade our information technology systems. We will also enhance our B2B 
automation platform for motor business.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

INCREASING OUR MOTOR INSURANCE BUSINESS ON OTHER TYPES OF MOTOR 
VEHICLES
We will continue to direct our effort towards the development of our business on other types of motor vehicles. The 
introduction of online business platforms for private cars and commercial vehicles had provided additional channel for 
us to reach out to our customers directly. We will also explore different distribution channels to further grow our motor 
business. We are proactively forming alliances with other business partners to provide all rounded services to our 
customers and extend our reach to our target customers. Our dedicated customer service team can promptly attend to 
all customers’ enquiries and provide a better experience to our customers.

STRENGTHENING RELATIONSHIP WITH INSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES
Actively managing our relationship with existing agent network and developing new relationship with other insurance 
intermediaries become the key to maintain our market position. We will continue to participate in and sponsor activities 
organized by industry organizations and media partners.

Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. CHEUNG HAYWOOD (“Dr. Cheung”), aged 68, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board. He 
is concurrently the chairman and an executive director, and a member of the reinsurance committee of Target (the 
“Reinsurance Committee”). He joined the Group in 2010. He has over 37 years’ experience in metals trading, securities 
and futures brokerage and forex dealings in Hong Kong. Dr. Cheung has extensive business connections in Hong Kong 
and the People’s Republic of China. He has served as the President of the Executive and Supervisory Committees 
of Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange Society (the “Society”) from June 2010 to December 2014 and January 2017 to 
present. Since then, he has also became the Chairman of the supervisory committee of the Society from January 2015 to 
December 2016. He is the President of the New Territories General Chamber of Commerce for the year 2012 to present.

Dr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor degree in Science with a major in Geology Engineering and Economics from Concordia 
University, Montreal in 1978. He has also obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business Administrations and a Doctor 
degree of Business Administrations from the City University of Hong Kong in 2012 and 2014 respectively.

Dr. NG Yu (“Dr. Ng”), aged 30, was appointed as an executive Director and Co-chairman of the Board on 23 December 
2020. Dr. Ng has broad business connection in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Europe and America and has extensive 
experience in financial innovation, internet technology, assets and wealth management.

Dr. Ng is currently the chairman of the board of directors, an executive director and a substantial shareholder (as defined 
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) of Amber Hill Financial 
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 33) (“Amber Hill”). He is also 
the chairman of the board of directors and ultimate beneficial owner of Amber Hill Holdings Limited (“Amber Hill Holdings”) 
and the founder and chairman of Smile Charity Foundation.

The group companies of Amber Hill Holdings under the management of Dr. Ng, is principally engaged in various licensed 
regulated activities, including financial services such as life insurance, asset management, wealth management, family 
trusts, securities trading and futures trading. Founded by Dr. Ng, the Smile Charity Foundation is dedicated to solving 
the problems of survival and learning of poor children in Greater China by donating daily necessities, school supplies, 
scholarships and school buses and providing funds to build and repair school buildings, etc. in different regions.

Dr. Ng was graduated from King’s College in Hong Kong and later studied in the United States and obtained an advanced 
technology leadership professional certificate from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and a family wealth 
inheritance program certificate from the Harvard Law School. Dr. Ng was awarded of Doctor of Business Administration 
(Honoris Causa) from Westcliff University in March 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. MUK WANG LIT JIMMY (“Mr. Muk”), aged 66, is an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, as well as a member of each of the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the risk 
committee of the Company (the “Risk Committee”). Mr. Muk is concurrently an executive director, the chief executive 
officer and the compliance officer of Target, and the chairman of each of the Reinsurance Committee and the claims 
settlement committee (the “Claims Settlement Committee”) and a member of each of the underwriting committee (the 
“Underwriting Committee”) and the investment committee (the “Investment Committee”) of Target. He is responsible for 
reporting to the Board on Target’s compliance matters, and for monitoring Target’s compliance with the requirements 
under the Insurance Ordinance (Chapter 41 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other requirements as imposed by the IA. 
He joined the Group in 1979. Mr. Muk has over 41 years of experience general insurance business, particularly in motor 
insurance business. Mr. Muk first joined the insurance industry in 1979 by joining Target in that year as claims supervisor 
and was responsible for handling and conducting claims and related matters. He was promoted as claims manager in 
1982 and as assistant general manager in 1986 and was responsible for overseeing all functions and the daily operations 
of all departments. He was subsequently appointed as the general manager in 1993, taking up further planning, 
administration, compliance and decision-making responsibilities. He has also been a director of Target since 1983, 
participating in setting objectives and formulating strategies and corporate governance with his fellow directors. Mr. Muk 
has served as a member of the Executive Committee on Insurance Fraud Prevention Claims Database under The Hong 
Kong Federation of Insurers since February 2019 and the Board of the Employee’s Compensation Insurance Residual 
Scheme Bureau since June 2019.

Mr. Muk obtained a Bachelor of Business (Business Administration) degree with Distinction from Royal Melbourne Institute 
of Technology in 2003 and a Master of Business Administration degree from University of Ballarat in 2006. Mr. Muk also 
obtained a Master of Corporate Governance degree, which is a distance learning course and a Master of Arts in Applied 
English Linguistics degree from the Open University of Hong Kong in 2013 and 2016 respectively. He has been a fellow of 
The Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance (“ANZIIF”) since 1995.

Mr. CHAN HOK CHING (“Mr. Chan”), aged 58, is an executive Director. He joined the Group in July 2010 as the 
assistant to chairman and is responsible for assisting the Chairman of the Board in performing his duties in all areas. Mr. 
Chan is also a member of each of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Risk Committee 
of the Company. Mr. Chan has been appointed as an executive director of Target since June 2012, and he is concurrently 
the chairman of each of the Underwriting Committee and the Investment Committee, and a member of the Reinsurance 
Committee. Mr. Chan has over 31 years’ experience in banking and financial industry. Mr. Chan has been elected as an 
executive director of the New Territories General Chamber of Commerce for the year 2012 to present.

Ms. LAU KA YEE (“Ms. Lau”), aged 40, is an executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and a 
member of the Risk Committee. She is concurrently an executive director and a member of each of the Claims Settlement 
Committee and the Investment Committee of Target. Ms. Lau joined the Group in October 2014 as the financial controller. 
She has over 15 years of experience in accounting industry specializing in general insurance industry. Prior to joining the 
Group, Ms. Lau had worked as a senior manager of PricewaterhouseCoopers’ advisory services.

Ms. Lau is the Councillor of General Insurance Council since April 2020 and the Convenor of Club 2028 since January 
2020 of Hong Kong Federation of Insurance (“HKFI”). She was also the Convenor of the Motor Sub-Committee of 
Accident Insurance Association of HKFI (“AIA”) for the term of 2018/2019. She is a fellow member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (“HKICS”) and the 
Chartered Governance Institute (“CGI”). She graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Master of Corporate 
Governance (with Distinction) in 2018 and Chinese University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration 
majoring in Professional Accountancy in 2003. Ms. Lau is a fellow of The ANZIIF.
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Mr. WEI WEICHENG (“Mr. Wei”), aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director on 23 December 2020. He is also 
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Committee. Mr. Wei has 
extensive experience in wealth management, company fundraising and mergers and acquisitions.

Mr. Wei is currently an executive director of Amber Hill.

Mr. Wei had served renowned global high-tech company and international banking group. Mr. Wei is particularly familiar 
with the financial industry and the technology industry in Mainland China and has a vision for the strategic development of 
the Greater Bay Area. Mr. Wei is also devoted to charity. He is patron and an active member of civil and arts charities.

Mr. Wei obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Engineering from Jilin University and a Master’s degree in 
Environmental and Public Health Management from Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. LIN FENG (“Mr. Lin”), aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director on 23 December 2020. He is also a member 
of the Risk Committee. Mr. Lin has extensive experience in corporate finance, franchising and scale development.

Mr. Lin is currently an executive director of Amber Hill.

Mr. Lin founded MyCharm, a franchised retail brand in 2011 and Guangzhou Baikong Biotechnology Limited in 2015, 
focusing on research vector control technology. His innovative research achievement and intellectual property rights 
have contributed to the development of biotechnology market in Mainland China. In the same year, Mr. Lin established 
Shenzhen Qianhai Water & Wood Fund Management Limited, principally engaged in the algorithmic trading & private 
equity, and introduced one of the five most significant overseas hedge funds into China market.

Mr. Lin obtained his Bachelor’s Degree in 2012 and is currently pursuing further studies in a Doctorate Degree in Southern 
Medical University.

Mr. DAI CHENGYAN (“Mr. Dai”), aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director on 23 December 2020. Mr. Dai is 
currently the chief executive officer of the Greater China of Amber Hill Holdings.

Mr. Dai had been the general manager of the wealth management department of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. 
during May 2016 to July 2020. He was the deputy general manager of the investment banking department of Zhuhai 
China Resources Bank from July 2015 to May 2016. During January 2010 to July 2015, Mr. Dai had been the general 
manager of the investment banking and finance department of the China Merchants Bank Guangzhou Branch.

Mr. Dai obtained the Master degree in Business Administration in Maastricht School of Management.
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Mr. RUI YUANQING (“Mr. Rui”), aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director on 23 December 2020. He is also a 
member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Committee.

Mr. Rui is currently the personal assistant to the chairman of Amber Hill Holdings. Mr. Rui had been the manager of the 
investment & business development department of Target from May 2011 to November 2015. He had played a vital 
leading role in leading the Company to list on the Stock Exchange and helped the Company in launching the online 
direct sales project/website successfully. Mr. Rui was responsible for investment activities and exploring, analyzing and 
evaluating new business opportunities. He represented Target as delegate in AIA during 2013 to 2015. Mr. Rui worked 
as an operation manager in Head & Shoulders Securities Ltd. from April 2010 to April 2011 and had worked as a project 
coordinator in Simsen Services Company Limited, which is wholly-owned by Simsen International Corporation Limited 
(currently known as “Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited”, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange; Stock code: 993), from 4 August 2008 to 31 March 2010. He has actively engaged in various financial projects 
of mergers and acquisitions, including mining, securities, insurance etc. and has extensive experience in due diligence, 
investment and asset management.

Mr. Rui obtained a Master degree of Science in International Banking and Finance in Lingnan University in 2008. He is a 
fellow member of ANZIIF.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. WAN KAM TO (“Mr. Wan”), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 November 
2014. Mr. Wan is also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”). He is concurrently an 
independent non-executive director and the chairman of the audit committee of Target. He has been awarded the Higher 
Diploma in Accountancy by Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1975. Mr. Wan 
is a fellow member of the HKICPA and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wan was a former partner 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong & China with extensive experience in auditing and financial management. He is 
currently a non-executive director of Financial Reporting Council. Mr. Wan was a non-executive director of Taikang Life 
Insurance Company Limited during the period between November 2009 and March 2011. Mr. Wan also serves or has 
served as an independent non-executive director/independent director of the following listed companies:

		  Which stock exchange 
Company	 Stock code	 the company is listed	 Duration

A-Living Smart City Services 	 3319	 Stock Exchange	 August 2017 to present
  Co., Ltd. (formerly known as 
  A-Living Services Co., Ltd.)

China Resources Land Limited	 1109	 Stock Exchange	 March 2009 to present

China World Trade Centre 	 600007	 Shanghai Stock Exchange	 November 2016 to present
  Co., Ltd.

Fairwood Holdings Limited	 52	 Stock Exchange	 September 2009 to present

Haitong International Securities 	 665	 Stock Exchange	 June 2018 to present
  Group Limited
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		  Which stock exchange 
Company	 Stock code	 the company is listed	 Duration

Harbin Bank Co., Ltd.	 6138	 Stock Exchange	 October 2013 to 
			     October 2019

Huaneng Renewables Corporation 	 958	 Stock Exchange	 August 2010 to June 2019
  Limited

Kerry Logistics Network Limited	 636	 Stock Exchange	 November 2013 to 
			     May 2019

KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited	 3816	 Stock Exchange	 September 2012 to present

Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding 	 2607	 Stock Exchange	 June 2013 to June 2019
  Co., Ltd.	 601607	 Shanghai Stock Exchange

Mr. WONG SHIU HOI PETER (“Mr. Wong”), aged 80, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on  
1 November 2014. Mr. Wong is also the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Committee, 
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is concurrently an independent non-
executive director and a member of each of the audit committee and the Investment Committee of Target. Mr. Wong 
obtained a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of Macau (formerly known as the University of 
East Asia, Macau) in 1986. Mr. Wong possesses over 45 years of experience in the financial services industry. He is the 
past chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors (“HKIoD”) and was an executive director, deputy chairman and 
chief executive of Haitong International Securities Group Limited. He is a former member of the Standing Committee of 
Company Law Reform, Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange and Financial Services Advisory Committee of the Hong 
Kong Trade Development Council. He was an overseas business advisor of Haitong Securities Company Limited. Mr. 
Wong also serves as an independent non-executive director of the following listed companies:

		  Which stock exchange 
Company	 Stock code	 the company is listed	 Duration

Tai Hing Group Holdings Limited	 6811	 Stock Exchange	 May 2019 to present

Agile Group Holdings Limited 	 3383	 Stock Exchange	 June 2014 to present
  (formerly known as Agile Property 
  Holdings Limited)

High Fashion International Limited	 608	 Stock Exchange	 July 2004 to present

Tianjin Development Holdings 	 882	 Stock Exchange	 December 2012 to present
  Limited
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Mr. ANTHONY ESPINA (“Mr. Espina”), aged 72, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 
May 2020. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Committee. Mr. Espina is concurrently an independent non-executive director and 
a member of each of the audit committee and the Investment Committee of Target. 

Mr. Espina has over 50 years of experience in accounting and finance, securities dealing, and banking industries. Mr. 
Espina is the founder and managing director of Goldride Securities Limited. He was the chairman of The Hong Kong 
Securities Association (the “Association”) from 2005 to 2007 and is a Permanent Hon. President of the Association. 
From May 2013 until his retirement in April 2019, Mr. Espina was the chief executive officer and the chairman of the 
Management Board, and an executive director of the Supervisory Board of ATF Bank (a company listed on Kazakhstan 
Stock Exchange; stock code: ATFB). Mr. Espina served as a non-executive director of the Supervisory Board of ATF 
Bank until December 2020. He was a non-executive director of the Supervisory Board of Optima Bank (a subsidiary of 
ATF Bank in Kyrgyzstan) from April 2013 to January 2019, and was Chairman of the Supervisory Board from April 2013 
to December 2015. From July 2014 to May 2017, Mr. Espina was an independent non-executive director of the “Single 
Accumulative Pension Fund” a wholly-owned subsidiary of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which is 
responsible for administering the pension assets of all employees in Kazakhstan. In February 2018, he was appointed 
as an advisor to the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Management Board of Samruk Kazyna, the sovereign 
wealth fund and national holding company of the Republic of Kazakhstan. In May 2019, Mr. Espina was appointed a 
non-executive director of KazMunayGas, the national oil company of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Mr. Espina is also an 
independent non-executive director of Amber Hill since June 2007.

Mr. Espina graduated from the University of Southern Queensland with a bachelor’s degree in business. He also obtained 
an Executive Master in Digital Transformation and Innovation Leadership from IE University in 2020. Mr. Espina is an 
associate member of CPA Australia, a fellow member of HKICPA and a fellow member of HKIoD.

Mr. LEUNG HO YIN ALEXANDER (“Mr. Leung”), aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director on 23 December 2020. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Committee. He has extensive experience in legal and commercial aspect. Mr. 
Leung is enthusiastic about public welfare and has served different positions in different public social organizations.

Mr. Leung is currently the managing partner of H.Y. Leung & Co. LLP, Solicitors.

He obtained the legal practitioner in The Supreme Court of New South Wales in 2002, the profession of solicitor in The 
Law Society of Hong Kong in 2005 and the profession of certified public accountant in Certified Public Accountants 
in Australia in 2009. Mr. Leung was graduated from The University of New South Wales with a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting) in 1999, a Bachelor of Laws in 2001 and a Master of Commerce (Fund Management) in 2001.

Dr. WANG JUN SHENG (“Dr. Wang”), aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 23 
December 2020. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He has more 
than 20 years of experience in equity investment, asset management and banking industry. Dr. Wang is currently a 
researcher of China Economic and Technological Research Consulting Company Limited. Dr. Wang received a Ph.D. from 
Huazhong University of Science & Technology.

Dr. Wang is currently an independent non-executive Director of Amber Hill.

Dr. Wang served as an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Nanshan Power Co. Ltd. (a company listed on 
the Shenzhen United Property Right Exchange Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Stock Exchange”), Stock Code: 000037 & 2000037) 
from May 2011 to November 2017 and China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd (a company listed on 
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 001979) from June 2015 to September 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. CHAN PAK YIP JEFFERY (“Mr. J Chan”), aged 57, is the Director of Business of the Group. He is also a member 
of the Underwriting Committee and the Reinsurance Committee. Mr. J Chan has over 30 years of experience in insurance 
and reinsurance in general insurance industry of Hong Kong and China markets. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. J Chan 
worked in several international reinsurance companies and reinsurance brokerages. He is the Deputy Chairman of Fire 
Insurance Association of HKFI since April 2019, the Convenor of the Motor Sub-Committee of AIA since April 2020 and 
the President of the Chinese Underwriters Club since May 2019. He graduated from Morrison Hill Technical Institute in 
1987. He is a senior associate of ANZIIF.

Mr. LEUNG CHI HUNG (“Mr. Leung”), aged 54, is the Head of Distribution of the Group. He is also a member of the 
Underwriting Committee. Mr. Leung was appointed as the Head of Business Development and Underwriting of the Group 
in September 2016. Mr. Leung has over 26 years of experience in general insurance industry. Prior to joining our Group, 
Mr. Leung worked in several international general insurance companies as sales and distribution management before 
he relocated to Hong Kong from Canada where he was being a commercial lines underwriter for 5 years. Mr. Leung 
graduated from University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Arts degree majoring in Environmental & Resources Management 
and Urban Geography. He is a fellow of ANZIIF.

Mr. LEE KA WAH (“Mr. Lee”), aged 50, joined the Group on 1 January 2017 and was appointed as the senior claims 
manager of the Claims Department of the Group in November 2017. Mr. Lee has more than 22 years of experience in 
claims management for general insurance companies. Prior to joining this Group, he was the Head of Claims of QBE 
General Insurance (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee graduated from University of Manitoba with a Bachelor of Arts degree 
majoring in Economics and Statistics. He is a senior associate of ANZIIF.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. TSE KAM FAI (“Mr. Tse”), aged 57, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company 
Secretary”) in August 2014. Mr. Tse is a fellow member of HKICS and CGI. He is also a member of HKIoD. Mr. Tse has 
more than 26 years of experience in handling listed company secretarial and compliance related matters. Mr. Tse is 
currently the company secretary of several companies listed on the Main Board and GEM of the Stock Exchange. He 
is also an executive director of a local professional firm providing regulatory compliance, corporate governance and 
corporate secretarial services to listed and unlisted corporations.



24

FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Our Group’s general insurance business is operated by Target. Target is a Hong Kong incorporated company and is 
wholly-owned by the Company. Target is principally engaged in underwriting motor and other general insurance policies in 
Hong Kong.

The key financial performance indicators of the Group are as follows:

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Gross premium written	 559,551	 527,743	 6.0%
Net premium written	 474,544	 443,674	 7.0%
Net insurance premium revenue	 475,131	 397,899	 19.4%
Net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses	 (301,909)	 (512,538)	 (41.1%)
Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net	 (55,955)	 (42,499)	 31.7%
Operating profit (loss)	 117,267	 (157,138)	 174.6%
Investment income	 22,257	 43,293	 (48.6%)
Other income	 1,468	 1,274	 15.2%
Employee benefits expenses	 (32,345)	 (36,901)	 (12.3%)
Other operating expenses	 (43,529)	 (42,012)	 3.6%
Finance costs	 (3,928)	 (1,723)	 127.9%
Profit (Loss) before tax	 61,190	 (193,207)	 131.7%
Profit (Loss) for the year	 62,026	 (198,520)	 131.2%

EBITDA	 89,484	 (167,195)	 153.5%
Basic earnings (loss) per share (1)	 11.90 cents	 (38.07 cents)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (1)	 11.90 cents	 (38.07 cents)

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019	 Difference

Retention ratio (2)	 84.8%	 84.1%	 0.7%
Loss ratio (3)	 63.5%	 128.8%	 (65.3%)
Expense ratio (3)	 28.6%	 30.9%	 (2.3%)
Combined ratio (4)	 92.1%	 159.7%	 (67.6%)
Investment yield	 2.1%	 4.3%	 (2.2%)

Notes:

(1)	 The weighted average number of shares for the year ended 31 December 2020 is 521,410,000 ordinary shares (2019: 
521,410,000 ordinary shares). The weighted average number of shares for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings/(loss) per 
share is 521,410,000 ordinary shares (2019: 521,410,000 ordinary shares).

(2)	 Retention ratio is calculated by dividing net premium written by gross premium written for the respective period.

(3)	 Both the loss ratio and expense ratio are based on net insurance premium revenue.

(4)	 The combined ratio is the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio.
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GROSS PREMIUM WRITTEN
Gross premium written increased by 6.0% to HK$559.6 million (2019: HK$527.7 million). During the year ended  
31 December 2020, the growth was mainly driven by EC and reinsurance inward business. The detailed breakdown of 
gross premium written is as follows:

 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 % Change

Taxi	 259,488	 46.4%	 244,131	 46.3%	 6.3%
PLB	 68,179	 12.2%	 75,745	 14.4%	 (10.0%)
Other motor vehicles (1)	 107,921	 19.3%	 111,025	 21.0%	 (2.8%)
EC	 92,720	 16.6%	 85,220	 16.1%	 8.8%
Other direct business (2)	 8,712	 1.5%	 11,071	 2.1%	 (21.3%)
Reinsurance inward	 22,531	 4.0%	 551	 0.1%	 3989.1%

	 559,551	 100.0%	 527,743	 100.0%	 6.0%

Notes:

(1)	 Other motor vehicles mainly include goods carrying vehicles, private cars and motorcycles

(2)	 Other direct business includes all other general insurance business except EC business

NET INSURANCE PREMIUM REVENUE
During the year ended 31 December 2020, our retention ratio slightly increased to 84.8% (2019: 84.1%). We arranged 
quota share and excess of loss treaty reinsurance for part of our motor business and most of our other general insurance 
business to diversify our risk as we grow our portfolio. The detailed breakdown of net insurance premium revenue is as 
follows:

 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 % Change

Taxi	 232,320	 48.9%	 227,078	 57.0%	 2.3%
PLB	 68,186	 14.4%	 72,263	 18.2%	 (5.6%)
Other motor vehicles (1)	 62,434	 13.2%	 65,564	 16.5%	 (4.8%)
EC	 86,672	 18.2%	 28,466	 7.2%	 204.5%
Other direct business (2)	 4,949	 1.0%	 4,159	 1.0%	 19.0%
Reinsurance inward	 20,570	 4.3%	 369	 0.1%	 5474.5%

	 475,131	 100.0%	 397,899	 100.0%	 19.4%

Notes:

(1)	 Other motor vehicles mainly include goods carrying vehicles, private cars and motorcycles

(2)	 Other direct business includes all other general insurance business except EC business
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NET INSURANCE CLAIMS AND LOSS RATIO
Net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses decreased by 41.1% to HK$301.9 million (2019: HK$512.5 million). 
The loss ratio decreased to 63.5% (2019: 128.8%). During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was a substantial 
decrease in net insurance claims for motor business. The net insurance claims for motor were reduced as claims 
frequency reduced due to lower social business activities and improvement of certain prior accident year claims. The net 
insurance claim for EC and reinsurance inward businesses were increased due to the portfolio growth.

 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 Loss ratio	 HK$’000	 Loss ratio	 % Change

Taxi	 180,244	 77.6%	 344,677	 151.8%	 (47.7%)
PLB	 38,658	 56.7%	 60,701	 84.0%	 (36.3%)
Other motor vehicles (1)	 31,570	 50.6%	 63,792	 97.3%	 (50.5%)
EC	 45,793	 52.8%	 42,077	 147.8%	 8.8%
Other direct business (2)	 876	 17.7%	 1,291	 31.0%	 (32.1%)
Reinsurance inward	 4,768	 23.2%	 –	 0.0%	 100.0%

	 301,909	 63.5%	 512,538	 128.8%	 (41.1%)

Notes:

(1)	 Other motor vehicles mainly include goods carrying vehicles, private cars and motorcycles

(2)	 Other direct business includes all other general insurance business except EC business

UNDERWRITING AND OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The underwriting and other administrative expenses increased by 10.2% to HK$135.8 million (2019: HK$123.1 million). 
Our net acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses increased by 31.7% to HK$56.0 million (2019: HK$42.5 
million) due to growth of EC and reinsurance inward business with a higher commission rate. The employee benefit 
expenses decreased by 12.3% to HK$32.3 million (2019: HK$36.9 million). Professional charges increased by 99.6% 
to HK$7.8 million (2019: HK$3.9 million) mainly attributable to the increase in advisory fees in claims investigation and 
investment. Finance cost increased by 127.9% to HK$3.9 million (2019: HK$1.7 million), mainly due to the interest paid on 
the unsecured loans. The advertising and promotion expenses substantially decreased by 40.3% to HK$3.8 million (2019: 
HK$6.4 million) due to reduction of traditional media promotion. The underwriting and other administrative expenses are 
summarized as follows:

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net	 55,955	 42,499	 31.7%
Employee benefit expenses	 32,345	 36,901	 (12.3%)
Depreciation and amortization	 24,366	 24,289	 0.3%
Professional charges	 7,843	 3,930	 99.6%
Finance costs	 3,928	 1,723	 127.9%
Advertising and promotion expenses	 3,816	 6,392	 (40.3%)
Entertainment	 244	 733	 (66.7%)
Donation	 23	 51	 (54.9%)
Others	 7,237	 6,617	 9.4%

	 135,757	 123,135	 10.2%
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INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE
Our Group invested in accordance with our investment policy. The composition of our investment portfolio is as follows:

	 As at 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 % Change

Equity securities	 980	 0.1%	 49,469	 4.8%	 (98.0%)
Debt securities	 6,746	 0.6%	 31,109	 3.0%	 (78.3%)
Certificates of deposit	 4,748	 0.4%	 4,451	 0.5%	 6.7%
Currency Fund	 62,323	 5.5%	 –	 0.0%	 100.0%
Cash and bank deposits	 1,063,548	 93.4%	 940,773	 91.7%	 13.1%

	 1,138,345	 100.0%	 1,025,802	 100.0%	 11.0%

The net investment income decreased by 48.6% to HK$22.3 million (2019: HK$43.3 million), the investment yield 
decreased to 2.1% (2019: 4.3%). The net fair value on financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 
decreased by 147.1% and resulted a loss of HK$4.9 million (2019: a profit of HK$10.5 million) due to market volatility. The 
net investment income is as follows:

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Interest income	 11,615	 29,633	 (60.8%)
Dividend income	 106	 3,397	 (96.9%)
(Loss) Gain on disposal of financial assets	 (542)	 2,068	 (126.2%)
Loss allowance for financial assets	 (1,441)	 –	 (100.0%)
Net fair value (loss) gain on financial assets at FVTPL	 (4,934)	 10,472	 (147.1%)
Net foreign exchange gain (loss)	 17,453	 (2,277)	 866.5%

	 22,257	 43,293	 (48.6%)

OPERATING RESULT
We recorded an operating profit at HK$117.3 million (2019: loss of HK$157.1 million), a profit before tax at HK$61.2 
million (2019: loss of HK$193.2 million) and a profit for the year at HK$62.0 million (2019: loss of HK$198.5 million).

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Operating profit / (loss)	 117,267 	 (157,138)	 174.6%
Profit / (Loss) before tax	 61,190 	 (193,207)	 131.7%
Profit / (Loss) for the year	 62,026 	 (198,520)	 131.2%
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Our Group’s cash and bank deposits as at 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$1,063.5 million (2019: HK$940.8 million).

FINANCIAL LEVERAGE
On 13 March 2020, our Group entered into the loan agreements with each of Dr. Cheung Haywood, Mr. Chiu Sun Ting 
and Mr. Lai Bing Leung (as lenders), pursuant to which the lenders agreed to provide to our Group the loans in the 
principal amount of HK$40.0 million, HK$25.0 million and HK$25.0 million respectively at an interest rate of 3.5% per 
annum for a term commencing from 13 March 2020 to 12 September 2020, for the purpose of capital injection into 
Target. On 25 August 2020, the term of the loan agreements extended to 12 March 2021 which were further extended 
to 12 May 2021 on 5 March 2021. Dr. Cheung Haywood is currently as an executive Director and the Chairman of the 
Board; Mr. Chiu Sun Ting and Mr. Lai Bing Leung resigned as executive Directors with effect from 23 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, our Group has an outstanding bank loan facility of HK$78.3 million (2019: HK$84.4 million) 
and no bank overdrafts (2019: Nil). Our Group had a bank guarantee of HK$10 million, fully pledged with deposit, for the 
business operation (31 December 2019: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the year ended 31 December 2020, no options were exercised to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. 
Details of share options were disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 31 December 2014 (“the Prospectus”).

STAFF AND STAFF REMUNERATION
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 78 employees (2019: 72 employees), an increase of 6 employees. 
Total remuneration for 2020 amounted to HK$32.3 million (2019: HK$36.9 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Other than those incurred during the normal course of our Group’s insurance business, there was neither outstanding 
litigation nor any other contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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The Board would like to submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment company and the subsidiaries are principally engaged in writing motor and other general 
insurance in Hong Kong with leading market position on motor insurance for taxi and PLB. Details of the principal 
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The annual aggregate premium income limit in 2020 is HK$560.0 million. Our Group has taken actions to try to improve 
its underwriting results through risk selection and altering our mix of business.

MOTOR INSURANCE BUSINESS
Our key insurance products compose of third-party insurance and comprehensive insurance for motor vehicles. The 
majority of our customers are owners of taxi and PLB in Hong Kong. For third party insurance, we insure against third 
party legal liabilities. For comprehensive insurance, we insure against: (i) loss of damage to motor vehicles and (ii) third 
party legal liabilities.

The following table illustrates the breakdown of our gross premium written by business segments for the year ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019.

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 % Change

Taxi	 259,488	 59.6%	 244,131	 56.7%	 6.3%
PLB	 68,179	 15.7%	 75,745	 17.6%	 (10.0%)
Other motor vehicles (1)	 107,921	 24.8%	 111,025	 25.8%	 (2.8%)

	 435,588	 100.0%	 430,901	 100.0%	 1.1%

Note:

(1)	 Other motor vehicles mainly include goods carrying vehicles, private cars and motorcycles

During the year ended 31 December 2020, our motor business remained steady. The motor business increased by 1.1% 
to HK$435.6 million (2019: HK$430.9 million). The gross premium written on taxi and PLB represents 75.3% of gross 
premium written on motor insurance for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 74.2%). Our taxi average premium 
rate had improved and the taxi business increased by 6.3% to HK$259.5 million (2019: HK$244.1 million). However, 
our businesses on PLB and other motor vehicles faced keen market competition. Our PLB business reduced by 10.0% 
to HK$68.2 million (2019: HK$75.7 million) and our business on other motor vehicles decreased by 2.8% to HK$107.9 
million (2019: HK$111.0 million).
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EC Insurance Business
Our EC insurance business, which includes standalone EC insurance and EC section of SME Business Insurance, 
achieved diversification during the year. Our construction EC insurance decreased by 26.0% to HK$54.7 million (2019: 
HK$73.9 million), whereas our non-construction EC business increased by 236.3% to HK$38.0 million (2019: HK$11.3 
million).

The following table illustrates the breakdown of our gross premium written by industry for the year ended 31 December 
2020 and 2019.

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 % Change

Construction	 54,713	 59.0%	 73,920	 86.7%	 (26.0%)
Non-construction	 38,007	 41.0%	 11,300	 13.3%	 236.3%

	 92,720	 100.0%	 85,220	 100.0%	 8.8%

The premium income limit on EC business in 2020 is HK$93.0 million.

OTHER DIRECT BUSINESS
Our Group offers different personal and commercial insurance products to individual clients and local enterprises.

Personal Insurance Products	C ommercial Insurance Products

– Home Protection	 – SME Business Insurance
– Travel Insurance	 – Fire Insurance
– Fire Insurance	 – Property All Risk Insurance
– Interior Decoration Insurance	 – Public Liability Insurance
– Personal Accident Insurance	 – Building Owners’ Corporations Third Party Liability
– Health Green Hospitalization Medical Insurance	 – Interior Decoration Insurance
– Health Red Cancer Insurance	 – Contractors’ All Risks Insurance
– Individual Personal Accident Insurance	 – Directors’ & Officers’ Liability Insurance
	 – Group Personal Accident Insurance

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the gross premium written from other direct business decreased by 21.3% to 
HK$8.7 million (2019: HK$11.1 million).

REINSURANCE INWARD Business
Our Group also started to develop reinsurance inward business operations. By accepting risk as the reinsurer, we aim to 
diversify the Group’s insurance products to reduce its reliance on motor vehicles insurance. Our Group obtain business 
from industry peers while maintaining close business relationship with renowned reinsurance brokers for potential 
business opportunities.

Our portfolio of reinsurance business continued to grow substantially in 2020. The net insurance premium revenue 
increased by 5,474.5% to HK$20.6 million (2019: HK$0.4 million).
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INVESTMENTS
We invested premiums and other income generated from our insurance business. During the year, we focused our 
strategy on more liquid investments. We decreased our holdings in equity and debt securities while began to invest in 
currency fund and increased our portfolio in certificates of deposit. The total value of investment portfolio increased by 
11.0% to HK$1,138.3 million (2019: HK$1,025.8 million).

	 As at 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 HK$’000	 % of Total	 % Change

Equity securities	 980	 0.1%	 49,469	 4.8%	 (98.0%)
Debt securities	 6,746	 0.6%	 31,109	 3.0%	 (78.3%)
Certificates of deposit	 4,748	 0.4%	 4,451	 0.5%	 6.7%
Currency Fund	 62,323	 5.5%	 –	 0.0%	 100.0%
Cash and bank deposits	 1,063,548	 93.4%	 940,773	 91.7%	 13.1%

	 1,138,345	 100.0%	 1,025,802	 100.0%	 11.0%

The Group’s equity portfolio reduced by 98.0% to HK$1.0 million (2019: HK$49.5 million). All equity securities are listed 
on the Stock Exchange. The equity securities classified by locations are as follows:

	 As at 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Listed in Hong Kong	 980	 45,206	 (97.8%)
Listed outside Hong Kong	 –	 4,263	 (100.0%)

	 980	 49,469	 (98.0%)

The Group’s debt portfolio decreased by 78.3% to HK$6.7 million (2019: HK$31.1 million). The debt securities classified 
by type are as follows:

	 As at 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Bonds listed in Hong Kong	 6,746	 15,601	 (56.8%)
Bonds listed outside Hong Kong	 –	 5,508	 (100.0%)
Unlisted bonds	 –	 10,000	 (100.0%)

	 6,746	 31,109	 (78.3%)
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FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For detailed discussion on each key financial indicators, please refer to “Financial Review” section.

The key financial performance indicators of the Group are as follows:

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 % Change

Gross premium written	 559,551	 527,743	 6.0%
Net premium written	 474,544	 443,674	 7.0%
Net insurance premium revenue	 475,131	 397,899	 19.4%
Net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses	 (301,909)	 (512,538)	 (41.1%)
Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net	 (55,955)	 (42,499)	 31.7%
Operating profit (loss)	 117,267	 (157,138)	 174.6%
Investment income	 22,257	 43,293	 (48.6%)
Other income	 1,468	 1,274	 15.2%
Employee benefits expenses	 (32,345)	 (36,901)	 (12.3%)
Other operating expenses	 (43,529)	 (42,012)	 3.6%
Finance costs	 (3,928)	 (1,723)	 127.9%
Profit (Loss) before tax	 61,190	 (193,207)	 131.7%
Profit (Loss) for the year	 62,026	 (198,520)	 131.2%

EBITDA	 89,484	 (167,195)	 153.5%
Basic earnings (loss) per share (1)	 11.90 cents	 (38.07 cents)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (1)	 11.90 cents	 (38.07 cents)

	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019	 Difference

Retention ratio (2)	 84.8%	 84.1%	 0.7%
Loss ratio (3)	 63.5%	 128.8%	 (65.3%)
Expense ratio (3)	 28.6%	 30.9%	 (2.3%)
Combined ratio (4)	 92.1%	 159.7%	 (67.6%)
Investment yield	 2.1%	 4.3%	 (2.2%)

Notes:

(1)	 The weighted average number of shares for the year ended 31 December 2020 is 521,410,000 ordinary shares (2019: 
521,410,000 ordinary shares). The weighted average number of shares for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings/(loss) per 
share is 521,410,000 ordinary shares (2019: 521,410,000 ordinary shares).

(2)	 Retention ratio is calculated by dividing net premium written by gross premium written for the respective year.

(3)	 Both the loss ratio and expense ratio are based on net insurance premium revenue.

(4)	 The combined ratio is the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are exposed to a variety of key risks with financial impacts and operational 
risks.

Risks with financial impacts include insurance risk, market price risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk 
and liquidity risk. Details of these risks and sensitivity analysis are elaborated in the note 31 “Insurance and Financial Risk 
Management Objectives and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

The key operational risks are detailed as follows:

(A)	RE GULATORY COMPLIANCE

The insurance industry in Hong Kong is highly regulated. Companies carrying on insurance business in or from 
Hong Kong must obtain authorization from the IA. Authorization will only be granted to insurers meeting certain 
requirements under the Insurance Ordinance (Chapter 41, the Laws of Hong Kong) (“IO”), which focus on, 
among other things, the following aspects: paid up capital, solvency margin, fitness and properness of directors 
and controllers and adequacy of reinsurance arrangements. There exists an authorized annual aggregate gross 
premium income limit (the “Target Limit”) imposed by the IA on Target in carrying out its businesses. For the year 
ending 31 December 2021, the Target Limit is HK$590.0 million (2020: HK$560.0 million) and the authorized 
annual gross premium income limit on EC business is HK$120.0 million (2020: HK$93.0 million). Any adjustment 
of the Target Limit will require Target to submit an application to the IA for its consideration. Compliance with 
applicable laws, rules and regulations may restrict our business and investment activities and require us to deploy 
significant resources and to devote considerable time to such compliance efforts.

Following the establishment of IA on 26 June 2017 as the regulator of Hong Kong insurance companies, it also 
directly regulates intermediaries on or after 23 September 2019. A multi-year consultation process is underway to 
develop a risk-based capital regime for Hong Kong Insurers.

On 18 May 2017, the International Accounting Standards Board published International Financial Reporting 
Standard (“IFRS”) 17 Insurance Contracts, which will replace the current IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. IFRS 17 
includes some fundamental differences to current accounting in both insurance contract measurement and 
profit recognition. On 12 December 2017, the Institute approved the issuance of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standard (“HKFRS”) 17 Insurance Contracts. In October 2020, the Institute endorsed the deferred of the effective 
date of HKFRS 17, meaning the standard will become mandatorily effective for financial periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2023.

New or revised laws, rules and regulations may be introduced from time to time and such changes may have 
a material adverse effect on the insurance companies in Hong Kong, including Target. If any of Target business 
segments is to become subject to more stringent legal or regulatory restrictions, this may have a material adverse 
effect on our product range, distribution network, capital requirements, day-to-day operations and consequently, 
our business, financial conditions and results of operations.

(B)	ROAD  SAFETY RISK

Our underwriting results are affected by the number and level of seriousness of the claims involving our customers 
and the market loss which are in turn affected by the number and types of traffic accidents happened in Hong 
Kong.
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Emerging trends on road safety poses treats on increasing number of traffic accidents, such as (i) the growing 
number of cyclists requires new approaches to traffic management and investment into safe cycling infrastructure 
to improve road safety and reduce fatalities and injuries and (ii) the rise of distracted driving leading to a marked 
increase in the number of crashes due to the use of mobile phone or other digital devices while driving. Both are 
developing into major road safety risk that requires a more systematic response from the enforcement.

(C)	DATA  PROTECTION AND CYBERSECURITY

The tightening of Hong Kong’s data protection regulatory environment and the emergence of cyber security 
regulation comes at the same time as personal data has developed into an increasingly valuable business asset. 
It also comes as businesses seek to turn more to outsource data processing and transfer data with a view to 
improving operational efficiency and leverage economies of scale.

The Group addresses cybersecurity risk in consideration with Guideline on Cybersecurity issued by IA, which is 
effective by 1 January 2020. It consolidates best practices and introduces a baseline standard of cybersecurity. It 
also provides a framework to routinely identify, prevent, detect and mitigate cyber security threats.

(D)	CL IMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL RISK

Climate change is a critical global concern that presents issues associated with warmer temperatures, increased 
water scarcity, and more frequent and severe weather events.

The implications of climate change, including the increase in the number and severity of extreme weather events, 
pose obvious direct physical risks to the Group by means of property insurance liabilities and increased morbidity 
and mortality due to severe weather conditions. There are also secondary physical risks to consider which 
arise indirectly through subsequent events such as disruption of supply chain, resource scarcity, or potential 
macroeconomic, political or societal shocks. Indirect physical risks can include financial market losses due to 
economic damage, declines in resource production resulting in scarcity, and increased morbidity and mortality 
caused by indirect impacts of rising temperatures such as the increase in vector-borne diseases.

(E)	CO VID-19 OUTBREAK

On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization declared that the COVID-19 outbreak constituted a public 
health emergency of international concern. It subsequently declared on 11 March 2020 that the COVID-19 
outbreak will inevitably spread to all parts of the world. Hong Kong have been at the forefront of the COVID-19 
outbreak, it brings economic uncertainties as the anti-epidemic measures designed to contain it delivered collapse 
in activity affected every sector of the economy. There remains a risk of subsequent waves of infection. Renewed 
outbreaks emphasize the ongoing threat of COVID-19 and would likely hit the pace of business recovery in Hong 
Kong.

There remain significant uncertainties in assessing the duration of the COVID-19 outbreak and its impact. The 
actions taken by the Hong Kong government provide an indication of the potential severity of the downturn and 
post-recovery environment, which from a risk perspective could be significantly different to historical crises and 
persist for a prolonged period. A prolonged period of reduced social business activity as a result of the impact of 
the outbreak would have a material effect on our business operations.

The Group will continue to monitor the situation closely and to protect our employees, assess ongoing impact, 
address business challenges and risks, and help to mitigate the disruption of the outbreak. As a result of COVID-19 
outbreak, business continuity plan has been successfully implemented and the majority of our services have been 
maintained.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

On 4 January 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement with Emperio Securities and Assets Management 
Limited (the “Placing Agent”), as placing agent, pursuant to which the Placing Agent conditionally agreed to procure 
on a best effort basis not less than six placees, who are professional, institutional and other investors who and whose 
ultimate beneficial owners (if any) are third parties independent of the Company and connected persons of the Company, 
to subscribe for up to 104,282,000 new ordinary shares of the Company at the placing price of HK$0.50 per placing 
share (the “Placing”). The Placing was completed on 22 January 2021. All placing shares had been successfully placed 
by the Placing Agent and the Company issued and allotted 104,282,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the 
placing price of HK$0.50 per placing share.

For the details of the Placing, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 4 January 2021 and 22 January 
2021.

On 26 January 2021, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Smart Neo Holdings Limited (the 
“Subscriber”), a substantial shareholder of the Company and is wholly-owned by Dr. Ng Yu, an executive Director and the 
Co-chairman of the Board, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber has 
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$400.0 million, which 
may be converted into 701,754,385 new shares of the Company at the initial conversion price of HK$0.57 per conversion 
share (subject to adjustments) (the “Subscription”). The Subscription constituted a connected transaction of the Company 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and subject to, among others, approval by the independent shareholders of the 
Company. Completion of the Subscription is subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent. The Subscription 
was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the general meeting of the Company held on 29 
March 2021.

For the details of the Subscription, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26 January 2021, 27 
January 2021, 18 February 2021 and 29 March 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 11 March 2021.

On 5 March 2021, the Company entered into agreements with each of Mr. Lai Bing Leung and Mr. Chiu Sun Ting, former 
executive Directors resigned on 23 December 2020 (collectively, the “Lenders”) pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to 
further extend the maturity date of the unsecured loans granted to the Company in the principal amount of HK$25 million 
each to 12 May 2021.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF OUR BUSINESS
With the enduring uncertainty relating to COVID-19 outbreak on the city’s business sector, we shall continue to hone our 
focus on the strategies to write and grow our business more prudently for 2021.

ACHIEVING UNDERWRITING IMPROVEMENT
There is no “one size fits all” formula for success in underwriting. Our commercial exposures are particularly 
heterogeneous, intermediated, qualitative and required case-based assessment. We will focus our effort on disciplined 
underwriting through the following approaches:

—	 Portfolio steering: To strike a balance between consistency in our risk appetite and the need to continuously 
calibrate that appetite, we will ensure that we are willing and able to pull back when conditions are unsustainable.
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—	 Pricing adequacy: To introduce technical pricing as a core part of underwriting governance and as a benchmark, 
we are thus provided with insight into directional movement of pricing for a portfolio over time.

—	 Risk selection: To supplement data-driven analysis, we will encourage collective risk discussion and underwriting 
assessment.

—	 Capacity optimization: To encourage dynamic recalibration of limits and retention, we will deploy capacity 
more prudently through deductibles and also through net retention across the portfolio by way of optimal use of 
reinsurance arrangement.

—	 Coverage design: To translate qualitative policy terms and endorsements into quantitative parameters, we will 
carefully control around our policy wording.

DEVELOPING OTHER GENERAL INSURANCE PRODUCTS
We will take a progressive approach to develop other general insurance products which suit the needs of local enterprises 
and individual clients. Notwithstanding the intense competition, we develop other general insurance products which 
can leverage our strengths, distribution networks and expertise. We will also manage our insurance risk exposures with 
adequate reinsurance protections.

REBRANDING OUR CORPORATE IMAGE
It is clear from the feasibility study that there is a strong demand for well-planned packaged insurance products to 
satisfy the insurance needs and services of the Hong Kong market. Transitioning from mono motor insurance business 
to all general insurance business, Target has rebranded itself for its capability to write a comprehensive range of general 
business in Hong Kong. To continue with our rebranding effort, we will maintain modest level of branding activities through 
traditional media (magazine, television commercial, radio etc.) to reinforce our core products and more focused sales and 
marketing activities for new insurance products throughout the year.

BUILDING UP INTERNAL CAPACITY
There are three areas which we will continue to invest in 2021 to strengthen our internal capacity to prepare for the future:

—	 Claims Management: To enhance claims handling and settling, we will continue to develop resources to guard 
against fraudulent claims and strive to have fraudulent claims reported to Police.

—	 Human Resources: We will continue to seek suitable professional talent to join our team to consolidate our 
capacity to deal with the business needs and regulatory developments.

—	 Information Technology: To support the adoption of IFPCD, risk-based capital framework and new accounting 
standards, we will continue to upgrade our information technology systems. We will also enhance our B2B 
automation platform for motor insurance business.
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INCREASING OUR MOTOR INSURANCE BUSINESS ON OTHER TYPES OF MOTOR VEHICLES
We will continue to direct our effort towards the development of our insurance business on other types of motor vehicles. 
The introduction of online business platforms for private cars and commercial vehicles had provided additional channel 
for us to reach out to our customers directly. We will also explore different distribution channels to further grow our motor 
insurance business. We are proactively forming alliances with other business partners to provide all rounded services to 
our customers and extend our reach to our target customers. Our dedicated customer service team can promptly attend 
to all customers’ enquiries and provide a better experience to our customers.

STRENGTHENING RELATIONSHIP WITH INSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES
Actively managing our relationship with existing agent network and developing new relationship with other insurance 
intermediaries become the key to maintain our market position. We will continue to participate in and sponsor activities 
organized by industry organizations and media partners.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 
that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 154.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020. The 
Company maintains its dividend policy to distribute dividend of not less than 30% of any net consolidated distributable 
profit derived for the year as stated in the Prospectus.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For determining the identity of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company to be held on Wednesday, 26 May 2021 (“2021 AGM”), the register of members of the Company will be closed 
from Friday, 21 May 2021 to Wednesday, 26 May 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares 
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the 
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor 
Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not 
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 20 May 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no change in the Company’s share capital for the year ended 31 December 2020, details of which are set out 
in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (“Articles”) or the laws of Hong 
Kong, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new 
shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions 
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in 
force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws 
of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors is 
approved in accordance with section 391(1) of the Companies Ordinance.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Company together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in insurance business in Hong Kong, the companies 
within the Group are subject to various laws and regulations including the Companies Ordinance, Business Registration 
Ordinance (Cap. 310), Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112), Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Copyright Ordinance 
(Cap. 528) and Trademark Ordinance (Cap. 559). The Group has put in place internal controls and staff resources to 
ensure ongoing compliance of the same and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators through effective 
communication. We set out our compliance with respect to the listing of the shares of the Company and insurance 
business of Target as below:

RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING RULES AND THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 571, LAWS 
OF HONG KONG) (THE “SFO”)
The Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 January 2015 and therefore the Company is subject to 
the governance of the Listing Rules including the disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. 
Under the SFO, the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in shares and short positions and a register 
of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or inside 
information.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the Listing Rules 
and the SFO.

INSURANCE ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 41, LAWS OF HONG KONG) (THE “IO”) AND THE INSURANCE (GENERAL 
BUSINESS) (VALUATION) RULES (CHAPTER 41G, LAWS OF HONG KONG)
Companies carrying on insurance business in or from Hong Kong must obtain authorization from the IA. Authorization 
will only be granted to insurers meeting certain requirements under the IO, including, among other things, the following 
aspects: paid up capital amount, solvency margin, fitness and properness of directors and controllers, adequacy of 
reinsurance arrangements as well as results of actuarial review. The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with 
the IO requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements could lead to the termination of operating 
licenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has obtained all the approvals, permits, consents, licences and 
registrations required for our business and operations and all of them are in force.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made charitable donations amounting to approximately HK$23,000 
(2019: HK$51,000).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Board adopted Environmental, Social and Governance Policy on 22 March 2016. Please refer to “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report” section.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders is HK$19.9 million (2019: 
HK$24.0 million).

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board adopted at its Board meeting held on 23 December 2014 the following dividend policy of the Company.

Subject to the Companies Ordinance, the Articles and the requirements under the IO and imposed by the IA, the 
Company intends to distribute dividend to the Shareholders of not less than 30% of any net consolidated distributable 
profit derived. The Company will re-evaluate its dividend policy annually.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Cheung Haywood
Dr. Ng Yu (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
Mr. Chan Hok Ching
Ms. Lau Ka Yee
Mr. Wei Weicheng (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Lin Feng (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Dai Chengyan (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Rui Yuanqing (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Lai Bing Leung (resigned on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Chiu Sun Ting (resigned on 23 December 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wan Kam To
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter
Mr. Anthony Espina (appointed on 1 May 2020)
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Dr. Wang Jun Sheng (appointed on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (resigned on 7 January 2020)
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)
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According to the Articles and to be in line with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code under Appendix 
14 to the Listing Rules (“CG Code”), all Directors shall retire upon expiration of their term of appointment and at least once 
in every three years and shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Article 72(1) of the Articles, Dr. Cheung Haywood, Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy, Mr. Chan Hok Ching, 
Mr. Wan Kam To and Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter retired and re-elected at the general meeting of the Company held on 29 
March 2021.

Dr. Ng Yu, Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng, Mr. Dai Chengyan, Mr. Rui Yuanqing, Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. 
Wang Jun Sheng were appointed as Directors on 23 December 2020, they are subject to retirement and re-election at the 
2021 AGM in accordance with Article 71 of the Articles, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The directors of subsidiaries of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to date of this annual 
report were as follows:

TARGET
Executive directors
Dr. Cheung Haywood
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
Mr. Chan Hok Ching
Ms. Lau Ka Yee (appointed on 28 August 2020)
Mr. Lai Bing Leung (resigned on 23 December 2020)
Mr. Chiu Sun Ting (resigned on 23 December 2020)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Wan Kam To
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter
Mr. Anthony Espina (appointed on 22 March 2021)
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (resigned on 7 January 2020)
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)

TARGET CREDIT LIMITED
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
Mr. Chan Hok Ching
Ms. Lau Ka Yee

CHARTERED PROPERTIES LIMITED
Dr. Cheung Haywood
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
Mr. Chan Hok Ching
Ms. Lau Ka Yee

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are 
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of Dr. Cheung Haywood, Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy and Mr. Chan Hok Ching, being executive Directors, has entered 
into a service agreement with the Company on 13 December 2017 for a term of three years commencing from 15 
January 2018, and thereafter be continuous unless and until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing 
served by either party on the other or by payment of three months’ fixed salary in lieu of such notice. Upon expiry of the 
term, each of them has renewed his service agreement with the Company on 11 January 2021 for a fixed term of three 
years commencing from 15 January 2021 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by 
either party on the other or by payment of three months’ fixed salary in lieu of such notice. They are subject to retirement 
and re-election in accordance with the Articles and the CG Code.

Ms. Lau Ka Yee has entered into a service agreement with the Company on 11 December 2019 for the appointment as 
an executive Director for an initial term of three years commencing from 1 January 2020, and thereafter be continuous 
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other or by payment 
of three months’ fixed salary in lieu of such notice. She is subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the 
Articles and the CG Code.

Each of Dr. Ng Yu, Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng, Mr. Dai Chengyan and Mr. Rui Yuanqing has entered into a service 
agreement with the Company on 23 December 2020 for the appointment as an executive Director for an initial term of 
three years commencing from 23 December 2020 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing 
served by either party on the other or by payment of three months’ fixed salary in lieu of such notice. Each of them is 
subject to retirement and re-election at the next annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and 
thereafter subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles and the CG Code.

Each of the executive Directors may be entitled to a discretionary bonus as may be determined by the Remuneration 
Committee from time to time and approved by majority of the members of the Board by reference to the prevailing market 
conditions, the performance of the Company as well as his/her individual performance.

Each of Mr. Wan Kam To and Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter has renewed his letter of appointment with the Company on 
21 January 2019 for the renewal of the term of appointment for two years with retrospective effect from 15 January 
2019. Upon expiry of the term, each of Mr. Wan Kam To and Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter has signed a renewed letter of 
appointment with the Company on 5 March 2021 for the renewal of the term of appointment for three years commencing 
on 15 January 2021 subject to the terms of the appointment letter and the Articles, the appointment can be terminated 
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other or by payment in lieu of notice. Each of 
them is subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles and CG Code.

Mr. Anthony Espina has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 24 April 2020 for the appointment 
as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three years commencing on 1 May 2020. Subject to the terms 
of the appointment letter and the Articles, the appointment can be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in 
writing served by either party on the other or by payment in lieu of notice. He is subject to retirement and re-election in 
accordance with the Articles and CG Code.

Each of Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng has entered into a letter of appointment with the 
Company on 23 December 2020 for the appointment as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three years 
commencing on 23 December 2020 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either 
party on the other or by payment in lieu of notice. Each of them is subject to retirement and re-election at the next annual 
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and thereafter subject to retirement and re-election in accordance 
with the Articles and the CG Code.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not 
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.



42

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as those disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions”, none of the Directors had a significant 
beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures 
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short 
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), are set out below:

INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY
		  Long 	 Number of Shares/	 Approximate 
		  position/	 underlying 	 percentage of 
Name of Director	 Nature of interest	 Short position	 shares held	 shareholding

Dr. Cheung 	 Interest of a controlled 	 Long position	 158,750,000	 30.45%
  Haywood (“Dr. Cheung”)	   corporation		  (Note 1)

Dr. Ng Yu (“Dr. Ng”)	 Interest of a controlled 	 Long position	 138,822,000	 26.62%
	   corporation		  (Note 2)
	
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 2,000,000	 0.38%
	 	 	 (Note 3)

Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 1,300,000	 0.25%
			   (Note 5)

Ms. Lau Ka Yee	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 254,000	 0.05%
			   (Note 4)

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 500,000	 0.10%
			   (Note 5)

Mr. Wan Kam To	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 500,000	 0.10%
			   (Note 5)

Mr. Szeto Wai Sun	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 500,000	 0.10%
			   (Note 5)
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Notes:

1.	 Independent Assets Management Limited (“Independent Assets”) is the beneficial owner of these shares. Independent Assets 
is wholly and beneficially owned by Dr. Cheung. Moreover, Independent Assets is accustomed to act in accordance with 
Dr. Cheung’s directions. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Cheung is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares in which 
Independent Assets is interested.

2.	 Smart Neo Holdings Limited (“Smart Neo”) is the beneficial owner of these shares. Smart Neo is wholly and beneficially owned 
by Dr. Ng, an executive Director and the Co-chairman of the Board. Moreover, Smart Neo is accustomed to act in accordance 
with Dr. Ng’s directions. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Ng is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares in which Smart 
Neo is interested.

3.	 Included interest in 1,640,000 shares derived from the interest in the share options granted under the pre-IPO share option 
scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 30 September 2014 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”), details are set out 
in the section headed “Interest in Share Options”.

4.	 Included interest in 86,000 shares derived from the interest in the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Shares Option 
Scheme, details are set out in the section headed “Interest in Share Options”.

5.	 These interest are derived from the interest in the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, details are set 
out in the section headed “Interest in Share Options”.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their associates, had any interest 
or short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations as at 31 
December 2020 as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTEREST IN SHARE OPTIONS
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole Shareholder passed on 30 September 2014, the rules of the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme were approved and adopted. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to enable the 
Company to grant options to the participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as incentives or rewards for their 
contribution to the growth of the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to reward, remunerate, 
compensate and/or to provide benefits to the participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The maximum number 
of shares of the Company which may be issued upon the exercise of all options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme is 13,390,000 shares of the Company representing approximately 2.57% of the issued shares of the Company 
as at the date of this report. Other details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were set out in the Prospectus.
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An aggregate of 13,390,000 share options at an exercise price of HK$1.288 per share, being 20% discount to the 
offer price of HK$1.61 under the Share Offer (as defined in the Prospectus), were granted on 7 October 2014 to three 
executive Directors, three independent non-executive Directors and certain employees and consultants of the Group.

	 Balance 				    Outstanding
Name or	 as at 	 Exercised 	 Cancelled 	 Lapsed 	 as at 
category of	 1 January 	 during 	 during 	 during 	 31 December 		  Exercisable 
participants	 2020	 the year	 the year	 the year	 2020	 Exercise price 	 period
						      (HK$)

Directors
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 1,640,000	 –	 –	 –	 1,640,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 1,300,000	 –	 –	 –	 1,300,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Ms. Lau Ka Yee	 86,000	 –	 –	 –	 86,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 500,000	 –	 –	 –	 500,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Mr. Wan Kam To	 500,000	 –	 –	 –	 500,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Mr. Szeto Wai Sun	 500,000	 –	 –	 –	 500,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Sub–total:	 4,526,000	 –	 –	 –	 4,526,000

Employees	 3,090,000	 –	 –	 –	 3,090,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Consultants	 2,002,000	 –	 –	 –	 2,002,000	 1.288	 15 January 2016 
							         to 6 October 2024

Total:	 9,618,000	 –	 –	 –	 9,618,000

Notes:

The vesting period of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)	 one-third being vested after the expiry of 12-month period from and including the 15 January 2015;

(b)	 additional one-third being vested after the expiry of 24-month period from and including 15 January 2015; and

(c)	 remaining being vested after the expiry of 36-month period from and including 15 January 2015.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme ended on 14 January 2015, being the day immediately prior to the date of the listing 
of the shares on the Stock Exchange, i.e. 15 January 2015 (the “Listing Date”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which was approved by a resolution of the then 
Shareholders passed on 23 December 2014. The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to 
full-time or part-time employees, Directors (including executive, non-executive or independent non-executive Directors) 
and any consultants or advisers (whether professional or otherwise and whether on an employment or contractual 
or honorary basis or otherwise and whether paid or unpaid), distributor, contractor, supplier, service provider, agent, 
customer and business partner of the Company and/or its subsidiary from time to time (the “Eligible Participants”) as 
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible 
means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the Eligible Participants.

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarized as follows:

1.	 The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and 
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme(s) of any member of the Group must not exceed 
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date (which shall be 50,000,000 Shares) unless 
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained, and which must not exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue 
from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is 50,000,000 
Shares, which represents 7.99% of the issued Shares as at the date of this report.

2.	 The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible 
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the 
total number of Shares in issue.

3.	 The subscription price for Shares in respect of any options granted under the Scheme shall be such price as the 
Board shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the 
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer of the option, which must be a 
business day; and (ii) the average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets 
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option.

4.	 An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be notified 
by the Board to each grantee, the expiry date of such period not to exceed 10 years from the date of the grant of 
the option.

5.	 HK$1.00 shall be paid by the grantee to the Company be way of consideration for the grant.

6.	 The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date, i.e. 23 
December 2014 (the “Adoption Date”).

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

No share option has been granted by the Company under the Scheme since the Adoption Date and up to the date of this 
report.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its associated companies a 
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire 
benefits by an acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporation.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to 
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of every person, other than a Director or chief executive of the 
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under 
section 336 of the SFO, are set out below:

				    Percentage of 
		  Long position/	 Number of 	 the Company’s 
Name of Shareholder	 Nature of interest	 Short position	 shares held 	 issued shares

Independent Assets 	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 158,750,000	 30.45%
  Management Limited
  (Note 1)

Smart Neo Holdings 	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 138,822,000	 26.62%
  Limited (Note 2)

Convoy Collateral 	 Beneficial owner	 Long position	 75,484,000	 14.48%
  Limited (Note 3)

Convoy Global Holdings 	 Interest of controlled 	 Long position	 75,484,000	 14.48%
  Limited (Note 3)	   corporation

Notes:

1.	 Independent Assets is wholly and beneficially owned by Dr. Cheung, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director. 
Therefore, Dr. Cheung is deemed to be interested in these 158,750,000 shares of the Company pursuant to the SFO.

2.	 Smart Neo is wholly and beneficially owned by Dr. Ng, an executive Director and the Co-chairman of the Board. Therefore, Dr. 
Ng is deemed to be interested in these 138,822,000 shares of the Company pursuant to the SFO.

3.	 Convoy Collateral Limited is wholly-owned by Convoy (BVI) Limited, Convoy (BVI) Limited is wholly-owned by Convoy Global 
Holdings Limited. Therefore, Convoy Global Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in these 75,484,000 shares of the 
Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under 
section 336 of the SFO as having interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 31 
December 2020.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all 
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS:
EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The following continuing connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the Company which are fully exempt 
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules:

1.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE SERVICES BY TARGET TO CONNECTED PERSONS

The Group provides insurance services to certain connected persons in the ordinary and usual course of business 
of the Group. Each of the above insurance policies is for a term of one year and on normal commercial terms. Each 
of the insurance policies was individually entered into between Target and each of the relevant connected persons.

The relevant connected persons with whom the Group has provided motor insurance services are certain Directors 
of the Group, namely Dr. Cheung, Dr. Ng, Mr. Chan, Ms. Lau, Mr. Wan, and certain former Directors namely Mr. Lai 
Bing Leung (“Mr. Lai”), Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony (“Mr. Yuen”) and / or their respective associates, being private 
companies controlled by them or their family members and a substantial shareholder, Convoy Global Holdings 
Limited.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate annual premium paid to the Group from the relevant 
connected persons were approximately HK$0.7 million (2019: HK$0.6 million).

2.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE AGENCY SERVICES BY ATLANTIC OCEAN UNDERWRITERS LIMITED

Atlantic Ocean Underwriters Limited (“Atlantic Ocean”) engages in the business of providing insurance agency 
services and is one of the Group’s agents in Hong Kong for the sale of the motor insurance policies for Target.

Atlantic Ocean’s entire issued share capital is owned as to 93.8% by Mr. Lai Yiu Kwong, a brother of Mr. Lai, a 
former executive Director. Accordingly, Atlantic Ocean is an associate of Mr. Lai, and a connected person of the 
Company during the year under the Listing Rules.

Target has entered into an agency agreement with Atlantic Ocean on 30 December 2019 (the “Atlantic Ocean 
Agreement”) for the provision of insurance agency services by Atlantic Ocean to the Group. Under the Atlantic 
Ocean Agreement, Target shall pay to Atlantic Ocean commissions in respect of general insurance policies issued 
and renewed through the agency services provided by Atlantic Ocean. The rates of the commissions payable to 
Atlantic Ocean are determined on an arm’s length basis and comparable to prevailing market rates similar to those 
payable by the Group to independent third parties.

Either Target or Atlantic Ocean may terminate the Atlantic Ocean Agreement at any time by giving to the other 
party 30 days’ notice in writing.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of commission paid to Atlantic Ocean was 
approximately HK$2.9 million (2019: HK$3.5 million).
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3.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE AGENCY SERVICES BY THE OSCAR MOTORS COMPANY LIMITED

The Oscar Motors Company Limited (“Oscar”) engages in the business of selling motorcycles and is one of the 
Group’s agents in Hong Kong for the sale of the motor insurance policies for Target.

Oscar is owned as to 93% by Mr. Lai, a former executive Director. Accordingly, Oscar is an associate of Mr. Lai, 
and a connected person of the Company during the year under the Listing Rules.

Target has entered into an agency agreement with Oscar on 3 January 2017 (the “Oscar Agency Agreement”) 
and an addendum no. 1 to amend the content of the Oscar Agreement on 6 June 2018, for the provision of 
insurance agency services by Oscar to the Group. Under the Oscar Agency Agreement, Target shall pay to Oscar 
commissions in respect of general insurance policies issued and renewed through the agency services provided by 
Oscar. The rates of the commissions payable to Oscar are determined on an arm’s length basis and comparable to 
prevailing market rates or at rates similar to those payable by the Group to independent third parties.

Either Target or Oscar may terminate the Oscar Agency Agreement at any time by giving to the other party 30 
days’ notice in writing.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of commissions paid to Oscar was approximately 
HK$1.3 million (2019: HK$1.1 million).

4.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE AGENCY SERVICES BY ABACUS ACCREDIT INSURANCE AGENCY 

LIMITED

The Abacus Accredit Insurance Agency Limited (“Abacus”) is one of the Group’s agents in Hong Kong for the sale 
of the general insurance policies for Target. Abacus is wholly-owned by Dr. Ng Chui Yiu Jennifer, spouse of Dr. 
Cheung, Chairman and an executive Director. Accordingly, Abacus is an associate of Dr. Cheung, and regarded as 
a connected person of the Company.

Target has entered into an agency agreement with Abacus on 1 April 2018 (the “Abacus Agency Agreement”) with 
effect from 20 April 2018, being the date of registration with the Insurance Agents Registration Board as Target’s 
appointed agent. Under the Abacus Agency Agreement, Target shall pay to Abacus commissions in respect of 
general insurance policies issued and renewed through the agency services provided by Abacus. The rates of the 
commissions payable to Abacus are determined on an arm’s length basis and comparable to prevailing market 
rates similar to those payable by the Group to independent third parties.

Either Target or Abacus may terminate the Abacus Agency Agreement at any time by giving to the other party 30 
days’ notice in writing.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of commissions paid to Abacus was approximately 
HK$14,000 (2019: HK$17,000).
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5.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE BROKERAGE SERVICES BY AMBER HILL INSURANCE BROKERS 

LIMITED

Amber Hill Insurance Brokers Limited (“Amber Hill Brokers”) engages in the provision of insurance brokerage 
services, and wholly-owned by Dr. Ng, co-Chairman and an executive Director. Accordingly, Amber Hill Brokers is 
regarded as a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules from 23 December 2020 upon Dr. Ng’s 
appointment on 23 December 2020.

Target and Amber Hill Brokers entered into a broker agreement (the “Amber Hill Brokers Agreement”) on 12 May 
2020. Under the Amber Hill Brokers Agreement, Amber Hill Brokers shall submit and Target shall receive and 
consider the insurance proposals to be made by Amber Hill Brokers on behalf of its clients in respect of the general 
insurance business. Target shall pay to Amber Hill Brokers commissions in respect of general insurance business 
successfully arranged by Amber Hill Brokers which are entered into by Target at the rate from 5% to 45% of the 
premium paid by the clients of Amber Hill Brokers. The rates of the commissions payable to Amber Hill Brokers are 
determined on an arm’s length basis and comparable to prevailing market rates or at rates similar to those payable 
by the Group to independent third parties.

The Amber Hill Broker Agreement may be terminated by (1) the withdrawal of Target from the territory in which 
Amber Hill Brokers is operating, or (2) either party upon 30 days’ notice in writing.

For the period from 23 to 31 December 2020, no commission was paid to Amber Hill Brokers (2019: N/A).

6.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE BROKERAGE SERVICES BY CONVOY FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

Convoy Financial Services Limited (“Convoy Services”) engages in the provision of insurance brokerage services, 
and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Convoy Global Holdings Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the 
Stock Exchange; stock code: 1019) (“Convoy Global”), a substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, 
Convoy Services is regarded as a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Target and Convoy Services entered into a broker agreement (the “Convoy Services Broker Agreement”) on 23 
May 2018. Under the Convoy Services Broker Agreement, Convoy Services shall submit and Target shall receive 
and consider the insurance proposals to be made by Convoy Services on behalf of its clients in respect of the 
general insurance business. Target shall pay to Convoy Services commissions in respect of general insurance 
business successfully arranged by Convoy Services which are entered into by Target at the rate from 15% to 50% 
of the premium paid by the clients of Convoy Services. The rates of the commissions payable to Convoy Services 
are determined on an arm’s length basis and comparable to prevailing market rates or at rates similar to those 
payable by the Group to independent third parties.

The Convoy Services Broker Agreement may be terminated by (1) the withdrawal of Target from the territory in 
which Convoy Services is operating, or (2) either party upon 30 days’ notice in writing.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of commission paid to Convoy Services was 
approximately HK$0.6 million (2019: HK$0.9 million).
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7.	 PROVISION OF INSURANCE BROKERAGE SERVICES BY CONVOY FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS LIMITED

Convoy Financial Solutions Limited (“Convoy Solutions”) engages in the provision of insurance brokerage services, 
and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Convoy Global. Accordingly, Convoy Solutions is regarded as a connected 
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Target and Convoy Solutions entered into a broker agreement (the “Convoy Solutions Broker Agreement”) on 1 
January 2020. Under the Convoy Solutions Broker Agreement, Convoy Solutions shall submit and Target shall 
receive and consider the insurance proposals to be made by Convoy Solutions on behalf of its clients in respect of 
the general insurance business. Target shall pay to Convoy Solutions commissions in respect of general insurance 
business successfully arranged by Convoy Solutions which are entered into by Target at the rate from 15% to 50% 
of the premium paid by the clients of Convoy Services. The rates of the commissions payable to Convoy Solutions 
are determined on an arm’s length basis and comparable to prevailing market rates or at rates similar to those 
payable by the Group to independent third parties.

The Convoy Solutions Broker Agreement may be terminated by (1) the withdrawal of Target from the territory in 
which Convoy Solutions is operating, or (2) either party upon 30 days’ notice in writing.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of commission paid to Convoy Solutions was 
approximately HK$0.2 million (2019: HK$0.3 million).

8.	 Investment through Amber Hill Capital Limited

During the year, the Group subscribed a currency fund through Amber Hill Capital Limited (“Amber Hill Capital”), a 
company controlled and wholly-owned by Dr. Ng, co-Chairman and an executive Director. Accordingly, Amber Hill 
Capital is regarded as a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules from 23 December 2020 upon 
Dr. Ng’s appointment on 23 December 2020.

For the period from 23 to 31 December 2020, no commission was paid to Amber Hill Capital (2019: N/A).

9.	 INSURANCE ADVISORY SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH MR. YUEN

Target Credit Limited (“Target Credit”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, has entered into on 7 January 2020 
an insurance advisory services agreement (the “Consultancy Agreement”) with Mr. Yuen, a former independent 
non-executive Director resigned on 7 January 2020. Accordingly, the transactions between Target Credit and Mr. 
Yuen constituted continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Target Credit engaged Mr. Yuen to provide and perform the requisite services in relation to the insurance business 
as designated by Target Credit for a term of twelve months from January 2020. A monthly fee of approximately 
HK$0.2 million was paid to Mr. Yuen.

The Consultancy Agreement may be terminated by (1) Target Credit, without cause and without liability, by giving 
one-month written notice of such termination, or (2) either party by giving immediate written notice of such 
termination to the other party in the event of a material breach by the other Party.

The Consultancy Agreement was terminated on 6 August 2020. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the 
aggregate amount of fees paid to Mr. Yuen was approximately HK$1.5 million (2019: N/A).
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As the applicable percentage ratios under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules for the transactions under the provision 
of insurance services pursuant to each of the Atlantic Ocean Agreement, the Oscar Agency Agreement, the Abacus 
Agency Agreement, the Amber Hill Brokers Agreement, the Convoy Services Broker Agreement, the Convoy Solutions 
Broker Agreement and the Consultancy Agreement is on an annual basis less than 5% and the respective annual total 
consideration is less than HK$3 million, by virtue of Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules, each of the above transactions 
constitute de minimis continuing connected transactions and is fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review 
and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING
Dr. Cheung, Dr. Choi Chiu Fai Stanley (“Dr. Choi”), Mr. Chiu Sun Ting (Mr. Chiu”), Mr. Lai, Independent Assets, Allied 
Connect Limited (“Allied Connect”), Generous Rich Limited (“Generous Rich”) and Champion City Holdings (“Champion 
City”) (collectively the “Covenantors”) have entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in 
favour of the Company (for the Company itself and as trustee for each of the subsidiaries of the Company from time to 
time), pursuant to which each of the Covenantors jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes and 
covenants with the Company (for the Company itself and as trustee for each of the subsidiaries of the Company from time 
to time) that during the period when the Covenantors and/or their respective associates, directly or indirectly, whether 
individually or taken together, remain as the substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company (the 
“Restricted Period”), he/it will not and will procure his/its respective associates not to directly or indirectly, either on their 
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company (whether as an investor, shareholder, 
partner, director, management, employee, consultant, agent or otherwise or whether for profit, reward or otherwise), 
engage, participate or hold any right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved or interested in any 
business carried out by the Group comprising, but without limitation to, motor insurance business and general insurance 
business, which is or may be in competition with the business of any members of the Group from time to time. Details 
of the Deed of Non-Competition are set out in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the 
Prospectus.

The Deed of Non-Competition will cease to have effect upon the earlier of the date after the listing of the shares of the 
Company on the Stock Exchange on which (i) the Covenantors cease to be, either individually or collectively with any of 
their respective associates, the substantial Shareholders of the Company; or (ii) the securities of the Company cease to 
be listed on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange recognized under the SFO.

Dr. Choi and Allied Connect ceased to be substantial shareholders of the Company since 25 June 2015, and Mr. Chiu, 
Mr. Lai, Generous Rich and Champion City ceased to be substantial shareholders of the Company since 23 December 
2020. They are all ceased to be the Covenantors with effect from the respective cessation date.

Each of Dr. Cheung and Independent Assets has provided to the Company a written confirmation in respect of his/its full 
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the written confirmation made by the Covenantors of the 
compliance by each of the Covenantors with the undertakings in the Deed of Non-Competition and have confirmed that, 
as far as they can ascertain, there is no breach of any of the undertakings in the Deed of Non-Competition given by the 
Covenantors.

As of the date of this report, the Company is not aware of any other matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings 
in the Deed of Non-Competition and there has not been any change in the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition during 
the year ended 31 December 2020.



52

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION CONTRACT
Target entered into an agreement and a supplement deed with Eastop Motors Limited (“Eastop”), an independent third 
party, on 1 April 2005 and 15 October 2014 respectively, pursuant to which the services that Eastop provides to the 
Group exclusively include, inter alia, (i) gathering feedback and handling queries from the customers about the motor 
insurance products and services provided by the Group; (ii) managing and overseeing the performance of the agents and 
the end customers of their duties under the insurance policies; (iii) providing assistance to customers in their claims; and (iv) 
providing other after-sales services.

There is no definite term for the agreement and could be terminated by Eastop or Target by not less than six-month 
notice.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not enter into any contract by which a person undertakes the management and 
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND REINSURERS
During 2020, the percentage of gross premium written attributable to the largest customer and the five largest customers 
of the Group is 2.14% and 7.67% respectively.

During 2020, the largest reinsurer and the five largest reinsurers of the Group accounted for approximately 56.72% and 
86.87% of the total reinsurer’s portion of loss of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% 
of the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in the customers or reinsurers noted above.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 
2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 December 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance 
with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December 2020 were to review 
and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit 
Committee currently comprises five independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wan Kam To (as chairman), Mr. 
Wong Shiu Hoi Peter, Mr. Anthony Espina, Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng. The Audit Committee 
has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages 54 to 66 of the 
2020 Annual Report.
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AUDITOR
There was no change in auditor during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited, 
whose term of appointment shall expire at the conclusion of the 2021 AGM. A resolution will be submitted to the 2021 
AGM for the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the Company.

	 On behalf of the Board
	 Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited
	 Cheung Haywood
	 Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity, 
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules 
as its own code of corporate governance. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has complied with the 
relevant provisions of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions as set out in the Model Code 
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed 
that they have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 
2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic 
decisions and performance. The management was delegated the authority and responsibility by the Board for the 
management of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board Committees. 
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of fourteen Directors including nine executive Directors and five 
independent non-executive Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. CHEUNG Haywood (Chairman)
Dr. Ng Yu (Co-Chairman)
Mr. MUK Wang Lit Jimmy (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHAN Hok Ching
Ms. LAU Ka Yee
Mr. WEI Weicheng
Mr. LIN Feng
Mr. DAI Chengyan
Mr. RUI Yuanqing

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. WAN Kam To
Mr. WONG Shiu Hoi Peter
Mr. Anthony ESPINA
Mr. LEUNG Ho Yin Alexander
Dr. WANG Jun Sheng

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. Such 
balanced board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across the Board and has met the 
requirements of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third of its members comprising 
independent non-executive Directors. The biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 17 to 23 under 
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.
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The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial 
performance and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the 
implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating performance, the implementation of 
internal controls procedures, and the compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and regulations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The two positions are held by two individuals to ensure their respective independence, accountability and responsibility. 
The Chairman, being Dr. Cheung, is in-charge of the leadership of the Board and strategies planning of the Group. The 
Chief Executive Officer, being Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy, is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s 
business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The five independent non-executive Directors are persons of high caliber, with academic and professional qualifications 
in the fields of accounting, legal and investment. With their experience gained from various sectors, they provide strong 
support towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each independent non-executive 
Director has given an annual confirmation of his independence to the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, 
and the Company considers each of them was independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

(1) Mr. Wan Kam To and Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter were appointed for a term of two years commencing on 15 January 
2019; (2) Mr. Anthony Espina was appointed for a term of three years commencing on 1 May 2020; and (3) Mr. Leung Ho 
Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng were appointed for a term of three years commencing on 23 December 2020. All 
of them are subject to retirement in accordance with the Articles and the CG Code.

The term of appointment of Mr. Wan Kam To and Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter were renewed for a further term of three years 
commencing from 15 January 2021.

BOARD MEETINGS
During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held six meetings. All Directors were given an opportunity 
to include any matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and were also given sufficient time to review documents 
and information relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.

Name of Director	 Number of attendance

Dr. Cheung Haywood	 6/6
Dr. Ng Yu (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 6/6
Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 6/6
Ms. Lau Ka Yee	 6/6
Mr. Wei Weicheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Lin Feng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Dai Chengyan (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Rui Yuanqing (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Wan Kam To	 6/6
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 6/6
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)	 5/6
Mr. Anthony Espina (Note 2)	 3/3
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 1)	 N/A
Dr. Wang Jun Sheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Lai Bing Leung (Note 3)	 6/6
Mr. Chiu Sun Ting (Note 3)	 6/6
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (Note 4)	 N/A
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Notes:

1.	 Each of Dr. Ng Yu, Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng, Mr. Dai Chengyan and Mr. Rui Yuanqing has been appointed as an 
executive Director; and each of Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng has been appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director, all with effect from 23 December 2020. No Board meeting was held after their appointment.

2.	 Mr. Anthony Espina has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 May 2020. His attendance 
above was stated by reference to the number of Board meetings held after his appointment.

3.	 Each of Mr. Lai Bing Leung and Mr. Chiu Sun Ting resigned as an executive Director with effect from 23 December 2020. Each 
of their attendance above was stated by reference to the number of Board meetings held during their tenure.

4.	 Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 January 2020. No Board 
meeting was held during his tenure.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is 
entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and services of 
the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

GENERAL MEETING
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company was held on 26 May 2020.

Name of Director	 Number of attendance

Dr. Cheung Haywood	 1/1
Dr. Ng Yu (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 1/1
Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 1/1
Ms. Lau Ka Yee	 1/1
Mr. Wei Weicheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Lin Feng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Dai Chengyan (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Rui Yuanqing (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Wan Kam To	 1/1
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 1/1
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)	 1/1
Mr. Anthony Espina (Note 2)	 1/1
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 1)	 N/A
Dr. Wang Jun Sheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Lai Bing Leung (Note 3)	 1/1
Mr. Chiu Sun Ting (Note 3)	 1/1
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (Note 4)	 N/A
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Notes:

1.	 Each of Dr. Ng Yu, Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng, Mr. Dai Chengyan and Mr. Rui Yuanqing has been appointed as an 
executive Director; and each of Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng has been appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director, all with effect from 23 December 2020. No general meeting was held after their appointment.

2.	 Mr. Anthony Espina has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 May 2020. The general 
meeting was held after his appointment.

3.	 Each of Mr. Lai Bing Leung and Mr. Chiu Sun Ting resigned as an executive Director with effect from 23 December 2020. The 
general meeting was held during their tenure.

4.	 Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 January 2020. No general 
meeting was held during his tenure.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, uses annual general 
meeting or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their participation.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains 
informed and relevant.

All Directors (excluded the newly Directors who appointed on 23 December 2020) have participated in continuous 
professional development by way of receiving in-house briefing, taking part in business-related training/activities and 
attending seminars relating to their role as a Director of the Company, if applicable. Apart from the newly appointed 
Directors on 23 December 2020 who have received their first training on 20 January 2021, each of the Directors has 
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

	 Attending or participating in 
	 seminars/workshops or working in 
	 technical committee relevant to the 
Name of Director	 Group’s business/Directors’ duties

Dr. Cheung Haywood	 √
Dr. Ng Yu (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 √
Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 √
Ms. Lau Ka Yee	 √
Mr. Lin Feng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Wei Weicheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Dai Chengyan (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Rui Yuanqing (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Wan Kam To	 √
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 √
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)	 √
Mr. Anthony Espina	 √
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 1)	 N/A
Dr. Wang Jun Sheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Lai Bing Leung (Note 2)	 √
Mr. Chiu Sun Ting (Note 2)	 √
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (Note 3)	 N/A
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Notes:

1.	 Each of Dr. Ng Yu, Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng, Mr. Dai Chengyan and Mr. Rui Yuanqing has been appointed as an 
executive Director; and each of Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng has been appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director, all with effect from 23 December 2020.

2.	 Each of Mr. Lai Bing Leung and Mr. Chiu Sun Ting resigned as an executive Director with effect from 23 December 2020.

3.	 Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 January 2020.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will take into account the qualification, ability, working 
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the insurance industry and/ 
or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference aligned with the code provisions set 
out in the CG Code, on 23 December 2014. The terms of reference was revised on 20 December 2018. The Nomination 
Committee currently consists of two executive Directors, namely Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy and Mr. Wei Weicheng and 
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Anthony Espina (as committee chairman), Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi 
Peter and Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the 
Company’s website.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review the composition of the Board, including its 
structure, size and diversity at least annually to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate 
to the requirements of the business of the Group. It is also responsible to consider and recommend to the Board 
suitably qualified persons to become a member of the Board, monitor the succession planning of Directors and assess 
the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee will also give consideration to 
the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) when identifying suitable qualified candidates to become members of the 
Board, and the Board will review the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below), so as to develop and review measurable 
objectives for implementing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) and to monitor the progress on achieving these 
objectives.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 24 March 2015 and delegated certain duties 
under the Board Diversity Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through 
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration 
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, there should be a formal, 
considered and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in 
place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a 
new Director (to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors 
is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.
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The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time 
and attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective carrying out 
by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as follows:

(a)	 participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance, 
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)	 taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c)	 serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee (in the case of 
candidate for non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

(d)	 bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which 
he or she serves the benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity 
through attendance and participation in the Board/committee meetings;

(e)	 scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the 
reporting of performance;

(f)	 ensuring the committees on which he or she serves to perform their powers and functions conferred on them by 
the Board; and

(g)	 conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or 
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where 
appropriate. If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director (“INED”), his 
or her independence shall be assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. 
Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated 
to consider whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise for filling the office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.

Name of Director	 Number of attendance

Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (committee chairman and resigned with effect from 1 January 2021 )	 1/1
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 1/1
Mr. Wei Weicheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 1/1
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 2)	 N/A

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Wei Weicheng has been appointed as an executive Director and a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from  
23 December 2020. No Nomination Committee meeting was held after his appointment.

2.	 Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination 
Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Nomination Committee meeting was held after his appointment.
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In addition to the Nomination Committee meeting, the Nomination Committee also dealt with the matters by way of 
written resolutions during the year ended 31 December 2020.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December 2020 is listed 
below:

–	 reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;

–	 assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director; and

–	 made recommendation of new Director candidates for the Board’s approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Remuneration Committee, with written terms of reference aligned with the code provisions 
set out in the CG Code, on 23 December 2014. The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three executive 
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Hok Ching, Mr. Wei Weicheng and Mr. Rui Yuanqing and four independent non-executive 
Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter (as committee chairman), Mr. Anthony Espina, Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander 
and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and 
the Company’s website.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are establishing and reviewing the policy and structure of the remuneration 
for the Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings.

Name of Director	 Number of attendance

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter (committee chairman)	 2/2
Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 2/2
Mr. Wei Weicheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Rui Yuanqing (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)	 2/2
Mr. Anthony Espina (Note 2)	 N/A
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 3)	 N/A
Dr. Wang Jun Sheng (Note 3)	 N/A

Notes:

1.	 Each of Mr. Wei Weicheng and Mr. Rui Yuanqing has been appointed as an executive Director and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Remuneration Committee meeting was held after their 
appointment.

2.	 Mr. Anthony Espina has been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No 
Remuneration Committee meeting was held after his appointment.

3.	 Each of Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Remuneration Committee meeting was 
held after their appointment.
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In addition to the Remuneration Committee meetings, the Remuneration Committee also dealt with the matters by way of 
written resolutions during the year ended 31 December 2020.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December 2020 is listed 
below:

–	 reviewed and considered the staff incentive for first half of 2020 and made recommendation to the Board;

–	 reviewed the salary adjustment for 2021 and bonus proposal of the Directors and employees for the year ended 31 
December 2020;

–	 reviewed the amendment to the remuneration policy of the Group; and

–	 considered and made recommendation to the Board the remuneration package for the proposed Directors.

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Scheme on 30 September 2014 and 23 
December 2014 respectively. The purpose of the two schemes is to enable the Board to grant options to selected eligible 
participants to motivate them and to optimize their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group. Details of the 
two schemes are set out in the Directors’ Report. The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective 
contractual terms under employment contracts, if any, and as recommended by the Remuneration Committee. Details of 
the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 10 the consolidated financial statements.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under employment contracts 
or service contracts, if any, and will be fixed by the Board with recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the 
performance of the Group and the prevailing marketing conditions. Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s 
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in notes 10 and 11, respectively, to the consolidated 
financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 December 2014, with written terms of reference aligned with the 
code provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of reference was revised on 31 December 2015 and was further 
revised on 25 March 2019. The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises five independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Mr. Wan Kam To (as committee chairman), Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter, Mr. Anthony Espina, Mr. Leung Ho 
Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, 
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the interim and annual reports and financial 
statements of the Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the 
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditors at least twice a year to discuss any area of concern during the audits or 
review. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee 
focuses not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with 
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim and annual 
report. The Audit Committee noted the existing internal control policies of the Group and also noted that review of the 
same will be carried out and anticipate there may have further improvement to the said policies.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee held three meetings and reviewed, among 
others, the 2019 annual results and 2020 interim results of the Group as well as the internal control review report.

Name of Director	 Number of attendance

Mr. Wan Kam To (committee chairman)	 3/3
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 3/3
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)	 3/3
Mr. Anthony Espina (Note 1)	 2/2
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 2)	 N/A
Dr. Wang Jun Sheng (Note 2)	 N/A
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (Note 3)	 N/A

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Anthony Espina has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee with 
effect from 1 May 2020. His attendance above was stated by reference to the number of Audit Committee meetings held after 
his appointment.

2.	 Each of Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Audit Committee meeting was held after their 
appointment.

3.	 Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 January 2020 and ceased to be 
a member of the Audit Committee on the same date. No Audit Committee meeting was held during his tenure.

RISK COMMITTEE
The Company established the Risk Committee on 23 December 2014, with written terms of reference aligned with the 
code provisions set out in the CG Code and Guideline on Corporate Governance issued by IA. The terms of reference 
was revised on 11 December 2019. The primary duties of the Risk Committee are (i) to advise the risk profile, risk appetite 
and risk management strategy of the Group; (ii) to consider, review and approve risk management policies and guidelines; 
and (iii) to decide on risk levels and related resources allocation. The Risk Committee will also be responsible for advising 
further enhancement on risk management framework in preparation for the requirements under the risk-based capital 
framework (including the appointment of a chief risk officer).

The Risk Committee is also responsible for the oversight of internal control (other than financial control and reporting 
system) and risk management systems of the Company.

The Risk Committee currently comprises six executive Directors, namely Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy, Mr. Chan Hok Ching, 
Ms. Lau Ka Yee, Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng and Mr. Rui Yuanqing and three independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter (as committee chairman), Mr. Anthony Espina and Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Risk Committee held three meetings and reviewed (i) the interim 
and annual risk assessment of the Company, (ii) the financial impact of proposed salary adjustment and (iii) the updated 
risk management policy.

Name of Director	 Number of attendance

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi Peter (committee chairman)	 3/3
Mr. Muk Wang Lit Jimmy	 3/3
Mr. Chan Hok Ching	 2/3
Ms. Lau Ka Yee	 3/3
Mr. Wei Weicheng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Lin Feng (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Rui Yuanqing (Note 1)	 N/A
Mr. Szeto Wai Sun (resigned with effect from 1 January 2021)	 3/3
Mr. Anthony Espina (Note 2)	 N/A
Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander (Note 3)	 N/A
Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony MH, JP (Note 4)	 N/A

Notes:

1.	 Each of Mr. Wei Weicheng, Mr. Lin Feng and Mr. Rui Yuanqing has been appointed as an executive Director and a member of 
the Risk Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Risk Committee meeting was held after their appointment.

2.	 Mr. Anthony Espina has been appointed as a member of the Risk Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Risk 
Committee meeting was held after his appointment.

3.	 Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Risk 
Committee with effect from 23 December 2020. No Risk Committee meeting was held after his appointment.

4.	 Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 January 2020 and ceased as a 
member of the Risk Committee on the same date. No Risk Committee meeting was held during his tenure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The corporate governance functions were performed by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG 
Code.

The corporate governance functions are to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 
governance to comply with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory requirements and make recommendations to the 
Board, to oversee the Company’s orientation program for new Director, to review and monitor the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior management, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct 
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors, and to review the Company’s disclosure in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 
governance.



64

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Mazars CPA Limited 
(“Mazars”), is set out below:

	 Fee paid/payable
	 HK$’000

Services Rendered
– Audit services (Note 1)	 940
– Non-audit services (Note 2)	 260

Total	 1,200

Notes:

1.	 The audit services provided by Mazars include the audit of the financial statements of Target for the six months ended 30 June 
2020 and the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

2.	 The non-audit services provided by Mazars include the review of the interim financial information of the Group for the six months 
ended 30 June 2020, tax services, report on the continuing connected transactions of the Company for the year ended 31 
December 2020 and other related services.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited 
(“Uni-1”), to provide compliance and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group 
to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different commercial needs.

Mr. Tse Kam Fai (“Mr. Tse”), the representative of Uni-1, was appointed as the named Company Secretary of the 
Company.

Ms. Lau Ka Yee, an executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the primary point of contact at 
the Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Tse has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communications between the Shareholders and the 
Board. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by 
the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called a general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE A GENERAL MEETING
Shareholders may convene a general meeting of the Company according to the provisions as set out in the Articles 
and the Companies Ordinance. The procedures Shareholders can use to convene a general meeting are set out in the 
document entitled “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director”, which is currently 
available on the Company’s website.
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PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE BOARD
To ensure effective communications between the Board and the Shareholders and the investment community at large, the 
Company has adopted a set of Shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”) on 24 March 2015. Under the Policy, 
the Company’s information shall be communicated to the Shareholders and the investment community mainly through the 
Company’s financial reports (interim reports and annual reports), and its corporate communications and other corporate 
publications on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders and the investment community 
may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such information is publicly available. Any 
such questions shall be directed to the Board at the Company’s registered office or by email at investorrelations@6161.
com.hk.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT GENERAL 
MEETING
The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a proposal at a general meeting shall be any 
number of members holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company having a right to 
vote at general meeting of the Company may send a written requisition to the Board to convene a general meeting.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be deposited at the Company’s registered office in the 
case of:

(i)	 a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks before the meeting; and

(ii)	 any other requisition, not less than seven days before the meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will 
proceed with the necessary procedures.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no change in the Articles.

The existing Articles are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

VOTING BY POLL
Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except 
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative 
matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions set out in the notice of the 2021 AGM will be voted 
by poll.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Board recognizes the importance of good communications with all Shareholders. The Company’s annual general 
meeting is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board 
as well as the chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and 
the Risk Committee together with the external auditor are present to answer Shareholders’ questions. The annual report 
together with annual general meeting circular is distributed to all the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before 
the annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial 
year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the results and cash flows 
of the Group for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the 
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; made judgments and estimates that are 
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit Committee and Risk Committee. The Audit 
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational, 
compliance, risk management and internal controls (financial control and reporting system), and the resourcing of the 
finance and internal audit functions.

The Risk Committee oversees the senior management’s activities in managing the key risk areas of the Group. The Group 
has established internal controls (other than financial control and reporting system) to manage risk in the key areas of 
exposure relevant to its business and the Risk Committee has a risk management framework to identify significant areas 
of business risk and to effectively and expeditiously manage those risks. The Board has adopted the Risk Management 
Policy which covers the Group’s risk appetite and risk management framework at strategic and operation levels in 
identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling risks including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk, market risk, insurance risk, operational risk, compliance risk and cyber risk. Systems are designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that the assets of the Group are safeguarded, insurance risk exposure is within desired 
limits, reinsurance protections are adequate and counter-parties are subject to security assessment.

The scope of internal controls covers not only financial controls but also operational and compliance controls as well 
as risk management. The system is intended to provide reasonable assurance, but not an absolute guarantee, against 
material financial misstatement or loss.
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SCOPE AND PERIOD OF REPORTING
Environment, Social and Governance (“ESG”) is viewed as a business philosophy that creates sustainable value for 
shareholders by embracing opportunities and managing risks deriving from economic, environmental and social 
developments. Policies set out in this report define our long-term approach to specific issues in the three cornerstones: 
Environment, Workplace and Community, which are instrumental in enabling our business to operate in a sustainable 
manner. Within each cornerstone, core principles and pragmatic objectives provide guidance on practicing ESG in our 
daily operations. This report covers a reporting period from 1 January to 31 December 2020. Disclosures are made, 
primarily based on materiality reporting principle and guided by the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 
Guide (Appendix 27) of the Listing Rules, to inform shareholders and stakeholders of the Group’s ESG performance.

ESG GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for ESG matters to the risk management function. Specific 
responsibilities in relation to the ESG Policy include:

Individual or group	 Responsibilities

Board of Directors	 •	 Approve the ESG Policy
	 •	 Identify and evaluate material ESG issues
	 •	 Review process achieving the ESG approach and material ESG issues 

at least annually
	 •	 Ensure the ESG Policy is reviewed annually

Risk Management Function	 •	 Provide oversight of the implementation of the ESG approach and 
progress of material ESG issues

HR and Administration Department	 •	 Implement the ESG approach
	 •	 Manage material ESG issues
	 •	 Report on the implementation of the ESG approach

All employees	 •	 Be aware of the ESG Policy and approach
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Stakeholders Participation
To maintain good relationship with stakeholders is of fundamental importance in the Group’s long-term development, 
our Group is dedicated to manage a diverse of communication channels with stakeholders to gather feedbacks and 
suggestions effectively, including shareholders, customers, suppliers, government and regulators, public, society and 
environment and employees.

Stakeholders Stakeholder’s Expectations
Communication Means and 
Responses

Shareholders –	 Comprehensive and transparent 
corporate governance

–	 Implementation of effective risk 
management policy

–	 Stable growth of business and 
considerable dividend distribution

–	 Annual General Meeting
–	 Corporate Communications 

including announcements, 
circulars, interim and annual reports

–	 Investor Relations Website  
http://www.targetinsholdings.com 
to release updates of our Group

Customers –	 Convenient and high-quality 
customer services

–	 Diversified insurance products
–	 Simple and efficient underwriting 

and claims procedures
–	 Personal information and privacy 

protection

–	 Target’s website  
www.6161.com.hk

–	 Online insurance platform for 
products promotion and policies 
issuance

–	 Customer service hotline  
2926 2926

–	 Social media platform, such as 
Facebook

–	 Instant messaging applications, 
including WeChat and Whatsapp

–	 Implementation of Personal Data 
(Privacy) Policy

Suppliers –	 Smooth business strategy to 
achieve a win-win situation

–	 Regular supplier communications 
and review

Government and Regulators –	 To monitor the company’s holistic 
management strategy and 
financial sustainability

–	 To protect the investors and 
public

–	 Statutory reports to IA
–	 Financial Disclosure and relevant 

reports to the Stock Exchange
–	 Regular meetings and 

communications
–	 Industry federation and focus 

groups
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Stakeholders Stakeholder’s Expectations
Communication Means and 
Responses

Public and Community –	 To serve the community and 
support the needs

–	 To protect the environment

–	 Social voluntary activities 
participation

–	 Sponsorship and donations
–	 Energy and resources guidelines in 

office

Employees –	 To improve personal career 
development

–	 To work in a safe and comfortable 
environment

–	 To build up harmonious 
relationship with colleagues and 
management

–	 Training sessions and seminars
–	 Annual performance review – 

Appraisal
–	 Staff communications
–	 Volunteer and sports activities
–	 Occupational health and safety 

guideline

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
Materiality is determined by considering the critical ESG factors enabling our Group’s success, significant ESG risks to our 
Group and main ESG topics raised our stakeholder’s concerns.

Based on the results of the assessment, ESG issues identified as relevant and crucial for disclosure are discussed below:

ENVIRONMENT
Policy
Care for the environment by minimizing the environmental impact concerning our activities, as well as products and 
services engaged. Going beyond the compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on 
the Company and other requirements to which the Company subscribes, we aspire to prevent pollution, reduce waste, 
increase recycling and minimize natural resource use by continually improving our environmental management practices 
and measures, educating our employees to adopt environmentally responsible behavior, and promoting environmental 
protection through the influence of both suppliers and customers.

Energy Efficiency
We have developed and implemented a number of internal environmental guidelines to improve our environmental 
performance. Our office installed automatic lighting control with motion sensors and energy saving fluorescent tubes. As a 
responsible employer, we provide training and resources to enhance our staff’s environmental consciousness, for the sake 
of ourselves and more importantly, our next generation. For example, we have been stressing to our staff the importance 
of energy and resources conservation. Switch off some air-conditioners to reduce the consumption of electricity during 
days of low temperature. Our air-con usage guidelines also specify that we have to maintain an average door temperature 
between 24-25 degree Celsius during months between June and September.

For the use of printer cartridge, we recycled all cartridges or used refillable cartridges for the printers. We also purchased 
three multi-functional printers (all-in-one devices with the function of copying, printing and facsimile) in our office which are 
more energy efficient.
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As a result, our energy consumption reduced by 0.3% 74,164 kWh in 2020 (2019: 74,402 kWh). Our internal 
environmental guidelines helped to maintain the energy consumption per office area at 4 kWh/ft2 (2019:  
4 kWh/ft2). We were awarded Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme by World Green Organization for eight consecutive 
years. This award was a great recognition to our effort on environmental protection.

WASTE REDUCTION AND RECYCLING
Our Group proactively advocates the use of electronic platforms in daily operation to reduce the consumption on papers. 
We develop a comprehensive company platform (www.6161.com.hk) to promote our company and products. This 
platform allows our customers to purchase motor, travel and home insurance online. The insurance policies/cover notes 
will be sent to our customers’ e-mail accounts immediately. In 2020, more than 10,200 motor cover notes and 660 
travel/home insurance policies were issued via our website to customers which effectively reduced the use of paper. 
Moreover, we use paper products certified by PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification) which is an 
international non-profit organization to promote Sustainable Forest Management. We also set up paper recycling bins in 
our office to encourage our staff to recycle the used paper rather than throwing them into bins directly. To promote the 
message of “Green Lifestyle”, we installed eco-friendly water dispenser to encourage our employees to reduce the use of 
bottled water. We also donated 27 personal computers and 115 boxes of toners to Caritas in 2020, and the refurbished 
computers will be deployed to the deprived people or non-profit making organizations for educational or social purposes. 
The unusable computers and parts will also be dismantled in an environmentally-friendly method to avoid producing 
electronic waste harmful to the environment.

Environmental Performance	 2020	 2019

Paper
Paper purchases
Total paper used (kg)(1)	 Immaterial	 Immaterial

Total energy consumption
Total electricity consumption (kWh)	 74,164	 74,402

Energy intensity
By floor area (kWh/ft2)	 4	 4
By number of employees (kWh/person)	 82	 83

Greenhouse Gas GHG emissions
Direct emissions (Scope 1) (tonnes)	 –	 –
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) (tonnes)	 42	 42
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) (tonnes)(1)	 Immaterial	 Immaterial

Water
Total Water consumption (cubic metres)(1)	 Immaterial	 Immaterial

Note:

(1)	 Since our Group does not have manufacturing operations, the resources consumption have immaterial impact to the 
environment.
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RESOURCES CONSUMPTION
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CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS
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WORKPLACE
POLICY
Foster a supportive and quality working environment by upholding employment practices that treat employees fairly and 
equally, safeguarding employee rights and interests, providing opportunities for training and development, ensuring a 
healthy and safe workplace, and facilitating meaningful communication within our Group.
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EMPLOYMENT
Our Group is committed to provide a working environment in which employees are able to realize their full potential and 
contribute to its business. Our Group’s policies and procedures in force which are applicable to both full-time and part-
time employees in the employment of our Group are documented in the Employee Manual. The Employee Manual is 
circulated internally to ensure that all employees understand their rights and duties. Any terms and conditions not covered 
in the Employee Manual shall be governed by the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) in Hong Kong, other applicable 
ordinances and the employment contract of the employees. As of 31 December 2020, our Group had a total headcount 
of 75 full-time employees and 3 part-time employees, an 8.3% increase in headcount comparing to the previous year (2019: 
70 full-time employees and 2 part-time employees). Our gender mix is 47% male and 53% female (2019: 46% male and 
54% female). All employees are located in Hong Kong.
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Staff attraction and retention has been one of the major priorities as the competition for the talent grows. All employees 
are entitled to discretionary annual bonus, medical insurance, dental benefits, group personal accident insurance and so 
forth. Our Group regularly reviews our remuneration and packages and employee benefits to ensure they are in line with 
the market trends. Our Group encourages work-life balance and provides equal employment opportunities. However, 
in the process of identifying suitable talents to accommodate our changing business needs, our Group’s turnover rate 
decreased to 6.0% (2019: 19.4%).

2020

Male Female Age 18-30 Age 31-40 Age 41-50
Age 50  
above Turnover rate

3 2 0 1 1 3 6.0%

2019

Male Female Age 18-30 Age 31-40 Age 41-50
Age 50  
above Turnover rate

8 6 5 3 3 3 19.4%

HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Group provides a safe and healthy workplace for its employees in compliance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) in Hong Kong. Safety is to be given primary importance in every aspect of planning and 
performing all activities.

The Group provides suitable equipment to prevent workplace accident arising from manual handling operation and use of 
display screen equipment. The Group also installs facilities in the office to prevent fire and maintain workplace hygiene.

Any potential health or safety hazards and all injuries or accidents should be reported to senior management immediately.
Our Group also takes a pro-active approach on handling employees’ compensation cases to speed up injured staff’s 
recovery and accommodate seamless return-to-work.

We were awarded Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling Scheme by World Green Organization in 2020.

Occupational health and safety performance	 2020	 2019

Work-related mortality	 –	 –
Work-related injuries (over three days)	 –	 –
Work-related injuries (within three days)	 –	 –
Loss of working days due to work-related injuries	 –	 –
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Development and training
The Employee Manual contains our policy on training and development. We encourage individuals to manage their 
own development, with support from their managers, to the benefit of the individual and the Company. Our Group 
also provides educational subsidies and membership/licensing sponsorship in support of our employees’ career and 
professional development.
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Labour standards
Recruitment are conducted by our Group’s Human Resources Department according to the Employment Ordinance in 
Hong Kong. Personal data collected during recruitment are only used for such purpose. Further, employees’ background 
information is verified in details to ensure that no forced or child labour.

Supply chain management
Our Group’s procurement process and procedures are set out in our expenditure policy. Authorization for all vendor 
management and selection, purchase requisition, purchase contract, purchase order and receipt, entertainment and 
travelling, and payment or reimbursement process must be obtained in advance. Vendor performance evaluation is 
performed annually.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
1.	CUSTOMER  OPINIONS/COMPLAINTS

Our Group is committed to achieve and maintain reputation by delivery the highest standards of customer service 
to our valued customers. Target has adopted complaints handling policy on 22 March 2016 and updated the same 
on 11 December 2019 to ensure our customers’ complaints are resolved in an effective and efficient manner. We 
received 5 complaints in 2020 (2019: 7) and all complaints (2019: 3) have been resolved. Our customers are our 
most important assets.

2.	LA WS AND REGULATIONS

The Company together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in insurance business in Hong Kong, the 
companies within the Group are subject to various laws and regulations including Companies Ordinance (Cap. 
622), Business Registration Ordinance (Cap. 310), Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112), Employment Ordinance 
(Cap. 57), Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) and Trademark Ordinance (Cap. 559). Our Group has put in place 
internal controls and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance of the same and to maintain cordial working 
relationships with regulators through effective communication.

During 2020, our Group has obtained all the approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations required for 
our insurance business and operations and all of them are in force.

3.	 PRIVACY OF PERSONAL DATA

Our Group develops its policies and procedures for the protection of personal data in compliance with the Personal 
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486). Our Group is committed to fully enforce and observe the principles of data 
protection.

Target’s personal information collection statement is made available on its website. Target has also adopted a 
cybersecurity policy on 22 August 2016 to inform our employees and contractors (the “Users”) on time to protect 
and identify threats to our technology and information assets (including consumer data). It also describes the 
User’s responsibilities and privileges and the procedures in response to incidents that threaten the security of our 
customer data and our computer systems.

ANTI-CORRUPTION
The Employee Manual also contains our also anti-corruption policy. We have embedded within our business anticorruption 
and bribery procedures and controls to avoid any violations of relevant laws and regulations. We have zero tolerance 
against bribery and corruption. In 2020, the Group organized an anti-corruption and ethics training with independent 
Commission Against Corruption for our employees to raise their awareness against corruption temptations in daily work.

The Company has adopted a set of whistleblowing policy on 20 March 2015. The Company establishes a whistleblowing 
policy and system for employees and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible 
improprieties in any matter related to the Company and delegates such responsibilities the Audit Committee of the 
Company.

COMMUNITY
POLICIES
Help to build a sustainable community by supporting local initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits to the 
community through corporate philanthropy, establishing community partnerships, and mobilizing our employees to 
participate in volunteer work.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
The list of CSR activities we have participated is stated under “Corporate Profile” section. The Group focuses on 
contributions to education, health and environment and the breakdown of the donations and sponsorships were as 
follows:

1.	donations
	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019	 % Change
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Education	 20	 –	 100.0%
Sports	 –	 20	 (100.0%)
Health/Environment	 3	 31	 (90.3%)

	 23	 51	 (54.9%)

2.	 Sponsorships
	 For the year ended 31 December

	 2020	 2019	 % Change
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Education	 100	 2	 4,900%
Health/Environment	 77	 37	 108.1%
Community	 37	 32	 15.6%
Culture	 –	 20	 (100.0%)
Sports	 –	 11	 (100.0%)

	 214	 102	 109.0%
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The Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Index	 Page Number

A.	 Environmental

	 Emissions
	 General Disclosure	 Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 	 Page 69
		    have a significant impact on the issuer (air and greenhouse gas 
		    emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation 
		    of hazardous and non-hazardous waste)

	 KPI A1.1	 The types of emissions and respective emission data	 Not applicable(1)

	 KPI A1.2	 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity	 Pages 70 to 71

	 KPI A1.3	 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity	 Not applicable(1)

	 KPI A1.4	 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity	 Not applicable(1)

	 KPI A1.5	 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved	 Pages 69 to 71

	 KPI A1.6	 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 	 Not applicable(1)

		    are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

	 Use of Resources
	 General Disclosure	 Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 	 Pages 69 to 71
		    water and other raw materials

	 KPI A2.1	 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type	 Pages 70 to 71
		    (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity

	 KPI A2.2	 Water consumption in total and intensity	 Not applicable(2)

	 KPI A2.3	 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved	 Pages 69 to 71

	 KPI A2.4	 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit 	 Not applicable(2)

		    for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

	 KPI A2.5	 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, 
		    if applicable, with reference to per unit produced	 Not applicable(3)

	 The Environment and Natural Resources
	 General Disclosure	 Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the 	 Pages 69 to 71
		    environment and natural resources

	 KPI A3.1	 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 	 Pages 69 to 71
		    environment and natural resources and the actions taken 
		    to manage them

Notes:

(1)	 Our Group does not have manufacturing operations, there is no other emissions (except greenhouse gas) and hazardous/non-
hazardous wastes.

(2)	 Our office does not have direct water consumption.

(3)	 Our Group does not use packaging materials for our insurance policies.
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The Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Index	 Page Number

B.	 Social

	 Employment
	 General Disclosure	 Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 	 Pages 71 to 73
		    have a significant impact on the issuer (compensation and 
		    dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, 
		    rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, 
		    and other benefits and welfare)

	 KPI B1.1	 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 	 Page 72
		    geographical region

	 KPI B1.2	 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region	 Pages 72 to 73

	 Health and Safety
	 General Disclosure	 Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 	 Page 73
		    have a significant impact on the issuer (providing a safe working 
		    environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards)

	 KPI B2.1	 Number and rate of work-related fatalities	 Page 73

	 KPI B2.2	 Lost days due to work injury	 Page 73

	 KPI B2.3	 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, 	 Page 73
		    how they are implemented and monitored

	 Development and Training
	 General disclosure	 Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 	 Page 74
		    discharging duties at work. (Description of training activities)

	 KPI B3.1	 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 	 Page 74
		    category (e.g. senior management, middle management)

	 KPI B3.2	 The average training hours completed per employee by gender 	 Page 74
		    and employee category

	 Labour Standards
	 General disclosure	 Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 	 Page 74
		    have a significant impact on the issuer (preventing child and 
		    forced labour)

	 KPI B4.1	 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid 	 Page 74
		  child and forced labour

	 KPI B4.2	 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered	 Page 74
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The Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Index	 Page Number

B.	 Social

	 Supply Chain Management
	 General Disclosure	 Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain	 Page 74

	 KPI B5.1	 Number of suppliers by geographical region	 Not applicable(4)

	 KPI B5.2	 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 	 Page 74
		    number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, 
		    how they are implemented and monitored

	 Product Responsibility
	 General Disclosure	 Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 	 Page 75
		    have a significant impact on the issuer (health and safety, 
		    advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products 
		    and services provided and methods of redress)

	 KPI B6.1	 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 	 Not applicable(5)

		    safety and health reasons

	 KPI B6.2	 Number of products and service related complaints received and 	 Page 75
		    how they are dealt with

	 KPI B6.3	 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 	 Page 75
		    intellectual property rights

	 KPI B6.4	 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures	 Not applicable(5)

	 KPI B6.5	 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 	 Page 75
		    how they are implemented and monitored

	 Anti-corruption
	 General Disclosure	 Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 	 Page 75
		    have a significant impact on the issuer (bribery, extortion, 
		    fraud and money laundering)

	 KPI B7.1	 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 	 2020: None
		    brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting 	 2019: None
		    period and the outcomes of the cases

	 KPI B7.2	 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 	 Page 75
		    how they are implemented and monitored

C.	 Community Investment

	 General Disclosure	 Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of 	 Page 75
		    the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its 
		    activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

	 KPI B8.1	 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, 	 Pages 3 to 4
		    labour needs, health, culture, sport).	   and 76

	 KPI B8.2	 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.	 Page 76

Note:

(4)	 Our Group does not have manufacturing operations, there is limited expense on supply chain management.

(5)	 Our Group does not have manufacturing operations, there is no issue on product recalls.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of 
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited 
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 86 to 154, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2020, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) 
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Mazars CPA Limited
中審眾環（香港）會計師事務所有限公司
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong 
香港灣仔港灣道18號中環廣場42樓
Tel 電話: (+852) 2909 5555
Fax 傳真: (+852) 2810 0032
info@mazars.hk
www.mazars.hk
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Insurance liabilities
Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Insurance liabilities represent the largest liability item 
of the Group. The estimation of the ultimate liability 
arising from claims made under insurance contracts 
involves a significant degree of judgement and requires 
a number of assumptions to be made that have high 
estimation uncertainty. Therefore, it is identified as a 
key audit matter.

The provision is made based on the best-estimate 
ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled 
at the end of the reporting period, using the input 
of assessments for individual cases reported to the 
Group and statistical analyses for the claims incurred 
but not reported, together with the related claims 
handling costs.

The Group’s valuation techniques are a combination 
of estimates based upon actual claims experience and 
loss-ratio-based methods.

To support management’s determination of the 
Group’s insurance liabilities, the Group has engaged 
an independent professional actuary to conduct a 
review on the adequacy of the reserves for the motor 
vehicle segments and the employees’ compensation 
segment of the Group at the end of the reporting 
period.

Our key audit procedures included:

−	 Testing key controls over the claims handling 
and case reserving processes of the Group for 
operating effectiveness and performing analysis 
over the trends in claims frequency and size.

−	 Checking samples of claims case reserves through 
comparing the estimated amount of the case 
reserve to appropriate documentation, such as 
reports from loss adjusters.

−	 Re-performing reconciliations between the claims 
data in the Group’s record and the data used in the 
actuarial reserving calculations.

−	 Assessing, with the assistance of another 
independent professional actuary engaged by the 
Group, the relevance and reasonableness of the 
methodologies and assumptions adopted and 
the actuarial results of the report prepared by the 
Group’s independent professional actuary.

−	 Evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the Group’s independent professional 
actuaries and comparing the methodologies and 
models used by the independent professional 
actuaries against recognised actuarial practices 
and those used in previous reporting period.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Valuation of leasehold land and buildings
Refer to Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 December 2020, leasehold land and 
buildings held by the Group were stated at fair value of 
HK$451,000,000.

Significant estimation and judgement are required 
by management to determine the fair value of the 
leasehold land and buildings which is significant 
to the consolidated financial statements, including 
the determination of valuation techniques and 
assumptions applied. Therefore, it is identified as a key 
audit matter.

Management  has  engaged  an  i ndependen t 
professional valuer whose work has been relied on in 
the estimation of the fair value of the leasehold land 
and buildings.

Our key audit procedures included:

−	 Evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the independent professional valuer.

−	 Assessing the appropriateness of the work of 
the independent professional valuer by making 
enquiries on the bases of valuation and obtaining 
corroborative evidence on the input data.

−	 Assessing the relevance and reasonableness of 
key assumptions and methods used in valuation, 
and the relevance and accuracy of the source data 
used in valuation.

Credit risk on cash at other financial institutions
Refer to Note 31 (iv) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

A s  a t  3 1  D e c em b e r  2 0 2 0 ,  d e p o s i t s  o f 
HK$614,742,000 were placed with securities brokers 
registered with Securities and Futures Commission of 
Hong Kong (“SFC”). The deposits represent the largest 
asset item of the Group. As these securities brokers 
are financial institutions not being rated by international 
credit-rating agencies, the Group’s exposure to 
credit risk is relatively higher. If these deposits are not 
recoverable in full, there would be significant impact 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
Thus, it is identified as a key audit matter.

The securities brokers are required to meet the 
regulatory requirements of Hong Kong and overseas 
regulators. Management considers the exposure of 
credit risk is minimal.

Our key audit procedures included:

−	 Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of management’s key controls relating to the 
Group’s investment and credit control.

−	 Arranging audit confirmation with the securities 
brokers for balance of deposits as at 31 December 
2020.

−	 Rev i ew ing  t he  h i s to r i ca l  reco rd  f o r  any 
inappropriate acts by the securities brokers and 
any public disciplinary action taken by SFC on the 
securities brokers.

−	 Inspecting statements from the securities brokers 
on sample basis subsequent to the year end.
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Company’s 2020 annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 
of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2021

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
Chan Chi Ming Andy
Practising Certificate number: P05132
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2020

		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Net insurance premium revenue	 4	 475,131	 397,899
Net investment income	 5	 22,257	 43,293
Other income	 6	 1,468	 1,274

Net income		  498,856	 442,466

Net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses	 7	 (301,909)	 (512,538)
Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net	 8	 (55,955)	 (42,499)
Employee benefit expenses	 9	 (32,345)	 (36,901)
Other operating expenses		  (43,529)	 (42,012)
Finance costs	 9	 (3,928)	 (1,723)

Expenses		  (437,666)	 (635,673)

Profit (Loss) before tax	 9	 61,190	 (193,207)

Income tax credit (expense)	 12	 836	 (5,313)

Profit (Loss) for the year		  62,026	 (198,520)

		  HK cents	 HK cents
Earnings (Loss) per share	 14
  Basic		  11.90	 (38.07)
  Diluted		  11.90	 (38.07)
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	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Profit (Loss) for the year	 62,026	 (198,520)

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment	 (30,481)	 (1,428)
Effect of deferred tax arising from revaluation	 5,029	 (4,541)

	 (25,452)	 (5,969)

Items that are reclassified or may be reclassified subsequently to 
  profit or loss:
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
  (Losses) Gains on changes in fair value arising during the year	 (4,332)	 25,559
  Reclassification of net changes in fair value to profit or loss	 542	 (2,068)
  Effect of deferred tax arising from changes in fair value	 –	 1,006

  Net movement in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
    other comprehensive income	 (3,790)	 24,497

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year, net of tax	 (29,242)	 18,528

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year	 32,784	 (179,992)



88

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2020

		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment	 15	 457,165	 508,556
Intangible assets	 16	 2,463	 3,505
Debt securities measured at fair value through other 
  comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)	 18	 6,746	 31,109
Certificates of deposit	 18	 4,748	 4,451
Insurance and other receivables	 20	 131,236	 160,486
Reinsurance assets	 21	 328,361	 273,130
Deferred acquisition costs	 22	 34,078	 35,530
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)	 18	 63,303	 49,469
Statutory deposit	 23	 100,000	 100,000
Pledged deposit	 23	 10,000	 –
Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months	 23	 3,958	 82,151
Cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions	 23	 949,590	 758,622

TOTAL ASSETS		  2,091,648	 2,007,009

Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities	 19	 36,400	 43,023
Insurance liabilities	 21	 1,508,802	 1,533,058
Interest-bearing borrowings	 24	 168,268	 84,448
Deferred commission income	 22	 5,751	 6,914
Reinsurance premium payable		  19,467	 18,307
Insurance and other payables	 25	 13,831	 14,211
Tax payable		  469	 1,172

TOTAL LIABILITIES		  1,752,988	 1,701,133

EQUITY
Share capital	 26	 368,159	 368,159
Other reserves	 28	 197,450	 226,692
Accumulated losses		  (226,949)	 (288,975)

TOTAL EQUITY		  338,660	 305,876

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		  2,091,648	 2,007,009

These consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 154 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 31 March 2021 and signed on its behalf by

	 Cheung Haywood	 Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
	 Director	 Director
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Year ended 31 December 2020

		  Property		  Merger		  Share
	 Share	 revaluation	 Fair value	 relief	 Other	 option	 Accumulated
	 capital	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 losses	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000
	 (Note 26)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 27)

At 1 January 2019	 368,159	 236,485	 (30,124)	 24,936	 (24,936)	 1,803	 (90,455)	 485,868

Loss for the year	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (198,520)	 (198,520)

Other comprehensive income
  Revaluation of property, 
    plant and equipment, 
    net of tax	 –	 (5,969)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (5,969)
  Net movement in fair value of 
    financial assets at FVOCI, 
    net of tax	 –	 –	 24,497	 –	 –	 –	 –	 24,497

	 –	 (5,969)	 24,497	 –	 –	 –	 –	 18,528

Total comprehensive loss 
  for the year	 –	 (5,969)	 24,497	 –	 –	 –	 (198,520)	 (179,992)

At 31 December 2019	 368,159	 230,516	 (5,627)	 24,936	 (24,936)	 1,803	 (288,975)	 305,876
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Year ended 31 December 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

		  Property		  Merger		  Share
	 Share	 revaluation	 Fair value	 relief	 Other	 option	 Accumulated
	 capital	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 losses	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000
	 (Note 26)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 28)	 (Note 27)

At 1 January 2020	 368,159	 230,516	 (5,627)	 24,936	 (24,936)	 1,803	 (288,975)	 305,876

Profit for the year	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 62,026	 62,026

Other comprehensive loss
  Revaluation of property, 
    plant and equipment, 
    net of tax	 –	 (25,452)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (25,452)
  Net movement in fair value of 
    financial assets at FVOCI, 
    net of tax	 –	 –	 (3,790)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (3,790)

	 –	 (25,452)	 (3,790)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (29,242)

Total comprehensive income 
  for the year	 –	 (25,452)	 (3,790)	 –	 –	 –	 62,026	 32,784

At 31 December 2020	 368,159	 205,064	 (9,417)	 24,936	 (24,936)	 1,803	 (226,949)	 338,660
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Year ended 31 December 2020

		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from (used in) operations	 29(A)	 22,752	 (9,471)
Income tax paid		  (1,461)	 –

Net cash from (used in) operating activities		  21,291	 (9,471)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received		  14,212	 26,455
Dividend received from financial assets at FVPL		  106	 3,397
Proceeds from derecognition of debt securities at FVOCI		  18,298	 396,700
Proceeds from derecognition of certificates of deposit		  99,046	 40,000
Proceeds from derecognition of financial assets at FVPL		  39,574	 137,488
Purchase of debt securities at FVOCI		  –	 (29,258)
Purchase of certificates of deposit		  (99,051)	 (20,000)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL		  (58,342)	 (63,106)
Maturity of statutory and time deposits with original maturity 
  over 3 months	 	 182,151	 146,925
Placement of statutory and time deposits with original maturity 
  over 3 months	 	 (103,958)	 (197,151)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		  (807)	 (305)
Additions of intangible assets		  (1,608)	 (623)

Net cash from investing activities		  89,621	 440,522

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest-bearing borrowings raised	 29(B)	 90,000	 –
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings	 29(B)	 (6,180)	 (5,970)
Interest paid		  (3,764)	 (1,723)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities		  80,056	 (7,693)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		  190,968	 423,358

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		  758,622	 335,264

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year,
  represented by cash and time deposits with 
  original maturity within 3 months at banks and 
  other financial institutions	 23	 949,590	 758,622
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 28 
August 2014. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is situated at 5/F, Low Block, Grand Millennium Plaza, 
181 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal 
activities of its subsidiaries are detailed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company and its 
subsidiaries are herein collectively referred to as the “Group”.

2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, 
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. In addition, these consolidated financial statements comply with the applicable disclosure 
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies 
adopted in the 2019 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the following new/revised 
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year. A summary of the principal accounting 
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs
Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8: Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition of material and align the definition used across HKFRSs.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement
The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except 
for debt securities and certificates of deposit measured at FVOCI (“Mandatory FVOCI”), financial assets at FVPL 
and leasehold land and buildings which are measured at fair value/revalued amount as explained in the respective 
principal accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the Company using 
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary 
is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount 
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by 
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, other than leasehold land and buildings, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase 
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and buildings are stated at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of valuation less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Fair value is determined by independent valuations 
which are performed periodically. Increases in valuation are credited to the property revaluation reserve. Decreases 
in valuation are first offset against increases on earlier valuations in respect of the same asset and are thereafter 
charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent increases are credited to profit or loss up to the amount previously 
charged and thereafter to property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, 
the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to accumulated profits or losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or valuation less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant 
and equipment over their estimated useful lives from the date on which they are available for use and after taking 
into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates. Where parts of 
an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on 
a reasonable basis and depreciated separately.

Leasehold land and buildings	 Over the remaining term of the lease or 
	   50 years, whichever is shorter
Computer equipment	 20% per annum
Furniture and fixtures	 15% per annum
Leasehold improvements	 20% per annum
Motor vehicle	 20% per annum

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in 
profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis at a rate of 30% per annum, which represent the estimated 
useful life of the software. Capitalised computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses.
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Financial instruments
Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments and on a trade date basis, except for financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL, Mandatory 
FVOCI and financial assets measured at amortised cost which are accounted for on the settlement date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from 
the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) Mandatory FVOCI; (iii) 
equity securities measured at FVOCI (“Designated FVOCI”); or (iv) FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified 
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing them, in which 
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period following the 
change in the business model.

(1)	 Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at financial assets at FVPL:

(i)	 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

(ii)	 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation 
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include cash and time deposits at banks and other financial 
institutions, statutory deposit, pledged deposit and other receivables.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

(2)	 Mandatory FVOCI

A financial asset is classified as Mandatory FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met and is not 
designated as financial assets at FVPL:

(i)	 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and for sale; and

(ii)	 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value. Interest calculated using the effective interest 
method, impairment gains or losses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. Other gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income until the financial asset is 
derecognised. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

The Group’s Mandatory FVOCI includes debt securities and certificates of deposit.

(3)	 Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets held for trading. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant 
gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend earned on the financial 
assets. Dividend income is presented separately from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)	 acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(ii)	 part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii)	 a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a designated and effective hedging 
instrument.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include equity securities.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and interest-bearing borrowings. All financial liabilities are 
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method, unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured 
at amortised cost (including cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions, statutory deposit, 
pledged deposit and other receivables) and Mandatory FVOCI (including debt securities and certificates of deposit) 
to which the impairment requirements apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as 
detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount 
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. 
If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the 
loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the 
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are 
due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped together based on the external 
credit risk ratings.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and 
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or 
loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument, except in 
the case of Mandatory FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes 
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the 
financial instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i)	 information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to 
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); 
or

(ii)	 there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular, the 
following information is taken into account in the assessment:

•	 the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the due dates;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if 
available);

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

•	 actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have or may 
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:

(i)	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external credit rating;

(ii)	 failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates; and

(iii)	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the issuer.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)	 it has a low risk of default;

(ii)	 the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii)	 adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, the following financial instruments are determined 
to have low credit risk:

•	 Other receivables;

•	 Cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions; and

•	 Mandatory FVOCI with international long-term/short-term credit risk rating not lower than BBB-/A-3 
(Standard & Poor’s), Baa/P-3 (Moody’s), BBB/F3 (Fitch) or B+/bbb (A.M. Best).

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include 
observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)	 the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof based on historical experience of 
recoveries of similar assets.

The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written 
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, 
taking into account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to assess 
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment or intangible assets may be impaired or 
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value 
in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating 
unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately, except where the relevant asset is carried at revalued 
amount in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with the accounting 
policy relevant to that asset.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised 
as income in profit or loss immediately, except where the relevant asset is carried at revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal of impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase in accordance with the accounting policy 
relevant to the asset.

Cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents represent cash in hand and at 
banks and other financial institutions, and time deposits with original maturity within 3 months which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and form an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management, net of bank overdrafts.

Revenue recognition
Premiums on insurance policies are recognised as revenue on the basis set out below in insurance contracts 
section.

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it 
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the 
dividend can be measured reliably.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied 
to the gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount 
net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Underwriting results
The underwriting results are recognised on an annual accounting basis.
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Insurance contracts
Insurance contracts are defined as those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk at the inception of the 
contracts, or those where at the inception of the contract there is a scenario with commercial substance where 
the level of insurance risk may be significant. Insurance risk is significant if, and only if, an insured event could 
cause the Group to pay significant additional benefits in any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack commercial 
substance.

(a)	R ecognition and measurement

The Group considers an insurance contract with period of insurance covers more than one year is a multi-
year insurance contract. Only the initial annual premiums in respect of multi-year contracts are recognised 
at policy inception. The remaining annual premiums are recognised at each successive anniversary 
date within the multi-year term. Gross premiums written in respect of one-year insurance contracts are 
recognised when insurance contracts are written. Premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) 
proportionally over the period of coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that 
relates to unexpired risks at the end of the reporting period is reported as the unearned premium liability. 
Premiums are shown before deduction of commissions and other underwriting expenses and are gross of 
any taxes or duties levied on premiums.

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to profit or loss as incurred based on the estimated 
liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third parties damaged by the contract holders. They 
include direct and indirect claims settlement costs and arise from events that have occurred up to the end 
of the reporting period even if they have not yet been reported to the Group. The Group does not discount 
its liabilities for unpaid claims. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessments for 
individual cases reported to the Group and statistical analyses for the claims incurred but not reported, and 
to estimate the expected ultimate cost of more complex claims.

(b)	D eferred acquisition costs (“DAC”) and commission income

Commissions and other underwriting expenses that vary with and are related to securing new insurance 
contracts and renewing existing insurance contracts are capitalised as DAC. All other costs are recognised 
as expenses when incurred. The DAC is amortised over the terms of the policies as premium is earned.

Reinsurance commission income arising on ceded reinsurance contracts is deferred and amortised over the 
terms of the reinsurance policies to profit or loss.

(c)	R einsurance assets

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group is compensated for losses on 
one or more contracts issued by the Group and that meet the classification requirements for insurance 
contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts held. Contracts that do not meet these classification 
requirements are classified as financial assets.

The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as 
reinsurance assets. These assets consist of short-term and long-term receivables that are dependent on 
the expected claims and reinsurance recoveries arising under the insurance contracts and the related 
reinsurance contracts. Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently with the 
amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each 
reinsurance contract.
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Insurance contracts (Continued)

(c)	R einsurance assets (Continued)

The Group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on an annual basis or when indication of 
impairment arises. If there is objective evidence that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Group reduces 
the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognises that impairment 
loss in profit or loss. A reinsurance asset is impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event 
that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset, that the Group may not receive all amounts 
due under the terms of the contract, and the impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the 
reinsurer can be reliably measured.

(d)	 Provision for unexpired risk

At the end of the reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the 
unexpired insurance liabilities net of related DAC assets. In performing these tests, current best estimates 
of future contractual cash flow and claims handling and administration expenses, as well as investment 
income from the assets backing such liabilities, are used. Provision would be adjusted, if necessary, after 
considering independent actuarial review of general insurance liabilities as at the end of reporting period. 
Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss by establishing a provision for losses arising from the 
unexpired risk.

(e)	U nearned premiums

Unearned premiums represent the proportion of gross premiums applicable to the unexpired period of the 
policy term. Unearned premiums are calculated by 365-day basis on premiums written without deducting 
the policy acquisition costs for the year.

(f)	O utstanding claims

Full provision is made for the estimated gross cost of claims notified but not settled on a case-by-case 
basis including those incurred but not reported at the end of the reporting period using the best information 
available at that time, including inflation where necessary.

Cost of claims includes claims handling expenses and reinsurance recoveries which would take a long time 
to finalise. Reinsurance recovery on reported outstanding claims is also calculated on a case-by-case basis. 
Any differences between the original claim provisions and subsequent settlements are included in profit or 
loss.

Provision is also made for any potential claims incurred but not reported at the end of the reporting period in 
accordance with management experience of claim development history, including an estimate of reinsurance 
recoveries due. Provision would be adjusted, if necessary, after considering independent actuarial review of 
motor and employees’ compensation insurance liabilities as at the end of the reporting period. Claims are 
not discounted.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a 
provision has been recognised are charged against the related provision in the year in which the expenditures 
are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount provided is the present value of 
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain.

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$’000”), which is the functional and reporting 
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the retranslation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for those arising on the retranslation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the 
gains or losses are also recognised directly in equity.

Employee benefits
(a)	Sh ort term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

(b)	D efined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an expense 
in profit or loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the 
scheme prior the contributions are vested fully in those employees. The assets of the scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

(c)	L ong service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments under the Employment Ordinance is the 
amounts of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior 
periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted to its present 
value and after deducting the fair value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.
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Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, 
whereby the employees rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over shares of the Company. The cost 
of such transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date 
at which the entity and another party (including an employee) agree to a share-based payment arrangement, being 
when the entity and the counterparty have a shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement 
(“grant date”). The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a 
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The fair value is determined using the binomial model, taking into 
account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at fair value of 
the goods or services received, except where the fair value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. In all cases, the fair value is measured at the date the 
Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the entitlement of relevant 
employees to the award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (“vesting 
date”). During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any 
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of 
the review, with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will be 
transferred to share capital. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at 
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits 
or losses.

Taxation
The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses 
and credits can be utilised.
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Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the Group.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c)	 dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The Company’s executive directors, who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, have been identified as the chief operating decision-makers that make 
strategic decisions.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an 
on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

(1)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(a)	The  ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts

The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the 
Group’s most critical accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be 
considered in the estimate of the liability that the Group will ultimately pay for such claims. Estimation 
of the ultimate cost of certain liability claims can be a complex process. Significant factors affecting 
the trends that influence the liability estimation process are the inconsistent court resolutions and 
jurisprudence. These factors have broadened the intent and scope coverage of the protections 
offered in the insurance contracts issued by the Group. The Group believes that the liability for liability 
claims carried at the end of reporting period is adequate.

(b)	 Valuation of leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold land and buildings are stated at revalued amount based on the valuation performed by 
independent professional valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on a method 
of valuation which involves reference to recent market transaction prices of similar properties and 
adjusted to the condition of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings. In relying on the valuation 
report, the management of the Group has exercised its judgement and is satisfied that the techniques 
and assumptions applied by the valuer are appropriate. Changes to these assumptions would result 
in changes in the fair value of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and the corresponding 
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss would be recognised in property revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKFRS 16	 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1

Amendments to HKAS 39, 	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 2

  HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16
Amendments to HKAS 16	 Proceeds before Intended Use 3

Amendments to HKAS 37	 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3	 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 3

Annual Improvements to 	 2018-2020 Cycle 3

  HKFRSs
Amendments to HKAS 1	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 4

HKFRS 17	 Insurance Contracts 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 	 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
  and HKAS 28	   Venture 5

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
5	 The effective date to be determined

The directors are in the process of assessing the possible impact on the future adoption of the new/revised 
HKFRSs, but are not yet in a position to reasonably estimate their impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is principally engaged in the writing of general insurance business. Segment information has been 
identified on the basis of internal management reports which are prepared in accordance with the accounting 
policies that conform with HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers in order to 
allocate resources to the reportable segments and to assess their performance.

Reportable segments
For the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, the chief operating decision-makers review 
operating results by types of insurance as follows.

•	 Taxi

•	 Public Light Bus (“PLB”)

•	 Other motor vehicles

•	 Employees’ compensation

•	 Other direct business

•	 Reinsurance inward

Segment assets include insurance receivables, reinsurance assets and deferred acquisition costs. Segment 
liabilities include insurance payables, insurance liabilities, deferred commission income and reinsurance premium 
payable. Assets and liabilities not allocated to reportable segments are grouped in unallocated assets and 
unallocated liabilities respectively.

Revenue and expenses allocated to the reportable segments include premium revenue and claims recovery 
generated by the segment and claims related expenses and commission expenses incurred by the segment 
respectively. There are no transactions between reportable segments.

Geographic information
Geographical information is not presented as all of the Group’s customers, operations, assets and liabilities are 
located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers
During the reporting period, no written premium from transactions with a single external customer amounted to 
10% or more of the Group’s total annual gross written premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
			   Other 
			   motor 	 Employees’	 Other direct 	 Reinsurance 
	 Taxi	 PLB	 vehicles	 compensation	 business	 inward	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Net insurance premium revenue	 232,320	 68,186	 62,434	 86,672	 4,949	 20,570	 475,131
Net insurance claims and loss 
  adjustment expenses	 (180,244)	 (38,658)	 (31,570)	 (45,793)	 (876)	 (4,768)	 (301,909)
Acquisition costs and other 
  underwriting expenses, net	 (19,079)	 (5,637)	 (11,447)	 (12,908)	 (486)	 (6,398)	 (55,955)

Segment results	 32,997	 23,891	 19,417	 27,971	 3,587	 9,404	 117,267

Unallocated investment income and 
  other income	 						      23,725

Unallocated corporate expenses and 
  finance costs	 						      (79,802)

Profit before tax	 						      61,190
Income tax credit	 						      836

Profit for the year	 						      62,026

Assets
Segment assets	 270,612	 29,440	 142,547	 32,449	 3,689	 12,493	 491,230

Unallocated assets	 						      1,600,418

Total assets	 						      2,091,648

Liabilities
Segment liabilities	 891,018	 181,022	 292,650	 165,265	 7,607	 6,946	 1,544,508

Unallocated liabilities	 						      208,480

Total liabilities	 						      1,752,988

Other profit or loss information
Interest income from time deposits	 						      9,790
Interest income from debt securities at FVOCI	 						      1,454
Interest income from certificates of deposit	 						      371
Dividend income from financial assets at FVPL	 						      106
Loss on derecognition of debt securities 
  at FVOCI	 						      542
Net fair value loss of financial assets at FVPL	 						      4,934
Loss allowance for debt securities at FVOCI	 						      1,441
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings	 						      3,928
Depreciation and amortisation	 						      24,366
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Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
			   Other 
			   motor 	 Employees’	 Other direct 	 Reinsurance
	 Taxi	 PLB	 vehicles	 compensation	 business	 inward	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Net insurance premium revenue	 227,078	 72,263	 65,564	 28,466	 4,159	 369	 397,899
Net insurance claims and loss 
  adjustment expenses	 (344,677)	 (60,701)	 (63,792)	 (42,077)	 (1,291)	 –	 (512,538)
Acquisition costs and other 
  underwriting expenses, net	 (18,578)	 (5,972)	 (11,753)	 (5,854)	 (296)	 (46)	 (42,499)

Segment results	 (136,177)	 5,590	 (9,981)	 (19,465)	 2,572	 323	 (157,138)

Unallocated investment income and 
  other income							       44,567

Unallocated corporate expenses and 
  finance costs	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (80,636)

Loss before tax	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (193,207)
Income tax expense	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (5,313)

Loss for the year							       (198,520)

Assets
Segment assets	 244,385	 25,321	 114,897	 53,258	 5,491	 143	 443,495

Unallocated assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,563,514

Total assets							       2,007,009

Liabilities
Segment liabilities	 938,837	 206,974	 290,705	 123,350	 8,409	 182	 1,568,457

Unallocated liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 132,676

Total liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,701,133

Other profit or loss information
Interest income from time deposits	 	 	 	 	 	 	 11,113
Interest income from debt securities at FVOCI							       18,110
Interest income from certificates of deposit							       410
Dividend income from financial assets at FVPL	 	 	 	 	 	 	 3,397
Gain on derecognition of debt securities 
  at FVOCI							       2,068
Net fair value gain of financial assets at FVPL							       10,472
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,723
Depreciation and amortisation							       24,289
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.	 NET INSURANCE PREMIUM REVENUE
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Gross premium written	 559,551	 527,743
Reinsurance premium ceded	 (85,007)	 (84,069)

Net premium written	 474,544	 443,674

Change in provision for unearned premium	 1,098	 (53,498)
Change in unearned premium on reinsurance ceded	 (511)	 7,723

Change in net provision for unearned premium	 587	 (45,775)

Net insurance premium revenue	 475,131	 397,899

5.	 NET INVESTMENT INCOME
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method:
– time deposits	 9,790	 11,113
– certificates of deposit	 371	 410
– listed debt securities mandatorily measured at FVOCI	 1,256	 16,930
– unlisted debt securities mandatorily measured at FVOCI	 198	 1,180
Dividend income from listed financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL	 106	 3,397
(Loss) Gain on derecognition of debt securities mandatorily measured 
  at FVOCI	 (542)	 2,068
Loss allowance for debt securities mandatorily measured at FVOCI	 (1,441)	 –
Net fair value (loss) gain of financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL	 (4,934)	 10,472
Net foreign exchange gain (loss)	 17,453	 (2,277)

Net investment income	 22,257	 43,293

Included in net foreign exchange gain (loss) for the year ended 31 December 2020 is a net foreign exchange gain 
of HK$17,433,000 (2019: HK$Nil) arising from spot foreign currency trading during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.	 OTHER INCOME
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Handling fee income	 880	 1,206
Others	 588	 68

	 1,468	 1,274

7.	 NET INSURANCE CLAIMS AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Gross claims paid	 450,471	 358,692
Claims recovered	 (69,662)	 (52,131)

Net claims paid	 380,809	 306,561

Change in provision for gross outstanding claims and incurred 
  but not reported claims (“IBNR”)	 398	 312,992
Change in claims recoverable (including IBNR recoveries)	 (55,742)	 (127,785)
Change in provision for unexpired risk	 (23,556)	 20,770

Change in net outstanding claims	 (78,900)	 205,977

Net insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses	 301,909	 512,538

8.	 ACQUISITION COSTS AND OTHER UNDERWRITING EXPENSES, NET
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses
Insurance commission	 58,619	 54,913
Other underwriting expenses	 9,053	 8,864
Change in deferred acquisition costs	 1,452	 (8,997)

Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, gross	 69,124	 54,780

Commission income
Insurance commission from reinsurers	 (12,006)	 (14,538)
Change in deferred commission income	 (1,163)	 2,257

Commission income	 (13,169)	 (12,281)

Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses, net	 55,955	 42,499
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.	 PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX
This is stated after charging:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Finance costs
Interest on unsecured loans	 2,529	 –
Interest on bank loan	 1,399	 1,723

	 3,928	 1,723

Other items
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments)
  Salaries, bonus and allowances	 31,062	 35,572
  Contributions to defined contribution plan	 1,283	 1,329

	 32,345	 36,901

Auditor’s remuneration
  Audit services	 940	 929
  Other services	 260	 150
Depreciation	 21,716	 21,677
Amortisation (included in other operating expenses)	 2,650	 2,612
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 1	 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS
(a)	 Directors’ remunerations

Details of directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

The aggregate amounts of emoluments received or receivable by the Company’s directors and chief 
executive are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020

			   Contributions
			   to defined
	 Directors’	 Salaries and	 contribution
	 fees	 allowances	 plan	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Executive directors
Chan Hok Ching	 96	 1,410	 54	 1,560
Cheung Haywood	 96	 1,092	 –	 1,188
Chiu Sun Ting (ii)	 96	 1,092	 –	 1,188
Dai Chengyan (v)	 2	 –	 –	 2
Lai Bing Leung (ii)	 96	 1,092	 –	 1,188
Lau Ka Yee (vi)	 96	 1,408	 60	 1,564
Lin Feng (v)	 2	 –	 –	 2
Muk Wang Lit Jimmy (Chief executive)	 96	 1,562	 –	 1,658
Ng Yu (v)	 2	 –	 –	 2
Rui Yuanqing (v)	 2	 –	 –	 2
Wei Weicheng (v)	 2	 –	 –	 2

Independent non-executive directors
Anthony Espina (vii)	 144	 –	 –	 144
Leung Ho Yin Alexander (viii)	 6	 –	 –	 6
Szeto Wai Sun (i)	 189	 –	 –	 189
Wan Kam To	 189	 –	 –	 189
Wang Jun Sheng (viii)	 6	 –	 –	 6
Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 189	 –	 –	 189
Yuen Tak Tim Anthony (iii)	 19	 –	 –	 19

	 1,328	 7,656	 114	 9,098
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10.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)	 Directors’ remunerations (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019

			   Contributions
			   to defined
	 Directors’	 Salaries and	 contribution
	 fees	 allowances	 plan	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Executive directors
Chan Hok Ching	 96	 1,407	 54	 1,557
Cheung Haywood	 96	 1,092	 –	 1,188
Choi Chiu Fai Stanley (iv)	 8	 91	 5	 104
Chiu Sun Ting	 96	 1,092	 –	 1,188
Lai Bing Leung	 96	 1,092	 –	 1,188
Muk Wang Lit Jimmy (Chief executive)	 96	 1,502	 60	 1,658

Independent non-executive directors
Szeto Wai Sun	 189	 –	 –	 189
Wan Kam To	 189	 –	 –	 189
Wong Shiu Hoi Peter	 189	 –	 –	 189
Yuen Tak Tim Anthony (iii)	 214	 –	 –	 214

	 1,269	 6,276	 119	 7,664

(i)	 Mr. Szeto Wai Sun resigned as independent non-executive director on 1 January 2021.

(ii)	 Mr. Chiu Sun Ting and Mr. Lai Bing Leung resigned as executive director on 23 December 2020.

(iii)	 Mr. Yuen Tak Tim Anthony resigned as independent non-executive director on 7 January 2020.

(iv)	 Dr. Choi Chiu Fai Stanley resigned as executive director on 25 January 2019.

(v)	 Mr. Dai Chengyan, Mr. Lin Feng, Dr. Ng Yu, Mr. Rui Yuanqing and Mr. Wei Weicheng were appointed as executive 
directors on 23 December 2020.

(vi)	 Ms. Lau Ka Yee was appointed as executive director on 1 January 2020.

(vii)	 Mr. Anthony Espina was appointed as independent non-executive director on 1 May 2020.

(viii)	 Mr. Leung Ho Yin Alexander and Dr. Wang Jun Sheng were appointed as independent non-executive directors 
on 23 December 2020.

No directors have waived emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. No 
emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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10.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)	 Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of a director or a shadow director of the 
Company, or bodies corporate controlled by such directors, or entities connected with such directors that 
were entered into or subsisted during the year (2019: Nil).

(c)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
After consideration, the directors are of the opinion that the following transactions, arrangements and 
contracts, which are entered into by the Company and in which a director of the Company or a connected 
entity of the director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, are significant in relation to the 
Company’s business and subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year:

Year ended 31 December 2020

	 Name of director who 
Contractual parties in 	 has equity interest in 
addition to the Company	 the contractual parties	 Nature of transactions	 HK$’000

The Oscar Motors Company 	 Lai Bing Leung (Note 10(A)(ii))	 Agency commission paid	 1,254
  Limited

Year ended 31 December 2019

	 Name of director who 
Contractual parties in 	 has equity interest in 
addition to the Company	 the contractual parties	 Nature of transactions	 HK$’000

The Oscar Motors Company 	 Lai Bing Leung 	 Agency commission paid	 1,068
  Limited	   (Note 10(A)(ii))

Head & Shoulders Securities 	 Choi Chiu Fai Stanley	 Brokerage paid	 5
  Limited	   (Note 10(A)(iv))

11.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include three directors (2019: 
three) whose emoluments are set out in Note 10 above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining highest paid 
individuals are as follows:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances	 3,361	 2,952
Contributions to defined contribution plan	 90	 120

	 3,451	 3,072
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11.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

The number of the non-director individuals whose emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is as 
follows:

	 2020	 2019

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000	 1	 1
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000	 –	 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000	 1	 –

	 2	 2

No non-director individuals have waived emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. 
No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of offices.

Details of senior management’s emoluments for the year are as follows:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances	 5,043	 5,737
Contributions to defined contribution plan	 142	 210

	 5,185	 5,947

The number of the senior management whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

	 2020	 2019

Nil to HK$1,000,000	 1	 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000	 1	 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000	 1	 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000	 1	 –

	 4	 5
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12.	 TAXATION
The Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled or operated in Hong Kong and were subject to Hong Kong Profits 
Tax.

The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates 
regime was signed into law and gazetted in March 2018. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first 
HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed 
at 16.5%.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, Hong Kong Profits Tax for the qualifying company is calculated 
in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of corporations in the Group not qualifying 
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable 
profits arising in Hong Kong.

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Current tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax
  Current year	 1,122	 997
  Over provision in prior years	 (364)	 (246)

	 758	 751
Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of temporary difference (Note 19)	 (1,594)	 4,562

Tax (credit) expense for the year	 (836)	 5,313

Reconciliation of tax (credit) expense
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Profit (Loss) before tax	 61,190	 (193,207)

Income tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%)	 10,096	 (31,879)
Non-deductible expenses	 837	 671
Tax exempt revenue	 (1,670)	 (2,469)
Unrecognised tax losses	 290	 32,521
Unrecognised temporary differences	 1,407	 (555)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses	 (11,730)	 –
Tax effect of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime	 (165)	 (165)
Over provision in prior years	 (364)	 (246)
Write-down of deferred tax assets	 –	 7,090
Others	 463	 345

Tax (credit) expense for the year	 (836)	 5,313
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13.	 DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors resolved not to declare any interim dividend and final dividend for the years ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019.

14.	 EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share is based on the profit (loss) attributable to equity 
owners of the Company for the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.

(A)	 Basic earnings (loss) per share
	 2020	 2019

Profit (Loss) attributable to equity owners (HK$’000)	 62,026	 (198,520)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (’000)	 521,410	 521,410

Basic earnings (loss) per share (HK cents)	 11.90	 (38.07)

(B)	 Diluted earnings (loss) per share
	 2020	 2019

Profit (Loss) attributable to equity owners (HK$’000)	 62,026	 (198,520)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
  of calculating diluted loss per share (’000)	 521,410	 521,410

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (HK cents)	 11.90	 (38.07)

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 does not assume the 
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options as the exercise price of those options is higher than 
the average market price of the Company’s shares during the year. The computation of diluted loss per 
share for the year ended 31 December 2019 also does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share 
options as the exercise of the share options will give rise to an anti-dilutive effect.
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
	 Leasehold		  Furniture
	 land and	 Computer	 and 	 Leasehold	 Motor
	 buildings	 equipment	 fixtures	 improvements	 vehicle	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying 
  amount – year ended
  31 December 2019
At beginning of year	 520,000	 549	 1,784	 8,695	 329	 531,357
Additions	 –	 63	 41	 201	 –	 305
Revaluation	 (1,428)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (1,428)
Disposal	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	 (1)
Depreciation	 (18,572)	 (158)	 (455)	 (2,388)	 (104)	 (21,677)

At the end of the 
  reporting period	 500,000	 453	 1,370	 6,508	 225	 508,556

Reconciliation of carrying 
  amount – year ended
  31 December 2020
At beginning of year	 500,000	 453	 1,370	 6,508	 225	 508,556
Additions	 –	 759	 16	 32	 –	 807
Revaluation	 (30,481)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (30,481)
Disposal	 –	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 (1)
Depreciation	 (18,519)	 (259)	 (431)	 (2,403)	 (104)	 (21,716)

At the end of the 
  reporting period	 451,000	 953	 954	 4,137	 121	 457,165

At 31 December 2019
Cost/Valuation	 500,000	 840	 8,045	 12,000	 520	 521,405
Accumulated depreciation	 –	 (387)	 (6,675)	 (5,492)	 (295)	 (12,849)

	 500,000	 453	 1,370	 6,508	 225	 508,556

At 31 December 2020
Cost/Valuation	 451,000	 1,599	 4,161	 12,032	 520	 469,312
Accumulated depreciation	 –	 (646)	 (3,207)	 (7,895)	 (399)	 (12,147)

	 451,000	 953	 954	 4,137	 121	 457,165
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The leasehold land and buildings, which consist of commercial properties and car parking spaces situated in 
Hong Kong, were revalued at 31 December 2020, by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd., independent professional 
qualified valuer, with reference to recent market transaction prices of similar properties. The revaluation gave rise to 
a revaluation deficit of HK$30,481,000 (2019: HK$1,428,000) which has been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and recorded in property revaluation reserve.

The carrying amount of the leasehold land and buildings at the end of the reporting period would have been 
HK$230,395,000 (2019: HK$239,257,000) had they been stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

At the end of the reporting period, the leasehold land and buildings are held under head leases with the remaining 
lease term of 27 years (2019: 28 years).

16.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
	 Computer
	 software
	 HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying amount – year ended 31 December 2019
At beginning of year	 5,494
Additions	 623
Amortisation	 (2,612)

At the end of the reporting period	 3,505

Reconciliation of carrying amount – year ended 31 December 2020
At beginning of year	 3,505
Additions	 1,608
Amortisation	 (2,650)

At the end of the reporting period	 2,463

At 31 December 2019
Cost	 9,020
Accumulated amortisation	 (5,515)

	 3,505

At 31 December 2020
Cost	 10,628
Accumulated amortisation	 (8,165)

	 2,463
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17.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	 Principal 
	 place of 
	 business and 		  Percentage of 
	 place of 		  equity held by
Name of subsidiary	 incorporation	 Issued capital	 the Company	 Principal activities
			   Direct	 Indirect

Target Insurance Company, 	 Hong Kong	 Ordinary shares	 100	 –	 Writing of general 
  Limited (“Target”)	 	   of HK$473,000,000	 	 	   insurance business

Target Credit Limited	 Hong Kong	 Ordinary share 	 100	 –	 Not yet commenced 
		    of HK$1			     business

Chartered Properties Limited	 Hong Kong	 Ordinary shares 	 –	 100	 Property investment
		    of HK$100,000
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18.	 DEBT SECURITIES MEASURED AT FVOCI, CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT AND 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At fair value
Mandatorily measured at FVOCI
Debt securities mandatorily measured at FVOCI
  Listed debt securities
    Bonds listed in Hong Kong	 6,746	 15,601
    Bonds listed outside Hong Kong	 –	 5,508
  Unlisted debt securities
    Bonds with fixed maturity dates	 –	 10,000

	 6,746	 31,109

Certificates of deposit	 4,748	 4,451

Financial assets at FVPL
Equity securities mandatorily measured at FVPL
  Listed in Hong Kong	 980	 45,206
  Listed outside Hong Kong	 –	 4,263
Unlisted investment fund	 62,323	 –

	 63,303	 49,469

	 74,797	 85,029

Debt securities at FVOCI and certificates of deposit
Debt securities at FVOCI and certificates of deposit earn interest at coupon rates of 3.2% to 13.75% (2019: 3.2% 
to 13.75%) per annum and those that have maturity date will mature in 1 year to 3 years (2019: 2 years to 4 years). 
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance for the financial assets is included in 
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Unlisted investment fund
The amount represents an unlisted fund investing in spot foreign currencies. The investor of this fund is entitled to 
a targeted fixed return of 8% per annum of the initial offer price accrued as at the end of each reporting period that 
is distributed in the following year. The effective rate of return for the year ended 31 December 2020 is 7.39% (2019: 
Nil).
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19.	 DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when taxes relate to the same taxation authority and where offsetting is 
legally enforceable. The movements for the year in the Group’s net deferred tax position are as follows:

	 Assets	 Liabilities
	 	

			   Revaluation 
		  Changes in 	 of property, 
		  fair value of 	 plant and 
	 Tax losses	 investments	 equipment	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019	 6,737	 (653)	 (41,010)	 (34,926)
(Charge) Credit to profit or loss (Note 12)	 (6,737)	 (353)	 2,528	 (4,562)
Credit (Charge) to other comprehensive 
  income	 –	 1,006	 (4,541)	 (3,535)

At 31 December 2019	 –	 –	 (43,023)	 (43,023)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 12)	 –	 –	 1,594	 1,594
Credit to other comprehensive income	 –	 –	 5,029	 5,029

At 31 December 2020	 –	 –	 (36,400)	 (36,400)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Deductible temporary differences	 9,139	 1,000
Tax losses	 280,667	 353,133

At end of the reporting period	 289,806	 354,133

Neither the tax losses nor the deductible temporary differences expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax 
assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom.
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20.	 INSURANCE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Insurance receivables
Premium receivables
  From third parties		  83,387	 96,024
  From related parties		  –	 875

	 20(A)	 83,387	 96,899

Claims receivable from reinsurers and others	 20(B)	 45,404	 37,936

		  128,791	 134,835

Other receivables
Sales proceeds receivable from financial institutions 
  on disposal of securities		  –	 20,357
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables		  2,445	 5,294

		  2,445	 25,651

		  131,236	 160,486

20(A)	Premium receivables
No credit term is given to direct policyholders. The credit periods granted to third parties ranged from  
30 days to 90 days from the month end date of inception of the corresponding insurance contract.

The premium receivables from related parties were unsecured, interest free and with credit period of 90 
days from the month end date of inception of the corresponding insurance contract. At the end of the 
reporting period, there was no provision made for non-repayment.

At the end of reporting period, premium receivables from third parties and related parties, based on the 
invoice date, are aged as follows:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Within 30 days	 23,401	 30,217
31 – 60 days	 35,836	 30,607
61 – 90 days	 11,326	 13,718
91 – 120 days	 12,824	 22,357

	 83,387	 96,899
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20.	 INSURANCE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

20(A)	Premium receivables (Continued)

The ageing of premium receivables which are past due but not impaired are as follows:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Balances past due
  Within 30 days	 17,296	 21,155
  31 – 60 days	 5,774	 4,851
  61 – 90 days	 18	 80
  Over 90 days	 (60)	 708

	 23,028	 26,794

The Group has established credit policies to manage the credit risk in respect of its premium receivables 
of each intermediary. The management has not fixed any criterion as to the credit periods granted to 
the intermediaries. Instead, the directors exercise their judgement on those factors such as business 
relationship, intermediaries’ integrity, past records of default, industry and economic environment, etc. to 
determine the credit period granted.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of intermediaries for whom 
there was no recent history of default.

Included in the Group’s premium receivables are receivables from third parties and related parties that were 
past due at the end of the reporting period but which the Group has not impaired as there has not been any 
significant changes in credit quality of these intermediaries and the directors believe that the amounts are 
fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

20(B)	Claims receivable from reinsurers and others
Claims receivable from reinsurers and others represent amounts due from reinsurers and third parties in 
respect of their share of claims already paid by the Group, for whom there was no history of default. Claims 
receivable from reinsurers and others are aged over 90 days. None of the claims receivable is past due or 
impaired.
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21.	 INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS
		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Gross
Outstanding claims		  734,303	 752,009
Claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”)		  468,821	 450,717

	 21(i)	 1,203,124	 1,202,726
Provision for unearned premium	 21(ii)	 294,644	 295,742
Provision for unexpired risk	 21(iii)	 11,034	 34,590

Total gross insurance liabilities		  1,508,802	 1,533,058

Recoverable from reinsurers
Claims reported and loss adjustment expenses		  107,611	 90,616
Provision for IBNR recoveries		  198,752	 160,005

	 21(i)	 306,363	 250,621
Provision for unearned premium	 21(ii)	 21,998	 22,509

Total insurance liabilities recoverable		  328,361	 273,130

Net
Outstanding claims		  626,692	 661,393
IBNR		  270,069	 290,712

	 21(i)	 896,761	 952,105
Provision for unearned premium	 21(ii)	 272,646	 273,233
Provision for unexpired risk	 21(iii)	 11,034	 34,590

Total net insurance liabilities		  1,180,441	 1,259,928

The Group determines the ultimate liabilities for its motor vehicle segments and employees’ compensation segment 
with reference to the review by an independent professional actuary, using the paid and incurred loss development 
methods, supplemented by the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method.
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21.	 INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS (Continued)

(i)	 Analysis of movements in outstanding claims and IBNR is as follows:

		  Recoverable
		  from
	 Gross	 reinsurers	 Net
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019	 889,734	 (122,836)	 766,898
Provision incurred	 671,684	 (179,916)	 491,768
Claims paid	 (358,692)	 52,131	 (306,561)

At 31 December 2019	 1,202,726	 (250,621)	 952,105
Provision incurred	 450,869	 (125,404)	 325,465
Claims paid	 (450,471)	 69,662	 (380,809)

At 31 December 2020	 1,203,124	 (306,363)	 896,761

(ii)	 Analysis of movements in provision for unearned premium is as follows:

		  Recoverable 
		  from 
	 Gross	 reinsurers	 Net
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019	 242,244	 (14,786)	 227,458
Premium written	 527,743	 (84,069)	 443,674
Premium earned	 (474,245)	 76,346	 (397,899)

At 31 December 2019	 295,742	 (22,509)	 273,233
Premium written	 559,551	 (85,007)	 474,544
Premium earned	 (560,649)	 85,518	 (475,131)

At 31 December 2020	 294,644	 (21,998)	 272,646

(iii)	 Analysis of movements in provision for unexpired risk is as follows:

		  Recoverable
		  from
	 Gross	 reinsurers	 Net
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019	 13,820	 –	 13,820
Provision made	 20,770	 –	 20,770

At 31 December 2019	 34,590	 –	 34,590
Provision reversed	 (23,556)	 –	 (23,556)

At 31 December 2020	 11,034	 –	 11,034
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22.	 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS AND DEFERRED COMMISSION INCOME
	 Deferred 	 Deferred 
	 acquisition 	 commission 
	 costs	 income	 Net
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019	 26,533	 (4,657)	 21,876
Commission expense (income)	 63,777	 (14,538)	 49,239
(Charged) Credited to income statement	 (54,780)	 12,281	 (42,499)

At 31 December 2019	 35,530	 (6,914)	 28,616
Commission expense (income)	 67,672	 (12,006)	 55,666
(Charged) Credited to income statement	 (69,124)	 13,169	 (55,955)

At 31 December 2020	 34,078	 (5,751)	 28,327

23.	 CASH AND DEPOSITS AT BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions
  Time deposits with original maturity within 3 months	 267,194	 638,986
  Cash in hand and at banks and other financial institutions	 682,396	 119,636

	 949,590	 758,622

Statutory deposit	 100,000	 100,000
Pledged deposit	 10,000	 –
Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months	 3,958	 82,151

	 1,063,548	 940,773

Cash at banks and other financial institutions earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods between 1 month to 3 months depending on the immediate 
cash requirement of the Group, and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates. Time deposits with 
original maturity over 3 months are made for varying periods between 4 months to 12 months and earn interest at 
deposit rates between 1.9% to 2.4% (2019: between 4 months to 12 months and earn interest at deposit rates 
between 2.1% to 2.4%) per annum.

The Group had a time deposit of HK$100,000,000 (2019: HK$100,000,000) at 31 December 2020 with a licensed 
bank in Hong Kong held in the name of “Insurance Authority account Target Insurance Company, Limited” as a 
statutory deposit pursuant to the instruction given by the Insurance Authority under sections 35(1) and 35A of 
the Hong Kong Insurance Ordinance. The time deposit can only be released with approval from the Insurance 
Authority.

An insurance subsidiary has undertaken to maintain time deposits, including statutory deposit and certificates of 
deposit, of not less than HK$330,000,000 (2019: HK$330,000,000) with the banks in Hong Kong pursuant to the 
instruction given by the Insurance Authority.

The Group has pledged a deposit of HK$10,000,000 (2019: Nil) to secure a performance bank guarantee granted 
to an indirect policyholder as security for compliance of the Group’s financial obligations in a retrocession quota 
share treaty entered into during the reporting period.
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24.	 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Interest-bearing borrowings
  Unsecured loans	 24(A)	 90,000	 –
  Secured bank loan	 24(B)	 78,268	 84,448

		  168,268	 84,448

24(A)	Unsecured loans
On 13 March 2020, the Group entered into the loan agreements with each of Dr. Cheung Haywood, Mr. 
Chiu Sun Ting, and Mr. Lai Bing Leung, for unsecured loans in the principal amount of HK$40,000,000, 
HK$25,000,000 and HK$25,000,000 respectively at an interest rate of 3.5% per annum for a term 
commencing from 13 March 2020 to 12 September 2020, which were subsequently extended to 12 March 
2021 on 25 August 2020 and further extended to 12 May 2021 on 5 March 2021.

On 30 December 2020, Dr. Cheung Haywood assigned 50% of his loan of HK$20,000,000 to Mr. Chiu Sun 
Ting and the remaining 50% of his loan of HK$20,000,000 to Mr. Lai Bing Leung, together with all rights, 
benefits and all interest accrued therefrom 13 December 2020.

24(B)	Secured bank loan
The bank loan bears interest at the lower of Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 1.2% and 
HK$ Prime Rate less 3.15%. The average effective interest rate per annum for the year ended 31 December 
2020 is 1.69% (2019: 1.96%).

The bank loan is secured by the leasehold land and buildings, repayable by 180 equal monthly instalments, 
and subject to an “on demand” clause (Note 31).

25.	 INSURANCE AND OTHER PAYABLES
	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Insurance payables
Premium surcharge and other payables	 10,488	 10,178

Other payables
Professional fee payables	 1,151	 905
Other accruals and payables	 2,192	 3,128

	 3,343	 4,033

	 13,831	 14,211
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26.	 SHARE CAPITAL
	 2020	 2019
	 	

	 No. of	 	 No. of
	 shares	 HK$’000	 shares	 HK$’000

Issued and fully paid
  At beginning of the year and
    at end of the reporting period	 521,410,000	 368,159	 521,410,000	 368,159

27.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 30 
September 2014. The purpose of the Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that participants 
(directors, senior management and other employees) have made or may make to the Group, to provide participants 
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the view to achieve motivating the participants 
to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain 
ongoing business relationship with participant, whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long term growth 
of the Group. A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Scheme is set out in the “Interest in Share 
Options” section of the Directors’ Report.

On 7 October 2014, options to subscribe for an aggregate of 13,390,000 ordinary shares have been conditionally 
granted by the Company to the eligible participants of the Scheme and the estimated fair value of the options 
granted on that date is HK$2,251,000.

The fair value of the share options granted is measured at the date of grant, using the binomial option pricing 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions of the grant. The fair value calculated is inherently subjective 
and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the limitations of the model used. The following table lists the 
major assumptions used to measure the fair value per option:

Date of grant	 7 October 2014
Exercise price (HK$)	 80% of the IPO price
Expected stock price volatility (%)	 34.976
Expected life of the options (years)	 9.998
Risk-free interest rate (%)	 1.912
Expected dividend yield (%)	 5.556
Early exercise multiple for directors	 2.800
Early exercise multiple for senior management	 2.800
Early exercise multiple for other employees	 2.200

The expected volatility was determined by using the median historical volatilities of comparable companies.
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27.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Movements of share options during the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

	 Number of share options
	

			   Exercise 		  Outstanding			   Outstanding	 Exercisable 
			   price per 	 Fair value 	 at beginning		  Reclassified	 at end of 	 at end of 
Type	 Date of grant	 Exercise period	 share	 per share	 of year	 Exercised	 (Note 10(A)(vi))	 year	 year
			   HK$	 HK$	 ’000	 ’000	 ’000	 ’000	 ’000

Directors	 7 October 2014	 15 January 2016 - 	 1.288	 0.169	 4,440	 –	 86	 4,526	 4,526
		    6 October 2024
Senior management	 7 October 2014	 15 January 2016 - 	 1.288	 0.169	 436	 –	 (86)	 350	 350
		    6 October 2024
Other employees	 7 October 2014	 15 January 2016 - 	 1.288	 0.167	 4,742	 –	 –	 4,742	 4,742
		    6 October 2024

Movements of share options during the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

	 Number of share options
	

			   Exercise 		  Outstanding			   Outstanding	 Exercisable
			   price per 	 Fair value 	 at beginning			   at end of 	 at end of 
Type	 Date of grant	 Exercise period	 share	 per share	 of year	 Exercised	 Forfeited	 year	  year
			   HK$	 HK$	 ’000	 ’000	 ’000	 ’000	 ’000

Directors	 7 October 2014	 15 January 2016 - 	 1.288	 0.169	 4,440	 –	 –	 4,440	 4,440
		    6 October 2024
Senior management	 7 October 2014	 15 January 2016 - 	 1.288	 0.169	 436	 –	 –	 436	 436
		    6 October 2024
Other employees	 7 October 2014	 15 January 2016 - 	 1.288	 0.167	 4,742	 –	 –	 4,742	 4,742
		    6 October 2024

The Company also adopted a share option scheme which was approved by a resolution of the then shareholders 
passed on 23 December 2014. No option under this scheme has been granted. A summary of the principal terms 
and conditions of this scheme is set out in the “Share Option Scheme” section of the Directors’ Report.
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28.	 RESERVES
Property revaluation reserve
Property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted 
for revaluation of land and buildings held for owned use, net of deferred tax.

Fair value reserve
Fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of Mandatory FVOCI at the end of the 
reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted.

Merger relief reserve
Merger relief reserve represents the excess of the cost of investment in Target as recorded in the statement of 
financial position of the Company over the amount credited to share capital, which equals to the subscribed share 
capital of Target acquired by the Company through the reorganisation in 2014. The reserve is unrealised but can 
be used in distribution of bonus issues. The reserve will become realised when the investment in Target is sold or 
impaired.

Other reserve
Other reserve is a reserve arose on consolidation of financial statements of the companies in the Group. It 
represents the difference between the subscribed share capital of Target and the cost of investment in Target as 
recorded in the statement of financial position of the Company. The reserve will be reclassified to profit or loss on 
de-recognition of the investment in Target.

Share option reserve
Share option reserve represents the share based payments relating to the share options granted under the Group’s 
share option scheme, which are dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for share-based 
payment transactions.

Distributable reserves
At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the 
Company, including accumulated profits and fair value reserve, as calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was HK$19,889,000 (2019: HK$24,046,000).
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29.	 OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
29(A)	Cash generated from (used in) operations

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Profit (Loss) before tax	 61,190	 (193,207)
Depreciation and amortisation	 24,366	 24,289
Net fair value loss (gain) of financial assets at FVPL	 4,934	 (10,472)
Loss allowance for debt securities at FVOCI	 1,441	 –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 1	 1
Loss (Gain) on derecognition of debt securities at FVOCI	 542	 (2,068)
Dividend income from financial assets at FVPL	 (106)	 (3,397)
Interest income from debt securities at FVOCI	 (1,454)	 (18,110)
Interest income from certificates of deposit	 (371)	 (410)
Interest income from time deposits	 (9,790)	 (11,113)
Interest expenses	 3,928	 1,723
Changes in working capital:
  Insurance and other receivables	 26,653	 (50,463)
  Reinsurance assets	 (55,231)	 (135,508)
  Deferred acquisition costs	 1,452	 (8,997)
  Pledged deposit	 (10,000)	 –
  Insurance liabilities	 (24,256)	 387,260
  Deferred acquisition income	 (1,163)	 2,257
  Reinsurance premium payable	 1,160	 6,162
  Insurance and other payables	 (544)	 2,582

Cash generated from (used in) operations	 22,752	 (9,471)

29(B)	Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities are as follows:

	 Interest-bearing borrowings

	 2020	 2019
Year ended 31 December	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At beginning of the year	 84,448	 90,418

Net cash flows
  Unsecured loans raised	 90,000	 –
  Repayment of bank loan	 (6,180)	 (5,970)

At the end of the reporting period	 168,268	 84,448
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30.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, during 
the year, the Group had the following transactions with related parties:

		  2020	 2019
Related party relationship	 Nature of transaction	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

The Oscar Motors Company Limited,
  a company controlled by 
  Lai Bing Leung, a director of 
  the Company (Note 10(A)(ii))	 Commission paid (ii)	 1,254	 1,068

Head & Shoulders Securities Limited,
  a company controlled by 
  Choi Chiu Fai Stanley, a director of 
  the Company (Note 10(A)(iv))	 Brokerage paid (ii)	 –	 5

Directors of the Company	 Interest paid (ii)	 2,460	 –

(i)	 Directors of the Company and senior management of the Group have been identified as key management 
personnel and the corresponding compensation is disclosed in Note 10 and Note 11 respectively.

(ii)	 These related party transactions also constitute connected transactions and continuing connected 
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, however they are exempt from the disclosure 
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

31.	 INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Insurance risk
The Group, through its subsidiary, issues contracts that transfer insurance risk for motor, employees’ 
compensation, other direct and reinsurance inward businesses. The risk under any one insurance contract is the 
possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the nature of 
an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the 
principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefits payments 
exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of 
claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount 
of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability about 
the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across the board 
by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting strategy to diversify 
the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large population 
of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.
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31.	 INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(Continued)

Insurance risk (Continued)

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk and 
type of industry covered.

(i)	 Frequency and severity of claims

The frequency and severity of claims can be affected by several factors, such as:

•	 Occurrence risk – the possibility that the number of insured events will differ from those expected.

•	 Severity risk – the possibility that the cost of the events will differ from those expected.

•	 Development risk – the possibility that changes may occur in the amount of an insurer’s obligation at 
the end of the contract period.

The Group manages these risks through adequate reinsurance arrangements and claims monitoring 
programmes. The Group also enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing of claims, 
in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future developments that can adversely impact the 
Group. The Group’s insurance contracts are protected by excess of loss reinsurance arrangements with 
predetermined retention limits. The reinsurance arrangements spread insured risk to a certain extent 
and reduce the effect of potential losses to the Group. However, the Group’s insurance liabilities to the 
policyholders are not eliminated because of credit risk associated with the failure of reinsurance companies 
to fulfil their responsibilities.

The Group solely offers insurance contracts to the Hong Kong market and all insurance risk with reference 
to the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities arising from insurance contracts is in Hong Kong.

The concentration of insurance risk before and after reinsurance in relation to the type of insurance risk 
accepted is summarised below, with reference to the carrying amount of the insurance claims liabilities (gross 
and net of reinsurance) arising from these insurance contracts:

At 31 December	 Type of risk
	

				    Other motor 	 Employees’	 Other direct 	 Reinsurance 
		  Taxi	 PLB	 vehicles	 compensation	 business	 inward	 Total
		  HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

2020	 Gross	 731,479	 143,285	 221,280	 100,428	 1,722	 4,930	 1,203,124
	 Net	 547,959	 123,290	 130,008	 89,130	 1,444	 4,930	 896,761

2019	 Gross	 775,567	 163,534	 218,818	 43,463	 1,344	 –	 1,202,726
	 Net	 607,237	 152,513	 153,739	 37,478	 1,138	 –	 952,105
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Insurance risk (Continued)

(ii)	S ources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments

Claims on motor and non-motor insurance contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Group 
is liable for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is reported 
after the end of the contract term. As a result, liability claims are settled over a long period of time and a 
large element of the claims provision relates to incurred but not reported claims (“IBNR”). There are several 
variables that affect the amount and timing of cash flows from these contracts. These mainly relate to the 
inherent risks of the business activities carried out by individual contract holders and the risk management 
procedures they adopted. The compensation paid on these contracts is the monetary awards granted for 
the insured, the opponents and bodily injury suffered by employees of the insured or members of the public.

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of the other 
recoveries. The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding 
its claim exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the 
final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established. The liability for these contracts 
comprises a provision for IBNR, a provision for reported claims not yet paid and a provision for unexpired 
risks at the end of the reporting period. The amount of claims is particularly sensitive to the level of court 
awards and to the development of legal precedent on matters of contract and tort.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Group’s estimation 
techniques are a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates (where the loss ratio is defined as the ratio 
between the ultimate cost of insurance claims and insurance premiums earned in a particular financial 
year in relation to such claims) and an estimate based upon actual claims experience using predetermined 
formulae where greater weight is given to actual claims experience as time passes.

The initial loss-ratio estimate is an important assumption in the estimation technique and is based on 
previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes, anticipated market 
experience and historical claims inflation.

The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost 
of settling claims already notified to the Group, where information about the claim event is available. IBNR 
claims may not be apparent to the insured until many years after the event that gave rise to the claims has 
happened.
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Insurance risk (Continued)

(iii)	S ensitivity analysis

The purpose of the sensitivity analysis is to assess the relative importance of key factors used in the 
valuation of insurance liabilities of the Group as at the end of the reporting period. In this context, the 
insurance liabilities include a risk margin.

The key factors considered in the sensitivity analysis of the claim liabilities include:

•	 an increase or decrease of 5% in the assumed ultimate loss ratio for each line of business in the 
accident years (2019: 5%); and

•	 an increase or decrease of 5% in the risk margin (2019: 5%).

The sensitivity values shown for each factor are independent of changes to other factors. In practice, a 
combination of adverse and favourable changes could occur.

The sensitivity results are not intended to capture all possible outcomes. Significantly more adverse or 
favourable results are possible.

The sensitivity of net insurance liabilities to changes in the following factors is:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Increase (decrease) in net insurance liabilities and 
  (decrease)/increase in profit or increase/(decrease) 
  in loss after tax and equity
– as a result of 5% increase in ultimate loss ratio	 19,236	 21,271
– as a result of 5% decrease in ultimate loss ratio	 (19,236)	 (21,269)

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Increase (decrease) in net insurance liabilities and 
  (decrease)/increase in profit or increase/(decrease) 
  in loss after tax and equity
– as a result of 5% increase in risk margin	 34,343	 39,750
– as a result of 5% decrease in risk margin	 (34,341)	 (39,208)

(iv)	L oss development triangle

The development of claims over a period of time on a gross and net basis is shown below in form of 
tables. The tables show the cumulative incurred claims, including both notified and IBNR claims, for each 
successive development year at the end of each reporting period, together with cumulative claim payments 
as at the end of current reporting period.
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(Continued)

Insurance risk (Continued)

(iv)	L oss development triangle (Continued)

Gross insurance claims – 2020

	 2016	 2017	 2018	 2019	 2020	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Development Year	 262,425	 297,136	 347,952	 473,070	 430,887
One year later	 276,339	 332,829	 426,977	 490,358
Two years later	 310,836	 377,020	 418,167
Three years later	 359,938	 380,931
Four years later	 352,997

Current estimate of cumulative 
  gross claims	 352,997	 380,931	 418,167	 490,358	 430,887	 2,073,340

Cumulative gross payments 
  to date	 (317,159)	 (278,011)	 (264,432)	 (146,829)	 (15,562)	 (1,021,993)

Sub-total	 35,838	 102,920	 153,735	 343,529	 415,325	 1,051,347

Gross insurance claims in respect 
  of years prior to 2016						      22,412
Unallocated loss adjustment 
  expenses and risk margin					     	 129,365

Total gross general insurance 
  claims liability						      1,203,124



TARGET INSURANCE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED      ANNUAL REPORT 2020
139

Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Insurance risk (Continued)

(iv)	L oss development triangle (Continued)

Net insurance claims – 2020

	 2016	 2017	 2018	 2019	 2020	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Development Year	 237,630	 261,620	 298,137	 381,324	 338,281
One year later	 247,891	 290,633	 356,154	 385,170
Two years later	 272,335	 309,323	 346,775
Three years later	 300,322	 300,840
Four years later	 297,162

Current estimate of cumulative 
  net claims	 297,162	 300,840	 346,775	 385,170	 338,281	 1,668,228

Cumulative net payments 
  to date	 (279,435)	 (242,660)	 (226,004)	 (121,194)	 (11,050)	 (880,343)

Sub-total	 17,727	 58,180	 120,771	 263,976	 327,231	 787,885

Net insurance claims in respect
   of years prior to 2016					     	 7,200
Unallocated loss adjustment 
  expenses and risk margin					     	 101,676

Total net general insurance 
  claims liability						      896,761
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Insurance risk (Continued)

(iv)	L oss development triangle (Continued)

Gross insurance claims – 2019

	 2015	 2016	 2017	 2018	 2019	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Development Year	 228,268	 262,425	 297,136	 347,952	 473,070
One year later	 233,413	 276,339	 332,829	 426,977
Two years later	 239,542	 310,836	 377,020
Three years later	 253,432	 359,938
Four years later	 252,227

Current estimate of cumulative 
  gross claims	 252,227	 359,938	 377,020	 426,977	 473,070	 1,889,232

Cumulative gross payments 
  to date	 (221,348)	 (267,846)	 (190,403)	 (113,043)	 (27,398)	 (820,038)

Sub-total	 30,879	 92,092	 186,617	 313,934	 445,672	 1,069,194

Gross insurance claims in respect 
  of years prior to 2015						      21,558
Unallocated loss adjustment 
  expenses and risk margin						      111,974

Total gross general insurance 
  claims liability						      1,202,726
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Insurance risk (Continued)

(iv)	L oss development triangle (Continued)

Net insurance claims – 2019

	 2015	 2016	 2017	 2018	 2019	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Development Year	 212,121	 237,630	 261,620	 298,137	 381,324
One year later	 206,575	 247,891	 290,633	 356,154
Two years later	 213,177	 272,335	 309,323
Three years later	 225,276	 300,322
Four years later	 217,747

Current estimate of cumulative 
  net claims	 217,747	 300,322	 309,323	 356,154	 381,324	 1,564,870

Cumulative net payments 
  to date	 (199,881)	 (239,813)	 (160,019)	 (90,990)	 (22,858)	 (713,561)

Sub-total	 17,866	 60,509	 149,304	 265,164	 358,466	 851,309

Net insurance claims in respect 
  of years prior to 2015						      7,707
Unallocated loss adjustment 
  expenses and risk margin	 	 	 	 	 	 93,089

Total net general insurance 
  claims liability						      952,105

The prior year net reserve estimates decreased by HK$17,175,000 (2019: increased by HK$97,165,000) for the 
year ended 31 December 2020. This is primarily attributable to the improvement of certain prior accident year 
claims.
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Financial risk
The Group is exposed to financial risk through its Mandatory FVOCI, insurance receivables, reinsurance assets, 
financial assets at FVPL, insurance liabilities, interest-bearing borrowings, reinsurance premium payable, insurance 
and other payables, cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions. In particular, the key financial 
risk is that the proceeds from its financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance 
contracts. The most important components of this financial risk are market risk (including market price risk, interest 
rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The objective of financial risk management is to ensure that Group’s overall financial risk is at an acceptable level 
and that appropriate returns are earned for the level of risk assumed. The board of directors generally adopts 
conservative strategies on its risk management and limits the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum. The 
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(i)	M arket price risk

The Group is exposed to market price risks arising from its financial assets at FVPL. The directors manage 
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks and different return profiles.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to market price risk. As at 31 
December 2020, if there had been a 5% (2019: 5%) increase/decrease in market value of the equity 
securities and unlisted investment fund while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net profit 
would be increased/decreased by approximately HK$3,165,000 (2019: net loss decreased/increased by 
approximately HK$2,473,000) due to changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the stock 
market index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been 
applied to the exposure to market price risk in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair values 
of the Group’s investments would change in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant 
stock market index or the relevant risk variables. The stated changes represent directors’ assessment of 
reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables over the period 
until the end of next annual reporting period.

(ii)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Group’s position may be adversely affected by a change of market 
interest rates. It arises from time deposits with banks, Mandatory FVOCI and interest-bearing borrowings. 
The Group mainly invests in time deposits with banks, Mandatory FVOCI with fixed interest rate, thus, there 
is no significant interest rate risk exposure in relation to these instruments. Details of interest rates of the 
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings at the end of the reporting period are set out in Note 24. The Group’s 
policy is to monitor closely its interest rate exposure in consideration of economic atmosphere and the 
strategies of the Group. Management does not expect any significant interest rate risk as at the end of the 
reporting period under current economic environment.
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Financial risk (Continued)

(iii)	 Foreign currency risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of United States 
Dollar (“USD”), Australian Dollar (“AUD”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and Euro (“EUR”) against Hong Kong Dollar 
(“HKD”). The Group is exposed to risks arising from the exchange rate movements of foreign currency 
assets held.

As HKD is closely pegged with USD, the currency risk in this respect is considered not significant.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets denominated in AUD, 
RMB and EUR are as follows.

	 As at 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months	 3,958	 –
Cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions	 28,172	 26,020
Debt securities measured at FVOCI	 –	 –
Certificates of deposit	 4,748	 4,451
Financial assets at FVPL	 –	 4,263
Premium receivables	 6	 4

Overall net exposure	 36,884	 34,738

The following information indicates the approximate change in the Group’s net profit (loss) and reserve in 
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant 
exposure at the end of the reporting period.

If AUD, RMB and EUR had weakened/strengthened by 5% against HKD, the Group’s net profit for the 
reporting period would have been approximately decreased/increased by HK$1,844,000 (2019: net loss 
increased/decreased by HK$1,737,000).

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had 
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to Group’s exposure to currency risk for all 
financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain 
constant. The stated changes in foreign currency represent management’s assessment of reasonably 
possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period.
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Financial risk (Continued)

(iv)	C redit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets, except for financial assets at FVPL, recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk without taking into account the value of any collateral obtained or other credit enhancements.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the year.

Insurance receivables and reinsurance assets

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty in a transaction may default. It arises from the credit 
terms extend to intermediaries, reinsurers and other activities undertaken by the Group. To manage credit 
risk, the Group has considered the long business relationship with the counterparty. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is 
not significant. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each 
intermediary and reinsurer. Reinsurance of the Group is placed with reinsurers with Standard & Poor’s 
security ratings of A- or above. As a result, the management considers that the Group’s exposure to credit 
risk associated with the reinsurance assets is not significant. The Group had a concentration of credit risk 
as 34% (2019: 43%) of the insurance receivables were due from the Group’s five largest intermediaries at 
31 December 2020.

Other receivables

The management of the Group considers its other receivables are subject to low credit risk and the ECL of 
these other receivables is insignificant after taking into account the financial position and credit quality of the 
counterparties.

Cash and time deposits at banks and other financial institutions

The Group’s cash and time deposits, except for deposits with securities brokers with no credit rating, were 
deposited with creditworthy financial institutions in Hong Kong, which the management considers they do 
not have significant credit risk.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group placed deposits of HK$614,742,000 (2019: HK$73,049,000) with 
securities brokers, of which HK$614,742,000 (2019: HK$23,085,000) were placed with securities brokers 
with no credit rating but are registered under Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong with 
particular licenses of regulated financial activities. The management of the Group considers the securities 
brokers are reputable financial institutions and the exposure of credit risk is not significant.
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Financial risk (Continued)

(iv)	C redit risk (Continued)

Mandatory FVOCI

According to the Group’s investment policy, to reduce the credit risk associated with the investment in 
debt securities, the Group diversifies the risk by investing mainly in debt securities with international credit 
ratings not lower than B1 (Moody’s), B+ (Standard & Poor’s) or B+ (Fitch). For debt securities with lower 
credit rating, its issuer or guarantor should be a listed company and is a constituent share in respect of 
major international index as well as the market capital is no less than HK$2 billion. Investments in unrated 
debt securities are restricted to a maximum amount of HK$40 million. In addition, unrated debt securities 
are reviewed and monitored by the management on an ongoing basis to minimise the default risk of the 
counterparties.

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its international long-term/short-term 
credit risk rating is not lower than BBB-/A-3 (Standard & Poor’s), Baa/P-3 (Moody’s), BBB/F3 (Fitch) or 
B+/bbb (A.M. Best). Unless the credit risk is low, the management generally considers any downgrade of 
internal credit rating band since initial recognition to be significant increase in credit risk.

Certificates of deposit are issued by banks with sound credit rating. Given their high credit ratings, the 
management considers the certificates of deposit bears low credit risk and does not expect any of these 
banks or financial institutions will fail to meet their obligations.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account the historical actual credit loss experience over 
the past years since initial recognition and the financial position of the counterparties by reference to, 
among others, their management or audited accounts and available press information, adjusted for general 
economic conditions and future prospects of the industry in which the counterparties operate and various 
external sources of actual and forecast economic information such as information published by economic 
expert reports, financial analysts and government bodies in estimating the probability of default of these 
financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The management of the Group considers 
the ECL of these financial assets to be insignificant after taking into account the financial position and credit 
quality of the counterparties.



146

Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31.	 INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(Continued)

Financial risk (Continued)

(iv)	C redit risk (Continued)

Mandatory FVOCI (Continued)

The gross carrying amounts of Mandatory FVOCI, by credit risk rating band, are as follows:

At 31 December 2020

	 Standard & 
Internal 	 Poor’s	 Moody’s	 Fitch	 A.M.Best				    Gross
credit 	 (long/short 	 (long/short 	 (long/short 	 (long/short 	 PD 	 PD 	 Assessed	 carrying
rating band	 term)	 term)	 term)	 term)	 (financials)	 (non-financials)	 ECL#	 amount
					     %	 %		  HK$’000

1	 AAA	 Aaa	 AAA	 aaa	 –	 –	 12-month	 –
2	 AA+ to AA-/A-1	 Aa/P-1	 AA/F1	 A++ to A+/aa	 –	 –	 12-month	 –
3	 A+ to A-/A-2	 A/P-2	 A/F2	 A to A-/a	 –	 –	 12-month	 4,743
4	 BBB+ to BBB-/A-3	 Baa/P-3	 BBB/F3	 B++ to B+/bbb	 0.02	 0.02	 12-month	 –
Unrated	 –	 –	 –	 –	 0.01	 0.01	 12-month	 –
5	 BB+ to BB-	 Ba	 BB	 B to B-/bb	 –	 –	 12-month	 –
6	 B+ to B-/B	 B/NP	 B/B	 C++ to C+/b	 3.33	 3.33	 Lifetime	 15,590
7	 Below B-/C 
	   and lower	 Caa and lower	 CCC/C and lower	 C/ccc and lower	 36.64	 36.64	 Lifetime	 1,770

								        22,103

At 31 December 2019

	 Standard & 
Internal 	 Poor’s	 Moody’s	 Fitch	 A.M.Best				    Gross
credit 	 (long/short 	 (long/short 	 (long/short 	 (long/short 	 PD 	 PD 	 Assessed	 carrying 
rating band	 term)	 term)	 term)	 term)	 (financials)	 (non-financials)	 ECL#	 amount
					     %	 %		  HK$’000

1	 AAA	 Aaa	 AAA	 aaa	 –	 –	 12-month	 –
2	 AA+ to AA-/A-1	 Aa/P-1	 AA/F1	 A++ to A+/aa	 –	 –	 12-month	 –
3	 A+ to A-/A-2	 A/P-2	 A/F2	 A to A-/a	 –	 –	 12-month	 8,649
4	 BBB+ to BBB-/A-3	 Baa/P-3	 BBB/F3	 B++ to B+/bbb	 –	 –	 12-month	 4,005
Unrated	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 12-month	 10,000
5	 BB+ to BB-	 Ba	 BB	 B to B-/bb	 –	 –	 12-month	 15,765
6	 B+ to B-/B	 B/NP	 B/B	 C++ to C+/b	 1.60	 0.90	 12-month	 –
7	 Below B-/C 
	   and lower	 Caa and lower	 CCC/C and lower	 C/ccc and lower	 18.70	 27.90	 Lifetime	 1,526

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 39,945

#	 If the financial assets have low credit risk, the loss allowance on the debt securities and certificates of deposits 
in Mandatory FVOCI is measured on 12-month ECL basis. If the credit risk is not low but there is no significant 
increase in credit risk, the loss allowance is measured on 12-month ECL basis. If the credit risk is not low, and 
there is significant increase in credit risk, the loss allowance is measured on lifetime ECL basis.
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Financial risk (Continued)

(iv)	C redit risk (Continued)

Mandatory FVOCI (Continued)

The Group did not have any debt securities or certificates of deposits that were past due but not impaired 
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$Nil). The Group has no collateral in respect of these debt securities.

At 31 December 2020, the Group recognised loss allowance of HK$1,441,000 (2019: HK$Nil) on its debt 
securities in Mandatory FVOCI. The movement in the loss allowance for these debt securities during the 
year is summarised below.

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At beginning of year	 –	 –
Increase in allowance	 1,441	 –

At end of year	 1,441	 –

The increase in loss allowance for debt securities in Mandatory FVOCI is mainly attributable to the credit 
impairment of a debt security during the year.

(v)	Li quidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its current obligations as they fall due. To manage 
liquidity risk, the Group has established liquidity management policies that are pertinent to the operations of 
claims handling.

It is unusual for an enterprise primarily transacting insurance business to predict the requirements of funding 
with absolute certainty, as the theory of probability is applied on insurance contracts to ascertain the likely 
provision and the period when such liabilities will require settlement. The amounts and maturity periods of 
these insurance liabilities are thus based on management’s best estimate based on statistical techniques 
and past experience.
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Financial risk (Continued)

(v)	Li quidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s insurance and financial assets at the end of the reporting period based 
on original maturity are summarised below:

	 Less than
	 1 year or		  Over
	 on demand	 1-5 years	 5 years	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 31 December 2020
  Debt securities and 
    certificates of deposit	 11,494	 –	 –	 11,494
  Insurance and other receivables	 131,236	 –	 –	 131,236
  Reinsurance assets	 108,325	 184,588	 13,450	 306,363
  Statutory deposit	 100,000	 –	 –	 100,000
  Pledged deposit	 –	 10,000	 –	 10,000
  Time deposits	 3,958	 –	 –	 3,958
  Cash and time deposits at banks 
    and other financial institutions	 949,590	 –	 –	 949,590

	 1,304,603	 194,588	 13,450	 1,512,641

At 31 December 2019
  Debt securities and 
    certificates of deposit	 –	 35,560	 –	 35,560
  Insurance and other receivables	 160,486	 –	 –	 160,486
  Reinsurance assets	 97,988	 143,846	 8,787	 250,621
  Statutory deposit	 100,000	 –	 –	 100,000
  Time deposits	 82,151	 –	 –	 82,151
  Cash and time deposits at banks 
    and other financial institutions	 758,622	 –	 –	 758,622

	 1,199,247	 179,406	 8,787	 1,387,440
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Financial risk (Continued)

(v)	Li quidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s insurance and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based 
on contractual undiscounted payments are summarised below:

	 Less than
	 1 year or		  Over
	 on demand	 1-5 years	 5 years	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 31 December 2020
  Outstanding claims and IBNR	 438,050	 733,322	 31,752	 1,203,124
  Interest-bearing borrowings	 168,268	 –	 –	 168,268
  Reinsurance premium payable	 19,467	 –	 –	 19,467
  Insurance and other payables	 13,831	 –	 –	 13,831

	 639,616	 733,322	 31,752	 1,404,690

At 31 December 2019
  Outstanding claims and IBNR	 426,286	 748,157	 28,283	 1,202,726
  Interest-bearing borrowings	 84,448	 –	 –	 84,448
  Reinsurance premium payable	 18,307	 –	 –	 18,307
  Insurance and other payables	 14,211	 –	 –	 14,211

	 543,252	 748,157	 28,283	 1,319,692

The amount repayable under a loan agreement that includes a clause that gives the lender the unconditional 
right to call the loan at any time is classified under the “on demand” bracket. In this regard, the secured 
bank loan included in interest-bearing borrowings with carrying amount of HK$78,268,000 (2019: 
HK$84,448,000) as at the end of the reporting period has been so classified even though the directors do 
not expect that the lender would exercise its rights to demand repayment and thus this borrowing, together 
with accrued interest, would be repaid according to the following schedule as set out in the loan agreement:

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Secured bank loan
  Within 1 year	 7,432	 7,641
  1 – 2 years	 7,432	 7,641
  2 – 5 years	 22,295	 22,921
  Over 5 years	 47,397	 56,357

	 84,556	 94,560



150

Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages its capital structure, which comprises 
all equity components of the Group, and makes adjustments, including payment of dividend to equity owners, 
issue of new shares or sale of assets to reduce debts. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed 
capital requirements except for an insurance subsidiary, Target, which is subject to the relevant minimum capital 
requirement. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 
2020 and 2019.

Target is required by the Hong Kong Insurance Ordinance (the “IO”) to have a minimum paid-up capital of HK$20 
million and to maintain a surplus of assets over its liabilities of an amount not less than a specified minimum 
solvency margin as determined in accordance with the IO (the “Minimum Solvency Margin”). The Insurance 
Authority has also required Target to maintain such a surplus of an amount not less than 200% of the Minimum 
Solvency Margin. Target is also required under section 25A of the IO to maintain assets in Hong Kong of an 
amount which is not less than the aggregate of 80% of its liabilities as adjusted under the IO and the relevant 
amount applicable to its Hong Kong insurance business.

Target fully complied with the external imposed capital and solvency margin requirements during the reported 
financial period except that the solvency margin of Target fell below the 200% of the Minimum Solvency Margin 
as required by the Insurance Authority before the capital injection in March 2020. The directors believed such 
temporary technical breaches would not have significant impacts on the financial statements and operations of the 
insurance business of Target.

33.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in 
these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 
13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

•	 Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Group can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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33.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

	 As at 31 December

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Assets measured at fair value

Level 1
Mandatory FVOCI
  Listed debt securities	 6,746	 21,109

Financial assets at FVPL
  Listed equity securities:
  – Financial services	 980	 11,609
  – Utilities	 –	 13,013
  – Conglomerates	 –	 6,300
  – Construction	 –	 5,710
  – Properties	 –	 5,147
  – Consumer goods	 –	 2,740
  – Transportation	 –	 2,303
  – Industrials	 –	 2,178
  – Others	 –	 469

	 7,726	 70,578

Level 2
Mandatory FVOCI
  Unlisted debt securities	 –	 10,000
  Certificates of deposit	 4,748	 4,451

Financial assets at FVPL
  Unlisted investment fund	 62,323	 –

	 67,071	 14,451

Level 3
Leasehold land and buildings
  Commercial properties and car parking spaces located in Hong Kong	 451,000	 500,000
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33.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements

	 Leasehold land and buildings

	 2020	 2019
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At beginning of the year	 500,000	 520,000
Revaluation deficit	 (30,481)	 (1,428)
Depreciation charge	 (18,519)	 (18,572)

	 451,000	 500,000

The revaluation deficit has been recognised in other comprehensive income and recorded in property revaluation 
reserve.

(i)	 Fair value of Mandatory FVOCI and financial assets at FVPL
The fair values of the listed equity and debt securities are determined based on the quoted market bid 
prices available on the Stock Exchange or relevant stock exchanges. The fair values of the unlisted 
debt securities and certificates of deposit are determined with reference to over-the-counter quotations 
from brokers, bid prices from the Central Money markets Unit of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority or 
Depository Trust Company. The fair values of the unlisted investment fund are determined with reference to 
quoted market bid prices from relevant fund administrator.

(ii)	 Fair value of leasehold land and buildings
At the end of the reporting period, the leasehold land and buildings were revalued by CHFT Advisory and 
Appraisal Ltd., independent professional qualified valuer, with reference to recent market transaction prices 
of similar properties. The Group’s management reviews the valuation performed by the independent valuer 
for the financial reporting purposes.

The fair value of leasehold land and buildings, which consist of commercial properties and car parking 
spaces situated in Hong Kong, is determined using direct comparison approach by reference to recent 
transaction prices of similar properties on a price per square foot basis, adjusted for a discount of 
approximately 4% (2019: 9%) specific to the quality and floor of the Group’s buildings compared to the 
recent sales. Higher premium for higher quality buildings will result in a higher fair value measurement.
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34.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
		  2020	 2019
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Assets
Investments in subsidiaries		  500,186	 397,186
Financial assets at FVPL		  950	 921
Due from a subsidiary		  2,495	 –
Other receivables		  –	 29
Cash and time deposits at banks		  1,568	 21,018

TOTAL ASSETS		  505,199	 419,154

Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings		  90,000	 –
Other payables		  412	 210

TOTAL LIABILITIES		  90,412	 210

EQUITY
Share capital	 26	 368,159	 368,159
Share option reserve	 34(A)	 1,803	 1,803
Merger relief reserve	 34(A)	 24,936	 24,936
Accumulated profits	 34(A)	 19,889	 24,046

TOTAL EQUITY		  414,787	 418,944

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		  505,199	 419,154

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 
2021 and signed on its behalf by

	 Cheung Haywood	 Muk Wang Lit Jimmy
	 Director	 Director
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34.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

34(A)	Reserves
	 Merger	 Share
	 relief	 option	 Accumulated 
	 reserve	 reserve	 profits	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000
	 (Note 28)	 (Note 27)

At 1 January 2019	 24,936	 1,803	 24,924	 51,663

Loss for the year and
  total comprehensive loss 
  for the year	 –	 –	 (878)	 (878)

At 31 December 2019	 24,936	 1,803	 24,046	 50,785

At 1 January 2020	 24,936	 1,803	 24,046	 50,785

Loss for the year and
  total comprehensive loss 
  for the year	 –	 –	 (4,157)	 (4,157)

At 31 December 2020	 24,936	 1,803	 19,889	 46,628

35.	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
35(A)	Placing of new shares

On 22 January 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was increased to HK$52,141,000 by allotting 
104,282,000 ordinary shares through a placing agent to six placees at the price of HK$0.50 per share for 
the repayment of loans and/or for the general working capital of the Group. The allotted shares represent 
20% of the existing issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and approximately 
16.67% of the enlarged share capital after the allotment of shares.

For details of the placing of new shares, please refer to the announcement of the Group dated 22 January 
2021.

35(B)	 Issue of convertible bonds
On 26 January 2021, the Company proposed to issue convertible bonds to a substantial shareholder of 
the Company in an aggregate principal amount of HK$400,000,000 at zero coupon rate with maturity in 
2026 to meet the prevailing capital adequacy requirement for business expansion of the Group, to repay 
its existing loans, and for general working capital of the Group. The bonds may be fully converted, during 
the period commencing on the date of issue of the convertible bonds and ending on the third business 
day prior to the maturity date (i.e. fifth anniversary of the date of issue), into 701,754,385 ordinary shares 
at a conversion price of HK$0.57 per share. These shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all 
respects. The issue of convertible bonds was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company 
at the general meeting of the Company held on 29 March 2021.

Details of the terms of the convertible bonds, the classes of share that can be converted into and the 
consideration that the Company will receive under the bonds are set out in the announcements of the 
Group dated 26 January 2021, 27 January 2021, 18 February 2021 and 29 March 2021 and circular dated 
11 March 2021.


